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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT RELEVANT TO FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 
 

All statements, other than statements of historical fact, included in this Form 10-K, including without limitation the statements under 

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” are, or may be deemed to be, 

forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements involve assumptions, known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 

factors, which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of CAMAC Energy Inc. and its subsidiaries and joint-ventures 

(collectively, the “Company”), to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by 

such forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K. 
 

In our capacity as Company management, we may from time to time make written or oral forward-looking statements with respect to our 

long-term objectives or expectations which may be included in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), 

reports to stockholders and information provided on our web site. 
 

The words or phrases “will likely,” “are expected to,” “is anticipated,” “is predicted,” “forecast,” “estimate,” “project,” “plans to 

continue,” “believes,” or similar expressions identify “forward-looking statements.”  Such forward-looking statements are subject to 

certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from historical earnings and those presently anticipated 

or projected.  We wish to caution you not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the 

date made.  We are calling to your attention important factors that could affect our financial performance and could cause actual results 

for future periods to differ materially from any opinions or statements expressed with respect to future periods in any current statements. 
 

The following list of important factors may not be all-inclusive, and we specifically decline to undertake an obligation to publicly revise 

any forward-looking statements that have been made to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements or to reflect the 

occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events.  Among the factors that could have an impact on our ability to achieve expected 

operating results and growth plan goals and/or affect the market price of our stock are: 
 

  ● Limited operating history, operating revenue or earnings history. 

 
  ● Ability to raise capital to fund our current and future operations, including participation in the Oyo Field development 

and  other oil and gas leases we may participate in, on terms and conditions acceptable to the Company. 

 
  ● Ability to develop oil and gas reserves. 

 
  ● Dependence on key personnel, technical services and contractor support. 

 
  ● Fluctuation in quarterly operating results. 

 
  ● Possible significant influence over corporate affairs by significant stockholders. 

 
  ● Ability to enter into definitive agreements to formalize foreign energy ventures and secure necessary exploitation rights. 

 
  ● Ability to successfully integrate and operate acquired or newly formed entities and multiple foreign energy ventures and 

subsidiaries. 

 
  ● Competition from large petroleum companies and other energy interests. 

 
  ● Changes in laws and regulations that affect our operations and the energy industry in general. 

 
  ● Risks and uncertainties associated with exploration, development and production of oil and gas, and drilling and production 

risks. 

 
  ● Expropriation and other risks associated with foreign operations. 

 
  ● Risks associated with anticipated and ongoing third party pipeline construction and transportation of oil and gas. 

 
  ● The lack of availability of oil and gas field goods and services. 

 
  ● Environmental risks and changing economic conditions. 
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PART I 
 

ITEM 1.  DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

  

General 

  

Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “Company,” and “our Company” refer to CAMAC Energy 

Inc. (“CAMAC”), formerly Pacific Asia Petroleum, Inc. (“PAP”), a Delaware corporation, and its present and former subsidiaries. 
 

CAMAC is engaged in the exploration, development, and production of oil and gas outside the United States, and through other ventures 

in which it may participate. Members of the Company’s senior management team have experience in the fields of international business 

development, geology, petroleum engineering, strategy, government relations and finance.  Members of the Company’s management 

team previously held positions in oil and gas development and screening roles with domestic and international energy companies and 

will seek to utilize their experience, expertise and contacts to create value for shareholders. The Company’s focus is oil and gas 

exploration and production operations, which are managed geographically.  Our current operations are in Nigeria, Kenya and The 

Gambia. Our shares are traded on the on the NYSE MKT under the symbol “CAK”. 
 

In August 2012, the Company divested its wholly-owned Hong Kong subsidiary Pacific Asia Petroleum Limited (“PAPL”) for cash 

consideration of $2.5 million and 9.6 million fully paid ordinary shares, net of selling expenses, of Leyshon Resources Limited 

(“Leyshon”), a natural resources mining company based in Beijing, China.  The Leyshon shares had a fair market value of $1.9 million, 

and have since been sold. 
 

PAPL held the Company’s interest in the Zijinshan production sharing contract relating to the Zijinshan Block in the Shanxi Province of 

China. Since 2008, the Company engaged in exploration activities on this Block in search of coalbed methane and other gas.  The 

Company made a strategic decision to monetize this asset and withdraw from activity in China in order to focus its efforts and capital 

resources on its core Africa activities. 
 

As a result of the above transaction, the Company is reporting Asia operations for all presented periods in discontinued operations and, 

as such, the financial statement information provided in this report for continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 

2011 are presented in one reportable segment. 
 

Available Information 
 

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other documents with the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934 (“Exchange Act”). The public may read and copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 

100 F Street NE, Washington, DC 20549-0213. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by 

calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Also, the SEC maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy and information 

statements, and other information regarding issuers, including us, that file electronically with the SEC. The public can obtain any 

documents that we file with the SEC at  http://www.sec.gov . 
 

We also make available, free of charge on or through our Internet website (http://www.camacenergy.com), our Annual Report on Form 

10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and if applicable, amendments to those reports filed or furnished 

pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish 

it to, the SEC. Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed with respect to our equity securities under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act are also available on 

our website. 
 

In addition, we have adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct that applies to all of our employees, including our chief executive 

officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. The text of the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct has been posted 

on the Corporate Governance section of our website. Additionally, the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct is available in print to any 

person who requests the information. Individuals wishing to obtain this printed material should submit a request to CAMAC Energy Inc., 

1330 Post Oak Boulevard, Suite 2250, Houston, TX 77056, Attention: Investor Relations. 
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Executive Summary of 2012 
 

Nigeria - Oyo Field Production Sharing Contract Interest 
 

In December 2009, Nigerian Agip Exploration Limited (“NAE”), a subsidiary of Italy's ENI SpA, and CAMAC Energy Holdings 

Limited (“CEHL”) announced that they had commenced production of the Oyo Field, offshore Nigeria. The Oyo Field has been 

producing from two subsea wells in a water depth of greater than 300 meters, which are connected to the Armada Perdana Floating 

Production Storage and Offloading (“FPSO”) vessel.  The FPSO has a treatment capacity of 40,000 barrels of liquids per day, with gas 

treatment and re-injection facilities, and is capable of storing up to one million barrels of crude oil. The first lifting (sale) of crude oil was 

in February 2010.  Some of the associated gas has been re-injected into the Oyo Field reservoir by a third well, to minimize flaring and to 

maximize oil recovery. 
 

Through December 31, 2012, the Company incurred a total of $59.7 million in costs relative to the workover to reduce gas production 

rising from well #5 in the Oyo Field, offshore Nigeria, with the objective of increasing crude oil production from this well.  By joint 

agreement with Allied Energy Plc. (“Allied”), a related party, the Company has committed to pay for the workover. To the extent the 

Company funds these costs, it is entitled to cost recovery of such costs as non-capital costs from Cost Oil, as defined in the terms of the 

OML 120/121 Production Sharing Contract (“OML 120/121 PSC”), subject to future production levels. For purposes of Cost Oil 

recovery on each sale of production, non-capital costs are allocated for recovery prior to capital costs. As of December 31, 2012, $40.4 

million of these costs have been recovered as revenue and we expect to recover the remainder as revenue in future liftings.  In connection 

with funding for part of these costs prior to receiving cost recovery, the Company entered into a Promissory Note and Guaranty 

Agreement with a related party, which is discussed below under “Promissory Note and Guaranty Agreement.” The remainder is being 

funded using available cash and the future Oyo Field lifting proceeds. 
 

The workover on well #5 in the Oyo Field initially reduced the amount of gas and water production; however, the oil production rate did 

not significantly improve.  The current water cut is approximately 27% with the gas production fairly stabilized over time. 
 

Well #6 in the Oyo Field currently produces at a water cut of approximately 81%. The Company continues to evaluate the viability of 

placing this well on a gas lift to increase the oil rate. 
 

Based on the production history of the Oyo Field, the 2011 completed study by Netherland, Sewell & Associates Inc., and validated by 

a recent in-house simulation study, the Company believes that three additional development wells will be required to recover all 

economically recoverable reserves in the Central West block, in which the Oyo Field is located.  Three additional wells will also be 

required to recover the possible reserves from the Central Eastern block.  The Company is continuing to explore options for marketing 

Oyo Field gas to third party gas processing and transportation facilities. 
 

Allied has informed the Company that it plans to drill a new well in the Oyo Field commencing in mid 2013.  The new well, Oyo #7, will 

be designed to both increase the current oil production levels and test the prospective resource potential of the deeper Miocene reservoir 

in the field. 
 

Nigeria - OML 120/121 Transaction 
 

In April 2010, the Company acquired from affiliates of CEHL their interests relating to the Oyo Field (the “Oyo Contract Rights”) in the 

OML 120/121 PSC in exchange for cash and shares of common stock of the Company. 
 

In December 2010, the Company entered into a Purchase and Continuation Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with CEHL and 

such affiliates, pursuant to which the Company agreed to acquire certain of the remainder of the affiliates’ interest (the “OML 120/121 

Transaction”) in the OML 120/121 PSC (the “Non-Oyo Contract Rights”).  In exchange for the Non-Oyo Contract Rights, the Company 

agreed to an option-based consideration structure and paid $5.0 million in cash to Allied , an affiliate of CEHL, upon the closing of the 

OML 120/121 Transaction in February 2011. The Company has the option to elect to retain the Non-Oyo Contract Rights upon payment 

of additional consideration to Allied upon the achievement of certain milestones relating to exploration and production outside of the 

Oyo Field. 
 

If any of the milestones are reached and the Company elects not to retain the Non-Oyo Contract Rights at that time, then all the Non-Oyo 

Contract Rights will automatically revert back to CEHL without any compensation due to the Company and with CEHL retaining all 

consideration paid by the Company to date.  As of December 31, 2012, none of the milestones had been reached. 
 

Dr. Kase Lawal, the Company’s Executive Chairman and member of the Board of Directors, and Chief Executive Officer, is a director of 

each of CEHL, CAMAC International (Nigeria) Limited (“CINL”), and Allied.  Dr. Lawal also owns 27.7% of CAMAC International 

Limited, which indirectly owns 100% of CEHL.  As a result, Dr. Lawal may be deemed to have an indirect material interest in the 

transactions contemplated by the OML 120/121 PSC.  Chairman Lawal recused himself from participating in the consideration and 

approval by the Company’s Board of Directors of the OML 120/121 Transaction. 
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Promissory Note and Guaranty Agreement 
 

On June 6, 2011, CAMAC Petroleum Limited (“CPL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, executed a Promissory Note (the 

“Promissory Note”) in favor of Allied (the “Lender”). Under the terms of the Promissory Note, the Lender agreed to make loans to CPL, 

from time to time and pursuant to requests by CPL, in an aggregate sum of up to $25.0 million. Interest accrues on outstanding principal 

under the Promissory Note at a rate of 30 day LIBOR plus 2% per annum.  CPL may prepay and re-borrow all or a portion of such 

amount from time to time.  Pursuant to the initial terms of the Promissory Note, the unpaid aggregate outstanding principal amount of all 

loans, was to mature on June 6, 2013.  Subsequently, in August 2012 the Promissory note was amended to extend the maturity date to 

October 15, 2013, and then amended again in March 2013 to extend the maturity date to July 15, 2014.  The Company has irrevocably, 

unconditionally and absolutely guaranteed all of CPL’s obligations under the Promissory Note.   As of December 31, 2012, $0.9 million 

was outstanding. 
 

Dr. Kase Lawal, the Company’s Executive Chairman and member of the Board of Directors, and Chief Executive Officer, is a director of 

each of CEHL, CINL, and the Lender.  Dr. Lawal also owns 27.7% of CAMAC International Limited, which indirectly owns 100% of 

CEHL, and CINL and the Lender are each wholly-owned subsidiaries of CEHL. As a result, Dr. Lawal is deemed to have an indirect 

material interest in the transaction contemplated by the Promissory Note. Dr. Lawal fully disclosed the material facts as to his 

relationship to the Lender prior to Board approval. 
 

Award of Kenya Exploration Blocks 
 

In May 2012, the Company, through an indirect wholly owned subsidiary, entered into four production sharing contracts (“Kenya  

PSCs”) with the Government of the Republic of Kenya, covering previously awarded exploration Blocks L1B and L16, and new 

offshore exploration Blocks L27 and L28.  For all of the blocks, the Company will be the operator, with the government having the right 

to participate up to 20%, either directly or through an appointee, in any area subsequent to declaration of a commercial discovery.  The 

Company is responsible for all exploration expenditures. 
 

The Kenya PSCs for Blocks L1B and L16 each provide for an initial exploration period of two years with specified minimum work 

obligations during that period.  Prior to the end of the initial exploration period, the Company will acquire and interpret gravity and 

magnetic data and acquire, process and interpret 2D seismic data.  The Company has the right to apply for up to two additional two-year 

exploration periods with specified additional minimum work obligations, including the drilling of one exploratory well on each block in 

each such additional period. 
 

The Kenya PSCs for Blocks L27 and L28 each provide for an initial exploration period of three years with specified minimum work 

obligations during that period.  Prior to the end of the initial exploration period, the Company will conduct for each block a regional 

geological study and acquire, process and interpret 3D seismic data.  The Company has the right to apply for up to two additional 

two-year exploration periods with specified additional minimum work obligations, including the drilling of one exploratory well on each 

block, in each such additional period. 
 

In addition to the minimum work obligations, each of the Kenya PSC’s require annual surface rental payments, training fund payments 

and contributions to local community development projects.  All of the Kenya PSCs also include customary provisions including but not 

limited to governing law, confidentiality, force majeure, arbitration, and abandonment and decommissioning costs. 
 

Award of The Gambia Offshore Exploration Blocks 
 

In May 2012, the Company, through an indirect wholly owned subsidiary, signed two Petroleum Exploration, Development & 

Production Licenses with The Republic of The Gambia (the “Licenses”), for previously awarded exploration blocks A2 and A5 (the 

“Blocks”).  For both Blocks, the Company will be the operator, with the Gambia National Petroleum Company (“GNPC”) having the 

right to elect to participate up to a 15% interest, following approval of a development and production plan. The Company is responsible 

for all expenditures prior to such approval even if the GNPC elects to participate. 
 

The Licenses for both Blocks provide for an initial exploration period of four years with specified work obligations during that 

period.  Prior to the end of the initial exploration period, the Company will conduct for each Block a regional geological study, acquire, 

process and interpret 3D seismic data, drill one exploration well to the total depth of 5,000 meters below mean sea level and evaluate 

drilling results, with the first two work obligations due prior to the end of the second year.  The Company has the right to apply for up to 

two additional two-year exploration periods with specified additional minimum work obligations, including the drilling of one 

exploration well in each additional period for each Block. 

  

In addition to the minimum work obligations, the Licenses require annual rental payments and training and resource fees.  Each of the 

Licenses also include customary provisions including but not limited to governing law, confidentiality, force majeure, arbitration, and 

abandonment and decommissioning costs. 
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Operations 
 

Africa - OML 120/121 Production Sharing Contract 

  

In December 2009, NAE, a subsidiary of Italy's ENI SpA, and CEHL announced that they had commenced production of the Oyo Field. 

The Oyo Field has been producing from two subsea wells in a water depth of greater than 300 meters, which are connected to the Armada 

Perdana Floating Production Storage and Offloading (“FPSO”) vessel.  The FPSO has a treatment capacity of 40,000 barrels of liquids 

per day, with gas treatment and re-injection facilities, and is capable of storing up to one million barrels of crude oil. The first lifting 

(sale) of crude oil was in February 2010.  Some of the associated gas has been re-injected into the Oyo Field reservoir by a third well, to 

minimize flaring and to maximize oil recovery. 
 

In June 2012, NAE completed the previously announced sale of its 40% working interest in OML 120/121 to Allied, an affiliate of 

CEHL. 
 

The parties to the OML 120/121 PSC are represented in the chart below: 
 

 
As previously discussed, in two separate transactions, the Company acquired the Oyo Contract Rights and the Non-Oyo Contract Rights 

related to the OML 120/121 PSC by assignment, but does not hold an interest in the underlying license. The percentages held by Allied 

and CINL, however, are not indicative of the actual allocation of proceeds from production of oil or other hydrocarbons under the Oyo 

Contract Rights and the Non-Oyo Contract Rights because such allocations are affected by the amount of participation in funding of 

OML 120/121 PSC operating and capital costs. 
 

As Nigerian crude oil is readily marketable in international markets we are not dependent upon a single or a small number of customers. 
 

The allocation between the parties of oil production is governed by the OML 120/121 PSC, available crude oil is allocated to four 

categories of oil: royalty oil (“Royalty Oil”), cost oil (“Cost Oil”), tax oil (“Tax Oil”) and profit oil (“Profit Oil”), in that order.  Proceeds 

from available crude oil are first used to pay royalty (“Royalty Oil”), recover Operating Costs and Capital Cost (“Cost Oil”) and pay tax 

(“Tax Oil”). The rest of the proceeds are distributed as Profit Oil to Contractors and First Party as shown in the chart below.  Prior to 

Allied’s acquisition of NAE in June 2012, the Company received the share allocable to Allied for the Oyo Contract Rights and would 

have received Allied’s share for the Non-Oyo Contract Rights. The complete OML 120/121 PSC was filed as Annex E to the Company’s 

proxy filed with the SEC on March 19, 2010. 
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Profit oil is allocated to the parties according to the following schedule: 

  

  

 
 

*Petroleum profit tax of 50% plus education tax of 2%, chargeable on the total remainder oil after deduction of amortization and 

investment allowance. 

**Y-Factor:  NAE and Allied will share the Profit Oil to Contractor based on their contribution on Capital Costs and Non-Capital Costs. 

***Through June 2012; Allied thereafter. 
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Reserves 
 

The information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K about our rights to proved reserves represents evaluations prepared by 

Gaffney, Cline & Associates (“GCA”), an independent petroleum engineering and geoscience advisory firm.  GCA has prepared 

evaluations on 100 percent of our right to proved reserves and the estimates of proved crude oil reserves attributable to our net interests 

in oil and gas properties as of December 31, 2012. The scope and results of GCA’s procedures are summarized in a letter which is 

included as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  For further information on reserves, including information on future net 

cash flows and the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, please refer to the “Supplemental Data on Oil and Gas 

Exploration and Producing Activities (Unaudited)” within Part II, Item 8 of the  Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements  of  this 

report. 

  

Internal Controls for Reserve Estimation 
 

Our policies regarding internal controls over the recording of reserve estimation require reserves to be in compliance with the SEC 

definitions and guidance and prepared in accordance with generally accepted petroleum engineering principles.  The reserve estimates 

prepared by GCA are reviewed and approved by our management. The process performed by GCA to prepare reserve amounts includes 

the estimation of reserve quantities, future producing rates, future net revenue and the present value of such future net revenue, before 

income tax.  In the conduct of their preparation of the reserve estimates, GCA did not independently verify the accuracy and 

completeness of information and data furnished by us with respect to ownership interests, oil production, well test data, historical costs 

of operation and development, product prices or any agreements relating to current and future operations of the properties and sales of 

production. However, if in the course of its work, something came to its attention which brought into question the validity or sufficiency 

of any such information or data, GCA did not rely on such information or data until they had satisfactorily resolved their questions 

relating thereto. 
 

Technologies Used in Reserves Estimates 
 

Proved reserves are those quantities of oil, which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable 

certainty to be economically producible from a given date forward, from known reservoirs, and under existing economic conditions, 

operating methods, and government regulations. The term “reasonable certainty” implies a high degree of confidence that the quantities 

of oil and/or natural gas actually recovered will equal or exceed the estimate. To achieve reasonable certainty, our independent 

petroleum consultants employed technologies that have been demonstrated to yield results with consistency and repeatability. The 

technologies and economic data used in the estimation of our proved reserves include, but are not limited to, well logs, geologic maps, 

seismic data, well test data, production data, historical price and cost information and property ownership interests. The accuracy of the 

estimates of our reserves is a function of: 

  

  ● the quality and quantity of available data and the engineering and geological interpretation of that data; 

  

  ● estimates regarding the amount and timing of future operating costs, taxes, development costs and workovers,  and 

our estimated participation  in funding of  future operating costs and capital expenditures, and ability to raise money 

to fund these costs, all of which may vary considerably from actual results; 

  

  ● the accuracy of various mandated economic assumptions such as the future prices of oil and natural gas; and 

  

  ● the judgment of the persons preparing the estimates. 

  

Because these estimates depend on many assumptions, any or all of which may differ substantially from actual results, reserve estimates 

may be different from the quantities of oil and natural gas that are ultimately recovered. 
 

Qualifications of Reserves Preparers and Auditors 
 

We obtain services of contracted reservoir engineers with extensive industry experience who meet the professional qualifications of 

reserves estimators and reserves auditors as defined by the “Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserves 

Information,” approved by the Board of the Society of Petroleum Engineers in 2001 and revised in 2007. 
 

The reserves estimates shown herein have been independently prepared by GCA, a leading international petroleum engineering 

consultancy. Within GCA the technical person primarily responsible for preparing the estimates set forth in the GCA reserves report 

incorporated herein is Mr. Mike Holmgren. Mr. Holmgren has been practicing consulting petroleum engineering at GCA since 2007. He 

is a Registered Professional Engineer in the State of Texas (License No. 37132) and has over 44 years of practical experience in 

petroleum engineering, with over 15 years of experience in the estimation and evaluation of reserves. 
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We have on staff a Reservoir Engineering Advisor and VP, Exploration with extensive industry experience who meets the professional 

qualifications of reserves estimators and reserves auditors as defined by the “Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil 

and Gas Reserves Information,” approved by the Board of the Society of Petroleum Engineers in 2001 and revised in 2007. 
 

Our Reservoir Engineering Advisor, Mr. Lanre Dipeolu and Vice President, Exploration, Mr. James Deckelman are primarily 

responsible for the coordination of the third-party reserves report provided by GCA.  Mr. Lanre Dipeolu has over 28 years of experience 

in the oil industry and holds a BSc. in Petroleum Engineering from University of Ibadan, Nigeria and a MBA from Herriot Watt 

University, Edinburgh, United Kingdom. He is a member of the Society of Petroleum Engineers. Mr. Deckelman has over 25 years of 

international industry experience, has authored more than 15 technical publications, and holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Geology 

from Miami University and a Master of Science Degree in Geology from Utah State University. 
 

Summary of Crude Oil Reserves 
 

All of our rights to oil and gas reserves are located in Africa.  Unaudited information regarding the estimated net quantities of all our 

proved reserves and the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows from the reserves is presented in the “Supplemental 

Data on Oil and Gas Exploration and Producing Activities (Unaudited)” within Part II, Item 8 of the Notes To Consolidated Financial 

Statements  of this report .   The reserves estimates have been prepared by GCA and were estimated in accordance with guidelines 

established by the SEC and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”).  Reserves estimates are inherently imprecise and 

estimates of new discoveries are more imprecise than those of producing oil and gas properties. Accordingly, reserve estimates are 

expected to change as additional performance data becomes available. 
 

Set forth below is a summary of our oil and gas net proved reserves and PV-10 as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

  

    December 31, 2012     December 31, 2011   

    Crude Oil     PV-10     Crude Oil     PV-10   

    (MBbls)     (Thousands)(1)     (MBbls)     (Thousands)(1)   

                                  

Proved                                 

Developed     55               92           

Undeveloped     3,043               2,571           

Total Proved     3,098     $ 80,542       2,663     $ 74,263   

  

(1) Present Value Discounted at 10% (“PV-10”) is a Non-GAAP (Generally Accepted Accounting Principles) measure that differs 

from the GAAP measure “standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows” in that PV-10 is calculated without regard 

to future income taxes. Management believes that the presentation of PV-10 value is relevant and useful to our investors 

because it presents the estimated discounted future net cash flows attributable to our estimated proved reserves independent of 

our income tax attributes, thereby isolating the intrinsic value of the estimated future cash flows attributable to our reserves. 

Because many factors that are unique to each individual company impact the amount of future income taxes to be paid, we 

believe the use of a pre-tax measure provides greater comparability of assets when evaluating companies. For these reasons, 

management uses, and believes the industry generally uses, the PV-10 measure in evaluating and comparing acquisition 

candidates and assessing the potential return on investment related to investments in oil and gas properties. 

 
PV-10 is not a measure of financial or operational performance under GAAP, nor should it be considered in isolation or as a substitute 

for the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows as defined under GAAP. For presentation of the standardized measure 

of discounted future net cash flows, please refer to the “Supplemental Data on Oil and Gas Exploration and Producing Activities 

(Unaudited)” within Part II, Item 8 of the  Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements  of  this report. 
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The table below provides a reconciliation of PV-10 to the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows as of December 31, 

2012 and 2011 respectively. 
 

  

    As of December 31,   

    2012     2011   

    (Thousands)   

Present value of estimated future net cash flows (PV10)   $ 80,542     $ 74,263   

Future income taxes, discounted at 10%     (14,830 )     (12,576 ) 

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows   $ 65,712     $ 61,687   

  

Development of Proved Undeveloped Reserves 
 

Under current development plans, all proved undeveloped reserves as of December 31, 2012, are expected to be developed within five 

years from the date of initial recognition of these reserves. 
 

Oil and Gas Production, Prices and Production Costs — Significant Fields 
 

The Oyo Field in Nigeria contains our entire total proved reserves as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Our share of 

average daily net production (excluding royalty) was 401 barrels per day in 2012, 923 barrels per day in 2011 and 396 barrels per day in 

2010.  The weighted average sales price was $112.60 per barrel in 2012, $112.91 per barrel in 2011 and $85.16 per barrel in 

2010.  Production cost per barrel was $6.34 per barrel in 2012, $8.61 per barrel in 2011 and $34.54 per barrel in 2010, excluding the 

workover expense. 
 

Drilling Activity 
 

During 2012 and 2011, the Company committed to 100% funding of the workover performed on well # 5 in the Oyo Field, Nigeria, 

which commenced in 2010 and was completed in 2011.  In 2012 and 2011 there were no new development or exploratory wells 

completed in the Company’s Nigeria interests in OML 120/121, including the Oyo Field. 
 

Present Activities 
 

Allied has informed the Company that it plans to drill a new well in the Oyo Field commencing in mid 2013.  The new well, Oyo #7, will 

be designed to both increase the current oil production levels and test the prospective resource potential of the deeper Miocene reservoir 

in the field. 
 

Delivery Commitments 
 

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had no delivery commitments. 
 

Productive Wells 
 

At December 31, 2012, the Company had rights to an interest in two gross productive wells in Nigeria. The number of net productive 

wells (net economic interest) in Nigeria at a particular date under our Production Sharing Contract is affected by our percentage of Cost 

Oil and Profit Oil realized in each lifting. This percentage has varied significantly between 2012 and 2011 and is expected to continue to 

vary for the foreseeable future as the Company has the right, but is not required, to fund up to 30% of the expenditures on the OML 

120/121 Production Sharing Contract.  Therefore, a calculation of net productive wells interest for a particular year-end is not 

meaningful. 
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Acreage 
 

Interests in developed and undeveloped acreage follow: 
 

  

    December 31, 2012   

    Developed Acres     Undeveloped Acres     Total Acres   

    Gross     Net     Gross     Net     Gross     Net   

                                      

Kenya                 9,121,482       9,121,482       9,121,482       9,121,482   

Gambia                 658,822       658,822       658,822       658,822   

Nigeria     8,600       5,200       434,900       260,900       443,500       266,100   

Total     8,600       5,200       10,215,204       10,041,204       10,223,804       10,046,404   

  

The Company has no acreage on which leases are scheduled to expire within the three years after December 31, 2012. 

  

Regulation 

  

General 

  

Our operations and our ability to finance and fund our growth strategy are affected by political developments and laws and regulations in 

the areas in which we operate. In particular, oil and natural gas production operations and economics are affected by: 

  

●change in governments; 

  

●civil unrest; 

  

●price and currency controls; 

  

●limitations on oil and natural gas production; 

  

●tax, environmental, safety and other laws relating to the petroleum industry; 

  

●changes in laws relating to the petroleum industry; 

  

●changes in administrative regulations and the interpretation and application of such rules and regulations;  and 

  

●changes in contract interpretation and policies of contract adherence. 

 
In any country in which we may do business, the oil and natural gas industry legislation and agency regulation are periodically changed, 

sometimes retroactively, for a variety of political, economic, environmental and other reasons. Numerous governmental departments and 

agencies issue rules and regulations binding on the oil and natural gas industry, some of which carry substantial penalties for the failure 

to comply. The regulatory burden on the oil and natural gas industry increases our cost of doing business and our potential for economic 

loss. 
 

Competition 
 

The Company competes with numerous large international oil companies and smaller oil companies that target opportunities in markets 

similar to the Company’s, including the natural gas and petroleum markets. Many of these companies have far greater economic,  

political and material resources at their disposal than the Company.  The Company’s management team has prior experience in the fields 

of petroleum engineering, geology, field development and production, operations, international business development, and finance and 

experience in management and executive positions with international energy companies.  Nevertheless, the markets in which we operate 

and plan to operate are highly competitive and the Company may not be able to compete successfully against its current and future 

competitors.  See Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors - Risks Related to the Company’s Industry - for risk factors associated with competition 

in the oil and gas industry. 
 

Environmental and Government Regulation 
 

Various federal, state, local and international laws and regulations relating to the discharge of materials into the environment, the 

disposal of oil and natural gas wastes, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment may affect our operations and costs. We 

are committed to the protection of the environment and believe we are in substantial compliance with the applicable laws and 
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regulations. However, regulatory requirements may, and often do, change and become more stringent, and there can be no assurance that 

future regulations will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.  During the years 

ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, we did not have any significant expenditures relating to environmental and 

government regulation. 
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Employees 
 

At December 31, 2012, the Company had 19 full-time employees in the United States and 16 full-time employees in Africa. 
 

During 2013, the Company expects to hire additional personnel in certain operational and other areas as required for its expansion 

efforts, and to maintain focus on its then-existing and new projects. The number and skill sets of individual employees will be primarily 

dependent on the relative rates of growth of the Company’s different projects, and the extent to which operations and development are 

executed internally or contracted to outside parties. In order for us to attract and retain quality personnel, we will have to offer 

competitive salaries to future employees. 

  

Subject to the availability of sufficient working capital and assuming initiation of additional projects, the Company currently plans to 

further increase full-time staffing to a level adequate to execute the Company’s growth plans. As we continue to expand, we will incur 

additional cost for personnel. 

  

Intellectual Property 

  

As of December 31, 2012, the Company owned no significant rights to intellectual property. 
 

ITEM  1A.  RISK FACTORS 
 

The Company’s operations and its securities are subject to a number of risks. The Company has described below all the material risks 

that are known to the Company that could materially impact the Company’s financial results of operations or financial condition. If any 

of the following risks actually occur, the business, financial condition or operating results of the Company and the trading price or value 

of its securities could be materially adversely affected. 
 

Risks Related to the Company’s Business 

  

The Company’s limited operating history makes it difficult to predict future results and raises substantial doubt as to its ability to 

successfully develop profitable business operations. 

  

The Company’s limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate its current business and prospects or to accurately predict its 

future revenue or results of operations, and raises substantial doubt as to its ability to successfully develop profitable business operations 

beyond the Oyo Field interest rights we acquired in April 2010 (the Oyo Contract Rights) and the Non-Oyo Contract Rights acquired in 

February 2011. We had no previous operating history in the Africa area. The Company’s revenue and income potential are unproven. As 

a result of its early stage of operations, and to keep up with the frequent changes in the energy industry, it is necessary for the Company 

to analyze and revise its business strategy on an ongoing basis. Companies in early stages of operations are generally more vulnerable to 

risks, uncertainties, expenses and difficulties than more established companies. 
 

  

The Company was a development stage company and may continue to incur losses for a significant period of time. 

  

The Company was until recently a development stage company with minimal revenues.  In April 2010, we acquired the Oyo Contract 

Rights from CEHL Group and, as a result of this acquisition, we ceased reporting as a development stage company and now we are an 

operating company generating  revenues.  We expect to continue to incur significant expenses relating to our identification of new 

ventures and investment costs relating to these ventures. Additionally, fixed commitments, including salaries and fees for employees and 

consultants, rent and other contractual commitments may be substantial and are likely to increase as additional ventures are entered into 

and personnel are retained. Energy ventures, such as oil well drilling projects, generally require a significant period of time before they 

produce resources and in turn generate profits. The Oyo  and Non-Oyo Contract Rights may or may not result in net earnings in excess of 

our losses on other ventures under development or in the start-up phase. We may not achieve or sustain profitability on a quarterly or 

annual basis, or at all. 
 

The Company’s ability to diversify risks by participating in multiple projects and joint ventures depends upon its ability to raise 

capital and the availability of suitable prospects, and any failure to raise needed capital and secure suitable projects would negatively 

affect the Company’s ability to operate. 
 

The Company’s business strategy includes spreading the risk of oil and natural gas exploration, development and drilling, and ownership 

of interests in oil and natural gas properties, by participating in multiple projects and joint ventures.  If the Company is unable to secure 

sufficient attractive projects as a result of its inability to raise sufficient capital or otherwise, the average quality of the projects and joint 

venture opportunities may decline and the risk of the Company’s overall operations could increase. 
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The loss of key employees could adversely affect the Company’s ability to operate. 

  

The Company believes that its success depends on the continued service of its key employees, as well as the Company’s ability to hire 

additional key employees, when and as needed. Each of the Company’s Senior Vice Presidents has the right to terminate his employment 

at any time without penalty under his employment agreement. The unexpected loss of the services of  any of these key employees, or the 

Company’s failure to find suitable replacements within a reasonable period of time thereafter, could have a material adverse effect on the 

Company’s ability to execute its business plan and therefore, on its financial condition and results of operations. 

  

The Company may not be able to raise the additional capital necessary to execute its business strategy, which could result in the 

curtailment or cessation of the Company’s operations. 

  

The Company will need to raise substantial additional funds to fully fund its existing operations, consummate all of its current asset 

transfer and acquisition opportunities currently contemplated and for the development, production, trading and expansion of its business. 

The Company has available a Promissory Note (term credit facility) of up to $25 million from an affiliated company. This facility 

provides for an annual interest rate based on 30 day Libor plus two percentage points with all amounts due and payable by July 15, 2014. 

The Company has no other current arrangements with respect to additional sources of financing, if needed. If additional sources of 

financing are needed it may not be available on commercially reasonable terms on a timely basis, or at all. The inability to obtain 

additional financing, when needed, would have a negative effect on the Company, including possibly requiring it to curtail or cease 

operations. If any future financing involves the sale of the Company’s equity securities, the shares of Common Stock held by its 

stockholders could be substantially diluted. If the Company borrows money or issues debt securities, it will be subject to the risks 

associated with indebtedness, including the risk that interest rates may fluctuate and the possibility that it may not be able to pay 

principal and interest on the indebtedness when due. 

  

Insufficient funds will prevent the Company from implementing its business plan and will require it to delay, scale back, or eliminate 

certain of its programs or to license to third parties rights to commercialize rights in fields that it would otherwise seek to develop itself. 
 

Failure by the Company to generate sufficient cash flow from operations could eventually result in the cessation of the Company’s 

operations and require the Company to seek outside financing or discontinue operations. 

  

The Company’s business activities require substantial capital from outside sources as well as from internally-generated sources. The 

Company’s ability to finance a portion of its working capital and capital expenditure requirements with cash flow from operations will 

be subject to a number of variables, such as: 
 

 the level of production from existing wells; 

  

● prices of oil and natural gas; 

  

● the success and timing of development of proved undeveloped reserves; 

  

● cost overruns; 

  

● remedial work to improve a well’s producing capability; 

  

● direct costs and general and administrative expenses of operations; 

  

● reserves, including a reserve for the estimated costs of eventually plugging and abandoning the wells; 

  

● indemnification obligations of the Company for losses or liabilities incurred in connection with the Company’s activities; 

and 

  

● general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors beyond the Company’s control. 

  

The Company might not generate or sustain cash flow at sufficient levels to finance its business activities. When and if the Company 

generates significant revenues, if such revenues were to decrease due to lower oil and natural gas prices, decreased production or other 

factors, and if the Company were unable to obtain capital through reasonable financing arrangements, such as a credit line, or otherwise, 

its ability to execute its business plan would be limited and it could be required to discontinue operations. 
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The Company’s failure to capitalize on existing definitive production agreements and/or enter into additional agreements could 

result in an inability by the Company to generate sufficient revenues and continue operations. 
 

The Company has active interests in definitive production contracts for the Oyo and Non-Oyo Contract Rights. The Company has 

entered into definitive exploration agreements with Kenya and The Gambia. The Company’s ability to consummate one or more 

additional ventures is subject to, among other things, (i) the amount of capital the Company raises in the future; (ii) the availability of 

land for exploration and development in the geographical regions in which the Company’s business is focused; (iii) the nature  and 

number of competitive offers for the same projects on which the Company is bidding; and (iv) approval by government and industry 

officials. The Company may not be successful in executing definitive agreements in connection with any other ventures, or otherwise be 

able to secure any additional ventures it pursues in the future. Failure of the Company to capitalize on its existing contracts and/or to 

secure one or more additional business opportunities would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business and results of 

operations, and could result in the cessation of the Company’s business operations. 

  

Our estimated proved reserves are based on many assumptions that may turn out to be inaccurate. Any significant inaccuracies in 

these reserve estimates or underlying assumptions will materially affect the quantities and present value of our reserves. A 

significant percentage of our total estimated proved reserves at December 31, 2012 were proved undeveloped reserves which 

ultimately may be less than currently estimated. 
 

The process of estimating oil and natural gas reserves is complex. It requires interpretations of available technical data and many 

assumptions, including assumptions relating to current and future economic conditions and commodity prices. Any significant 

inaccuracies in these interpretations or assumptions could materially affect the estimated quantities.  In the case of production sharing 

contracts, the quantities allocable to a part-interest owner’s share are affected by the assumptions of that owner’s future participation in 

funding of operating and capital costs. Actual future production, prices, revenues, taxes, development expenditures, operating expenses 

and quantities of recoverable oil and natural gas reserves will vary from estimates. Any significant variance could materially affect the 

estimated quantities and present value of reserves disclosed.  In addition, estimates of proved reserves reflect production history, results 

of exploration and development, prevailing prices and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. Due to the limited 

production history of our undeveloped acreage, the estimates of future production associated with such properties may be subject to 

greater variance to actual production than would be the case with properties having a longer production history. 
 

The Company’s oil and gas operations will involve many operating risks that can cause substantial losses. 

  

The Company expects to produce, transport and market potentially toxic materials, and purchase, handle and dispose of other potentially 

toxic materials in the course of its business. The Company’s operations will produce byproducts, which may be considered pollutants. 

Any of these activities could result in liability, either as a result of an accidental, unlawful discharge or as a result of new findings on the 

effects the Company’s operations on human health or the environment. Additionally, the Company’s oil and gas operations may also 

involve one or more of the following risks: 

  

● fires; 

  

● explosions; 

  

● blow-outs; 

  

● uncontrollable flows of oil, gas, formation water, or drilling fluids; 

 
 

● natural disasters; 

  

● pipe or cement failures; 

  

● casing collapses; 

  

● embedded oilfield drilling and service tools; 

  

● abnormally pressured formations; 

  

● damages caused by vandalism and terrorist acts; and 

  

● environmental hazards such as oil spills, natural gas leaks, pipeline ruptures and discharges of toxic gases. 
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In the event that any of the foregoing events occur, the Company could incur substantial losses as a result of (i) injury or loss of life; (ii) 

severe damage or destruction of property, natural resources or equipment; (iii) pollution and other environmental damage; (iv) 

investigatory and clean-up responsibilities; (v) regulatory investigation and penalties; (vi) suspension of its operations; or (vii) repairs to 

resume operations. If the Company experiences any of these problems, its ability to conduct operations could be adversely affected. 

Additionally, offshore operations are subject to a variety of operating risks, such as capsizing, collisions and damage or loss from 

typhoons or other adverse weather conditions. These conditions can cause substantial damage to facilities and interrupt production. 
 

The Company may not be able to manage our anticipated growth. 

  

Subject to our receipt of additional capital, we plan to significantly expand operations to accommodate additional development projects 

and other opportunities. This expansion may strain our management, operations, systems and financial resources. We may need to hire 

additional personnel in certain operational and other areas during 2013 and future years. 
 

We will depend on the Operating Contractor under the OML 120/121 PSC, which may result in operating costs, methods and timing 

of operations and expenditures beyond our control, and potential delays or the discontinuation of operations and production. 

  

The Operating Contractor under the OML 120/121 PSC currently manages all of the physical development and operations under the 

OML 120/121 PSC, including, but not limited to, the timing of drilling, production and related operations, the timing and amount of 

operational costs, the technology and service providers employed.  We would be materially adversely affected if the Operating 

Contractor does not properly and efficiently manage operational and production matters, or becomes unable or unwilling to continue in 

that capacity under the OML 120/121 PSC. 
 

The Company will be dependent upon others for the storage and transportation of oil and gas, which could result in significant 

operational costs to the Company and depletion of capital. 

  

The Company does not own storage or transportation facilities and, therefore, will depend upon third parties to store and transport all of 

its oil and gas resources when and if produced. The Company will likely be subject to price changes and termination provisions in any 

contracts it may enter into with these third-party service providers. The Company may not be able to identify such third-parties for any 

particular project. Even if such sources are initially identified, the Company may not be able to identify alternative storage and 

transportation providers in the event of contract price increases or termination. In the event the Company is unable to find acceptable 

third-party service providers, it would be required to contract for its own storage facilities and employees to transport the Company’s 

resources. The Company may not have sufficient capital available to assume these obligations, and its inability to do so could result in 

the cessation of its business. 

  

An interruption in the supply of materials, resources and services the Company plans to obtain from third party sources could limit 

the Company’s operations and cause unprofitability. 

  

Once it has identified, financed, and acquired projects, the Company will need to obtain other materials, resources and services, 

including, but not limited to, specialized chemicals and specialty muds and drilling fluids, pipe, drill-string, geological and geophysical 

mapping and interruption services. There may be only a limited number of manufacturers and suppliers of these materials, resources and 

services. These manufacturers and suppliers may experience difficulty in supplying such materials, resources and services to the 

Company sufficient to meet its needs or may terminate or fail to renew contracts for supplying these materials, resources or services on 

terms the Company finds acceptable including, without limitation, acceptable pricing terms. Any significant interruption in the supply of 

any of these materials, resources or services, or significant increases in the amounts the Company is required to pay for these materials, 

resources or services, could result in a lack of profitability, or the cessation of operations, if unable to replace any material sources in a 

reasonable period of time. 
 

The Company does not presently carry liability insurance and business interruption insurance policies in Africa and will be at risk of 

incurring personal injury claims for its employees and subcontractors, and incurring business interruption loss due to theft, 

accidents or natural disasters. 

  

The Company does not presently carry any policies of insurance in Africa to cover the risks discussed above.  In the event that the 

Company were to incur substantial liabilities or business interruption losses with respect to one or more incidents, this could adversely 

affect its operations and it may not have the necessary capital to pay its portion of such costs and maintain business operations. 
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Our business partner, CEHL Group, is a related party, and our executive chairman and CEO is a principal owner and one of the 

directors of CEHL, which may result in real or perceived conflicts of interest. 
 

Our majority shareholder, CAMAC Energy Holdings Limited, is one of the entities constituting our business partner, CEHL 

Group.  Dr. Kase Lawal, the Company’s Executive Chairman and member of the Board of Directors, and Chief Executive Officer, is a 

director of each of CEHL, CINL, and Allied, also entities constituting CEHL Group. Dr. Lawal also owns 27.7% of CAMAC 

International Limited, which indirectly owns 100% of CEHL, and CINL and Allied are each wholly-owned subsidiaries of CEHL.  As a 

result, Dr. Lawal may be deemed to have an indirect material interest in any transactions with CEHL including the agreements entered 

into with CEHL in April 2010, the OML 120/121 Transaction and the Promissory Note with Allied of June 6, 2011.  As a result, Dr. 

Lawal may be deemed to have an indirect material interest in the above agreements.  These relationships may result in conflicts of 

interest. We may not be able to prove that these agreements are equivalent to arm’s length transactions.  Should our transactions not 

provide the value equivalent of arm’s length transactions, our results of operations may suffer and we may be subject to costly 

shareholder litigation. 
 

If we lose our status as an indigenous Nigerian oil and gas operator, we would no longer be eligible for preferential treatment in the 

acquisition of oil and gas assets and oil and gas licensing rounds in Nigeria. 
 

We are considered an indigenous Nigerian oil and gas operator by virtue of our majority stockholder, CEHL, which is an indigenous 

Nigerian oil and gas company.  This status makes us eligible for preferential treatment under the Nigerian Content Development Act 

with respect to the acquisition of oil and gas assets and in oil and gas licensing rounds in Nigeria.  If CEHL were to lose its status as an 

indigenous Nigerian oil and gas company due to its affiliation with our U.S. based company or otherwise, or if CEHL Limited’s majority 

interest in us were to be diluted or reduced due to additional issuances of equity by the Company, CEHL sale or transfer of its interest in 

the Company or otherwise, we may lose our status as an indigenous Nigerian oil and gas operator.  As a result, we would lose one of our 

key advantages in the Nigerian oil and gas market and our results of operations could materially suffer. 
 

Applicable Nigerian income tax rates could adversely affect the value of the OML 120/121 asset, including the Oyo Field. 

  

Income derived from the Oyo Contract Rights and Non-Oyo Contract Rights, and CPL, as acquiring subsidiary in these transactions, are 

subject to the jurisdiction of the Nigerian taxing authorities.  The Nigerian government applies different tax rates upon income derived 

from Nigerian oil operations ranging from 50% to 85%, based on a number of factors.  The final determination of the tax liabilities with 

respect to the OML 120/121 PSC involves the interpretation of local tax laws and related authorities. In addition, changes in the 

operating environment, including changes in tax law and currency/repatriation controls, could impact the determination of tax liabilities 

with respect to the OML 120/121 PSC for a tax year.  While we believe the tax rate applicable to the OML 120/121 PSC is 52%, the 

actual applicable rate could be higher, which could result in a material decrease in the profits allocable to the Company under the OML 

120/121 PSC. 

  

The passage into law of the Nigerian Petroleum Industry Bill could create additional fiscal and regulatory burdens on the parties to 

the OML 120/121 PSC, which could have a material adverse effect on the profitability of the production. 

  

A Petroleum Industry Bill (“PIB”) is currently undergoing legislative process at the Nigerian National Assembly. To date, the PIB has 

failed to pass the Nigerian Senate.  The draft PIB seeks to introduce significant changes to legislation governing the oil and gas sector in 

Nigeria, including new fiscal regulatory and tax obligations and expanded fiscal and regulatory oversight that may impose additional 

operational and regulatory burdens on the operating contractor under the OML 120/121 PSC and impact the economic benefits 

anticipated by the parties to the OML 120/121 PSC.  Any such fiscal and regulatory changes could have a negative impact on the profits 

allocable to the Company under the OML 120/121 PSC. 

  

OML 120/121 is subject to the instability of the Nigerian Government and instability in the country of Nigeria. 

  

The government of Nigeria originally granted the rights to OML 120/121 PSC to CEHL. The government and country of Nigeria have 

historically experienced instability, which is out of management’s control. The Company’s ability to exploit its interests in this area 

pursuant to the OML 120/121 PSC may be adversely impacted by unanticipated governmental action. In addition, the OML 120/121 

PSC’s financial viability may also be negatively affected by changing economic, political and governmental conditions in Nigeria. 

Moreover, we operate in a sector of the economy that is likely to be adversely impacted by the effects of political instability, terrorist or 

other attacks, war or international hostilities. 
 

OML 120/121 is located in an area where there are high security risks, which could result in harm to the Oyo Field operations and 

our interest in the Oyo Field and the remainder of OML 120/121. 

  

The Oyo Field is located approximately 75 miles off the Southern Nigerian coast in deep-water.  There are some risks inherent to oil 

production in Nigeria. Since December 2005, Nigeria has experienced increased pipeline vandalism, kidnappings and militant takeovers 

of oil facilities in the Niger Delta. The Movement for the Emancipation of the Niger Delta (MEND) is the main group attacking oil 

infrastructure for political objectives, claiming to seek a redistribution of oil wealth and greater local control of the sector. Additionally, 

kidnappings of oil workers for ransom are common. Security concerns have led some oil services firms to pull out of the country and oil 
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workers unions to threaten strikes over security issues. The instability in the Niger Delta has caused shut-in production and several 

companies to declare  force majeure  on oil shipments. 
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Despite undertaking various security measures and being situated 75 miles offshore the Nigerian coast, the FPSO vessel  currently being 

used for storing petroleum production in   the Oyo   Field may become subject to terrorist acts and other acts of hostility like piracy. 

Such actions could adversely   impact   our overall business, financial condition and operations. Our facilities are subject to these 

substantial security risks and our financial condition and results of operations may materially suffer as a result. 
 

Maritime disasters and other operational risks may adversely impact our reputation, financial condition and results of operations. 
 

The operation of the FPSO vessel has an inherent risk of maritime disaster, environmental mishaps, cargo and property losses or damage 

and business interruptions caused by, among others: 
 

● mechanical failure; 

 
● damages requiring dry-dock repairs; 

 
● human error; 

 
● labor strikes; 

 
● adverse weather conditions; 

 
● vessel off hire periods; 

 
● regulatory delays; and 

 
● political action, civil conflicts, terrorism and piracy in countries where vessel operations are conducted, vessels are 

registered or from which spare parts and provisions are sourced and purchased. 

  

Any of these circumstances could adversely affect the operation of the FPSO vessel, and result in loss of revenues or increased costs and 

adversely affect our profitability. Terrorist acts and regional hostilities around the world in recent years have led to increase in insurance 

premium rates and the implementation of special “war risk” premiums for certain areas. Such increases in insurance rates may adversely 

affect our profitability with respect to the Oyo Field asset. 
 

 A substantial or extended decline in oil and natural gas prices may adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of 

operations. 
 

The prices received for Oyo Field production under the OML 120/121 PSC will heavily influence our revenue, profitability, access to 

capital and future rate of growth. Oil is a commodity and, therefore, its price is subject to wide fluctuations in response to relatively 

minor changes in supply and demand. Historically, the market for oil has been volatile. This market will likely continue to be volatile in 

the future. The prices received for production under the OML 120/121 PSC and the levels of its production depend on numerous factors 

beyond our and operator’s control. These factors include the following: 
 

● changes in global supply and demand for oil; 

  

● the actions of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries; 

  

● the price and quantity of imports of foreign oil; 

  

● political and economic conditions, including embargoes, in oil producing countries or affecting other oil-producing 

activity; 

  

● the level of global oil exploration and production activity; 

  

● the level of global oil inventories; 

  

● weather conditions; 

  

● technological advances affecting energy consumption; 

  

● domestic and foreign governmental regulations; 
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● proximity and capacity of oil pipelines and other transportation facilities; and 

  

● the price and availability of alternative fuels. 
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Lower oil prices may not only decrease our revenues on a per unit basis but also may reduce the amount of oil that the operator can 

produce economically under the OML 120/121 PSC with respect to the Oyo Field. A substantial or extended decline in oil prices may 

materially and adversely affect our future business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or ability to finance planned 

capital expenditures. 
 

Risks Related to the Company’s Industry 

  

The Company may not be successful in finding, acquiring, or developing sufficient petroleum reserves, and if it fails to do so, the 

Company will likely cease operations. 

  

The Company will be operating primarily in the petroleum extractive business; therefore, if it is not successful in finding crude oil and 

natural gas sources with good prospects for future production, and exploiting such sources, its business will not be profitable and it may 

be forced to terminate its operations. Exploring and exploiting oil and gas or other sources of energy entails significant risks, which risks 

can only be partially mitigated by technology and experienced personnel. The Company or any ventures it acquires or participates in 

may not be successful in finding petroleum or other energy sources; or, if it is successful in doing so, the Company may not be successful 

in developing such resources and producing quantities that will be sufficient to permit the Company to conduct profitable operations. 

The Company’s future success will depend in large part on the success of its drilling programs and creating and maintaining an inventory 

of projects. Creating and maintaining an inventory of projects depends on many factors, including, among other things, obtaining rights 

to explore, develop and produce hydrocarbons in promising areas, drilling success, and ability to bring long lead-time, capital intensive 

projects to completion on budget and schedule, and efficient and profitable operation of mature properties. The Company’s inability to 

successfully identify and exploit crude oil and natural gas sources would have a material adverse effect on its business and results of 

operations and would, in all likelihood, result in the cessation of its business operations. 

  

In addition to the numerous operating risks described in more detail in this report, exploring and exploitation of energy sources involve 

the risk that no commercially productive oil or gas reservoirs will be discovered or, if discovered, that the cost or timing of drilling, 

completing and producing wells will not result in profitable operations. The Company’s drilling operations may be curtailed, delayed or 

abandoned as a result of a variety of factors, including: 

  

● adverse weather conditions; 

  

● unexpected drilling conditions; 

  

● pressure or irregularities in formations; 

  

● equipment failures or accidents; 

  

● inability to comply with governmental requirements; 

  

● shortages or delays in the availability of drilling rigs and the delivery of equipment; and 

  

● shortages or unavailability of qualified labor to complete the drilling programs according to the business plan schedule. 

  

The energy market in which the Company operates is highly competitive and the Company may not be able to compete successfully 

against its current and future competitors, which could seriously harm the Company’s business. 

  

Competition in the oil and gas industry is intense, particularly with respect to access to drilling rigs and other services, the acquisition of 

properties and the hiring and retention of technical personnel. The Company expects competition in the market to remain intense because 

of the increasing global demand for energy, and that competition will increase significantly as new companies enter the market and 

current competitors continue to seek new sources of energy and leverage existing sources. Many of the Company’s competitors, 

including large oil companies, have an established presence in the areas we do business and have longer operating histories, significantly 

greater financial, technical, marketing, development, extraction and other resources and greater name recognition than the Company 

does. As a result, they may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies, changes in regulations affecting the 

industry, newly discovered resources and exploration opportunities, as well as to large swings in oil and natural gas prices. In addition, 

increased competition could result in lower energy prices, and reduced margins and loss of market share, any of which could harm the 

Company’s business. Furthermore, increased competition may harm the Company’s ability to secure ventures on terms favorable to it 

and may lead to higher costs and reduced profitability, which may seriously harm its business. 

  
  

19 
 
 

 



Source: CAMAC Energy Inc., 10-K, April 15, 2013 Powered by Morningstar Document Research. 
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use 
of this information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results. 

Back to Table of Contents 
  

The Company’s business depends on the level of activity in the oil and gas industry, which is significantly affected by volatile energy 

prices, which volatility could adversely affect its ability to operate profitably. 

  

The Company’s business depends on the level of activity in the oil and gas exploration, development and production in markets 

worldwide. Oil and gas prices, market expectations of potential changes in these prices and a variety of political and economic and 

weather-related factors significantly affect this level of activity. Oil and gas prices are extremely volatile and are affected by numerous 

factors, including: 

  

● the domestic and foreign supply of oil and natural gas; 

  

● the ability of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries, commonly called “OPEC,” to set and maintain 

production levels and pricing; 

  

● the price and availability of alternative fuels; 

  

● weather conditions; 

  

● the level of consumer demand; 

  

● global economic conditions; 

  

● political conditions in oil and gas producing regions; and 

  

● government regulations. 

  

Within the 12 months ending December 31, 2012, light crude oil futures have ranged from approximately $75 per barrel to over $100 per 

barrel, and may continue to fluctuate significantly in the future. 
 

If the Company does not hedge its exposure to reductions in oil and gas prices, it may be subject to the risk of significant reductions 

in prices; alternatively, use by the Company of oil and gas price hedging contracts could limit future revenues from price increases. 

  

To date, the Company has not entered into any hedging transactions but may do so in the future.  In the event that the Company chooses 

not to hedge its exposure to reductions in oil and gas prices by purchasing futures and by using other hedging strategies, it could be 

subject to significant reduction in prices which could have a material negative impact on its profitability. Alternatively, the Company 

may elect to use hedging transactions with respect to a portion of its oil and gas production to achieve more predictable cash flow and to 

reduce its exposure to price fluctuations. The use of hedging transactions could limit future revenues from price increases and could also 

expose the Company to adverse changes in basis risk, the relationship between the price of the specific oil or gas being hedged and the 

price of the commodity underlying the futures contracts or other instruments used in the hedging transaction. Hedging transactions also 

involve the risk that the counterparty does not satisfy its obligations. 
 

The Company may be required to take non-cash asset write-downs if oil and natural gas prices decline or if downward revisions in 

net proved reserves occur, which could have a negative impact on the Company’s earnings. 

  

Under applicable accounting rules, the Company may be required to write down the carrying value of oil and natural gas properties if oil 

and natural gas prices decline or if there are substantial downward adjustments to its estimated proved reserves, increases in its estimates 

of development costs or deterioration in its exploration results. Accounting standards require the Company to review its long-lived assets 

for possible impairment whenever changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable 

over time. In such cases, if the asset’s estimated undiscounted future cash flows are less than its carrying amount, impairment exists. Any 

impairment write-down, which would equal the excess of the carrying amount of the assets being written down over their fair value, 

would have a negative impact on the Company’s earnings, which could be material. 

  

Risks Related to International Operations 

  

The Company’s international operations will subject it to certain risks inherent in conducting business operations in Nigeria and 

other foreign countries, including political instability and foreign government regulation, which could significantly impact the 

Company’s ability to operate in such countries and impact the Company’s results of operations. 
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The Company conducts substantially all of its business in Africa.  The Company’s present and future international operations in foreign 

countries are, and will be, subject to risks generally associated with conducting businesses in foreign countries, such as: 

  

● foreign laws and regulations that may be materially different from those of the United States; 

  

● changes in applicable laws and regulations; 

  

● challenges to, or failure of, title; 

  

● labor and political unrest; 

  

● foreign currency fluctuations; 

  

● changes in foreign economic and political conditions; 

  

● export and import restrictions; 

  

● tariffs, customs, duties and other trade barriers; 

  

● difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations; 

  

● longer time periods and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable and enforcing agreements; 

  

● possible loss of properties due to nationalization or expropriation; and 

  

● limitations on repatriation of income or capital. 

  

Specifically, foreign governments may enact and enforce laws and regulations requiring increased ownership by businesses and/or state 

agencies in energy producing businesses and the facilities used by these businesses, which could adversely affect the Company’s 

ownership interests in then existing ventures. The Company’s ownership structure may not be adequate to accomplish the Company’s 

business objectives in Nigeria or in any other foreign jurisdiction where the Company may operate. Foreign governments also may 

impose additional taxes and/or royalties on the Company’s business, which would adversely affect the Company’s profitability and 

value of our foreign assets, including the rights to interests in OML 120/121 PSC.   In certain locations, governments have imposed 

restrictions, controls and taxes, and in others, political conditions have existed that may threaten the safety of employees and the 

Company’s continued presence in those countries. Internal unrest, acts of violence or strained relations between a foreign government 

and the Company or other governments may adversely affect its operations. These developments may, at times, significantly affect the 

Company’s results of operations, and must be carefully considered by its management when evaluating the level of current and future 

activity in such countries. 

  

The future success of the Company’s operations may also be adversely affected by risks associated with international activities, 

including economic and labor conditions, political instability, risk of war, expropriation, repatriation, termination, renegotiation or 

modification of existing contracts, tax laws (including host-country import-export, excise and income taxes and United States taxes on 

foreign subsidiaries) and changes in the value of the U.S. dollar versus the local currencies in which future oil and gas producing 

activities may be denominated in certain cases. Changes in exchange rates may also adversely affect the Company’s future results of 

operations and financial condition.  Realization of any of these factors could materially and adversely affect our financial position, 

results of operations and cash flows. 

  

Compliance and enforcement of environmental laws and regulations, including those related to climate change, may cause the 

Company to incur significant expenditures and require resources, which it may not have. 

  

Extensive national, regional and local environmental laws and regulations in Africa are expected to have a significant impact on the 

Company’s operations. These laws and regulations set various standards regulating certain aspects of health and environmental quality, 

which provide for user fees, penalties and other liabilities for the violation of these standards. As new environmental laws and 

regulations are enacted and existing laws are repealed, interpretation, application and enforcement of the laws may become inconsistent. 

Compliance with applicable local laws in the future could require significant expenditures, which may adversely affect the Company’s 

operations. The enactment of any such laws, rules or regulations in the future may have a negative impact on the Company’s projected 

growth, which could in turn decrease its projected revenues or increase its cost of doing business. 
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A foreign government could change its policies toward private enterprise or even nationalize or expropriate private enterprises, 

which could result in the total loss of the Company’s investment in that country. 

  

The Company’s business is subject to significant political and economic uncertainties and may be adversely affected by political, 

economic and social developments in Africa or in any other foreign jurisdiction in which it operates. 

  

Changes in policies, laws and regulations or in their interpretation or the imposition of confiscatory taxation, restrictions on currency 

conversion, restrictions or prohibitions on dividend payments to stockholders, devaluations of currency or the nationalization or other 

expropriation of private enterprises could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business. Nationalization or expropriation 

could even result in the loss of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets and in the total loss of your investment in the Company. 

  

The continued existence of official corruption and bribery in Africa, and the inability or unwillingness of Nigerian authorities to 

combat such corruption, may negatively impact our ability to fairly and effectively compete in the Nigerian oil and gas  market. 

  

Official corruption and bribery remain a serious concern in Nigeria.  The 2012 Transparency International report ranks Nigeria 139 out 

of 174 countries in terms of corruption perceptions.  In an attempt to combat corruption in the oil and gas sector, the National Assembly 

passed the Nigeria Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative Act 2007.  This action permitted Nigeria to become a candidate country 

under the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (“EITI”), the first step in bringing transparency to all material oil, gas an d  

mining payments to the Government of Nigeria.  In addition, Nigeria has amended its banking laws to permit the government to bring 

corrupt bank officials to justice.  Several notable cases have been brought, but, to date, few significant cases have been successful and 

bank regulatory oversight remains a concern.  Thus, increased diligence may be required in working with or through Nigerian banks or 

with Nigerian governmental authorities, and interactions with government officials may need to be monitored.  To the extent that such 

efforts to increase transparency are unsuccessful, and any competitors utilize the existence of corruptive practices in order to secure an 

unfair advantage, our financial condition and results of operations may suffer. 
 

If relations between the United States and Africa were to deteriorate, investors might be unwilling to hold or buy the Company’s 

stock and its stock price may decrease. 

  

At various times during recent years, the United States has had significant disagreements over political, economic and security issues 

with Nigeria.  Additional controversies may arise in the future between the United States and these two countries. Any political or trade 

controversies between the United States and these two countries, whether or not directly related to the Company’s business, could 

adversely affect the market price of the Company’s Common Stock. 

  

The Company’s stockholders may not be able to enforce United States civil liabilities claims. 
 

Many of the Company’s assets are, and are expected to continue to be, located outside the U.S. and held through one or more 

wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries incorporated under the laws of foreign jurisdictions.  A substantial part of the 

Company’s operations are, and are expected to continue to be, conducted in Africa.  In addition, some of the Company’s directors and 

officers, including directors and officers of its subsidiaries, may be residents of countries other than the U.S. All or a substantial portion 

of the assets of these persons may be located outside the U.S. As a result, it may be difficult for shareholders to effect service of process 

within the U.S. upon these persons. In addition, there is uncertainty as to whether the courts of Africa would recognize or enforce 

judgments of U.S. courts obtained against the Company or such persons predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the securities 

laws of the U.S. or any state thereof, or be competent to hear original actions brought in these countries against the Company or such 

persons predicated upon the securities laws of the U.S. or any state thereof. 
 

Risks Related to the Company’s Stock 
 

CAMAC Energy Holdings Limitedis our controlling stockholder, and it may take actions that conflict with the interests of the other 

stockholders. 

  

Following our acquisition of the Oyo Contract Rights, CEHL beneficially owned approximately 62.74% of our outstanding shares of 

Common Stock and continues to own a majority interest at present.  CEHL controls the power to elect our directors, to appoint members 

of management and to approve all actions requiring the approval of the holders of our Common Stock, including adopting amendments 

to our Certificate of Incorporation and approving mergers, acquisitions or sales of all or substantially all of our assets, subject to certain 

restrictive covenants. The interests of CEHL as our controlling stockholder could conflict with your interests as a holder of Company 

Common Stock. For example, CEHL as our controlling stockholder may have an interest in pursuing acquisitions, divestitures, 

financings or other transactions that, in its judgment, could enhance its equity investment, even though such transactions might involve 

risks to you, as minority holders of the Company. 
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The market price of the Company’s stock may be adversely affected by a number of factors related to the Company’s performance, 

the performance of other energy-related companies and the stock market in general. 

  

The market prices of securities of energy companies are extremely volatile and sometimes reach unsustainable levels that bear no 

relationship to the past or present operating performance of such companies. 

  

Factors that may contribute to the volatility of the trading price of the Company’s Common Stock include, among others: 

  

● the Company’s quarterly results of operations; 

  

● the variance between the Company’s actual quarterly results of operations and predictions by stock analysts; 

  

● financial predictions and recommendations by stock analysts concerning energy companies and companies competing in 

the Company’s market in general, and concerning the Company in particular; 

  

● public announcements of regulatory changes or new ventures relating to the Company’s business, new products or 

services by the Company or its competitors, or acquisitions, joint ventures or strategic alliances by the Company or its 

competitors; 

  

● public reports concerning the Company’s services or those of its competitors; 

  

● the operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors or stock analysts may deem comparable to 

the Company; 

  

● large purchases or sales of the Company’s Common Stock; 

  

● investor perception of the Company’s business prospects or the oil and gas industry in general; and 

  

● general economic and financial conditions. 

  

In addition to the foregoing factors, the trading prices for equity securities in the stock market in general, and of energy-related 

companies in particular, have been subject to wide fluctuations that may be unrelated to the operating performance of the particular 

company affected by such fluctuations. Consequently, broad market fluctuations may have an adverse effect on the trading price of the 

Common Stock, regardless of the Company’s results of operations. 
 

The limited market for the Company’s Common Stock may adversely affect trading prices or the ability of a shareholder to sell the 

Company’s shares in the public market at or near ask prices or at all if a shareholder needs to liquidate its shares. 

  

The market price for shares of the Company’s Common Stock has been, and is expected to continue to be, very volatile.   Numerous 

factors beyond the Company’s control may have a significant effect on the market price for shares of the Company’s Common Stock, 

including the fact that the Company is a small company that is relatively unknown to stock analysts, stock brokers, institutional investors 

and others in the investment community that generate or influence sales volume.  Even if we came to the attention of such persons, they 

tend to be risk-averse and may be reluctant to follow an unproven, early stage company such as the Company or purchase or recommend 

the purchase of its shares until such time as the Company becomes more seasoned and viable. There may be periods of several days or 

more when trading activity in the Company’s shares is minimal as compared to a seasoned issuer which has a large and steady volume of 

trading activity that will generally support continuous sales without an adverse effect on share price. Due to these conditions, investors 

may not be able to sell their shares at or near ask prices or at all if investors need money or otherwise desire to liquidate their shares. 

  
  

23 
 
 

 



Source: CAMAC Energy Inc., 10-K, April 15, 2013 Powered by Morningstar Document Research. 
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use 
of this information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results. 

Back to Table of Contents 
 

The Company’s issuance of Preferred Stock could adversely affect the value of the Company’s Common Stock. 

  

The Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 50 million shares of Preferred 

Stock, which shares constitute what is commonly referred to as “blank check” Preferred Stock.  This Preferred Stock may be issued by 

the Board of Directors from time to time on any number of occasions, without stockholder approval, as one or more separate series of 

shares comprised of any number of the authorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stock, designated by resolution of the Board of 

Directors, stating the name and number of shares of each series and setting forth separately for such series the relative rights, privileges 

and preferences thereof, including, if any, the: (i) rate of dividends payable thereon; (ii) price, terms and conditions of redemption; (iii) 

voluntary and involuntary liquidation preferences; (iv) provisions of a sinking fund for redemption or repurchase; (v) terms of 

conversion to Common Stock, including conversion price; and (vi) voting rights. The designation of such shares could be dilutive of the 

interest of the holders of our Common Stock. The ability to issue such Preferred Stock could also give the Company’s Board of Directors 

the ability to hinder or discourage any attempt to gain control of the Company by a merger, tender offer at a control premium price, proxy 

contest or otherwise. 

  

The Common Stock may be deemed “penny stock” and therefore subject to special requirements that could make the trading of the 

Company’s Common Stock more difficult than for stock of a company that is not “penny stock”. 

  

The Company’s Common Stock may be deemed to be a “penny stock” as that term is defined in Rule 3a51-1 promulgated under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Penny stocks are stocks (i) with a price of less than five dollars per share; (ii) that are not traded on a 

“recognized” national exchange; (iii) whose prices are not quoted on the NASDAQ automated quotation system (NASDAQ-listed 

stocks must still meet requirement (i) above); or (iv) of issuers with net tangible assets of less than $2,000,000 (if the issuer has been in 

continuous operation for at least three years) or $5,000,000 (if in continuous operation for less than three years), or with average 

revenues of less than $6,000,000 for the last three years. 

  

Section 15(g) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 15g-2 promulgated thereunder, require broker-dealers dealing in penny stocks to provide 

potential investors with a document disclosing the risks of penny stocks and to obtain a manually signed and dated written receipt of the 

document before effecting any transaction in a penny stock for the investor’s account. Moreover, Rule 15g-9 promulgated under the 

Exchange Act requires broker-dealers in penny stocks to approve the account of any investor for transactions in such stocks before 

selling any penny stock to that investor. This procedure requires the broker-dealer to (i) obtain from the investor information concerning 

his or her financial situation, investment experience and investment objectives; (ii) reasonably determine, based on that information, that 

transactions in penny stocks are suitable for the investor and that the investor has sufficient knowledge and experience as to be 

reasonably capable of evaluating the risks of penny stock transactions; (iii) provide the investor with a written statement setting forth the 

basis on which the broker-dealer made the determination in (ii) above; and (iv) receive a signed and dated copy of such statement from 

the investor, confirming that it accurately reflects the investor’s financial situation, investment experience and investment objectives. 

Compliance with these requirements may make it more difficult for investors in the Common Stock to resell their shares to third parties 

or to otherwise dispose of them. 

  

The Company’s executive officers, directors and major stockholders, including CAMAC Energy Holdings Limited, hold a 

controlling interest in the Company’s Common Stock and may be able to prevent other stockholders from influencing significant 

corporate decisions. 
 

The executive officers, directors and holders of 5% or more of the outstanding Common Stock, if they were to act together, would be 

able to control all matters requiring approval by stockholders, including the election of Directors and the approval of significant 

corporate transactions. This concentration of ownership may also have the effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a change in control 

and may make some transactions more difficult or impossible to complete without the support of these stockholders. 
 

ITEM 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

  

None 
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ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES 
 

The Company has two primary leased office facilities: Houston, Texas (the “Houston Facility”) and Nairobi, Kenya (the “Kenya 

Facility”).  The Company also utilizes office space in Lagos, Nigeria under short-term arrangements with an affiliated company. 
 

The Houston Facility covers approximately 7,800 square feet of office space and is under a lease which commenced on  October 1, 2012 

and ends on October 31, 2019.  Rental expense is currently $14,500 per month plus allocated share of operating expenses. 
 

The Kenya Facility covers approximately 5,420 square feet of office space and is under lease which commenced on November 1, 2012 

and ends November 30, 2017.  Rental expense is currently $6,000 per month plus service charges. 
 

The Company does not foresee significant difficulty in renewing or replacing either lease under current market conditions, or in adding 

additional space when required. 
 

ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 

In June 2011, Abiola Lawal, former Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, filed a lawsuit in Harris 

County, Texas District Court against the Company, alleging breach of contract and wrongful termination in connection with his 

termination from the Company. In September 2011, the Court issued an order staying the proceedings pending arbitration in view of the 

mandatory arbitration clause in the plaintiff’s employment agreement. In October 2011, the plaintiff issued a written demand for 

arbitration making the same allegations as the stayed lawsuit. The arbitration hearing was scheduled to commence in late October 

2012.   On October 19, 2012, a settlement agreement was reached resolving the matters described above.  The settlement will have no 

material effect on our consolidated financial position or our net income or loss. 
 

From time to time we may be involved in various legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of our business. As of December 

31, 2012, and through the filing date of this report, we do not believe the ultimate resolution of such actions or potential actions of which 

we are currently aware will have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or our net income or loss. 
 

ITEM 4.   MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

  

Not applicable. 
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PART II 

  

ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND 

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

  

Market Information for Common Stock 
 

Our Common Stock is currently listed on the NYSE MKT under the symbol “CAK”. It commenced listing on the NYSE MKT on 

November 5, 2009 under the symbol “PAP”.  Prior to being listed on the NYSE MKT, the Common Stock was quoted on the OTC 

Bulletin Board under the symbol “PFAP.OB” between May 8, 2008 and November 4, 2009. 

  

The following table sets forth the range of the high and low sales prices per share of our Common Stock for the periods indicated: 
 

Period   High     Low   

2012             

First quarter   $ 1.05     $ 0.77   

Second quarter   $ 1.04     $ 0.57   

Third quarter   $ 0.65     $ 0.45   

Fourth quarter   $ 0.80     $ 0.38   

2011                 

First quarter   $ 2.00     $ 1.37   

Second quarter   $ 2.02     $ 1.19   

Third quarter   $ 1.36     $ 0.60   

Fourth quarter   $ 1.23     $ 0.50   

  

Common Stock Warrants and Options 
 

As of  March 22, 2013, the Company had warrants outstanding to purchase (i) an aggregate of  4,659,551 shares of Common Stock at a 

price per share of $2.62; (ii) an aggregate of 279,573 shares of Common Stock at a price per share of $2.75; (iii) an aggregate of 

3,658,770 shares of Common Stock at a price per share of $4.50; (iv) an aggregate of  150,000 shares of Common Stock at a price per 

share of  $5.00; and (v) an  aggregate of 124,408 shares of Common Stock at a price per share of $5.28. 
 

As of March 22, 2013, an aggregate of 3,553,485 shares of Common Stock were issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options. 
 

Holders 
 

As of March 22, 2013, there were 63 registered holders of record of our Common Stock, and there are an estimated 6,000 beneficial 

owners of our common stock, including shares held in street name.   

  

Dividend Policy 
 

The Company has not, to date, paid any cash dividends on its Common Stock. The Company has no current plans to pay dividends on its 

Common Stock and intends to retain earnings, if any, for working capital purposes and capital expenditures. Any future determination as 

to the payment of dividends on the Common Stock will depend upon the results of operations, capital requirements, the financial 

condition of the Company and other relevant factors. 
 

Our Board of Directors has complete discretion on whether to pay dividends. Even if our Board of Directors decides to pay dividends, 

the form, frequency and amount will depend upon our future operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial 

condition, contractual restrictions and other factors that the Board of Directors may deem relevant. 
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

  

None. 
 

Stock Repurchases 

  

The Company did not repurchase any shares of its Common Stock during the quarter ended December 31, 2012. 
 

ITEM 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information under 

this Item. 

  

ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 

OPERATIONS 

  

Our Business 
 

CAMAC Energy Inc. is engaged in the exploration, development, and production of oil and gas outside the United States, directly and 

through joint ventures and other ventures in which it may participate.    Currently the Company has rights to interests in OML 120/121 

oil and gas leases in deep water offshore Nigeria and has recently acquired exploratory acreage in Kenya and The Gambia. 
 

The Company was originally incorporated in Delaware on December 12, 1979 as Gemini Marketing Associates Inc., subsequently 

changed its name to Pacific East Advisors, Inc., and on May 7, 2007 consummated a reverse merger involving predecessor company 

Inner Mongolia Production Company, LLC ("IMPCO") and Advanced Drilling Services, LLC ("ADS"), in connection with which the 

Company changed its name to Pacific Asia Petroleum, Inc. The Company’s name was changed to CAMAC Energy Inc. upon the 

acquisition of certain rights to interests in oil and gas properties located offshore Nigeria in April 2010.  The Company’s corporate 

headquarters is located in Houston, Texas. 
 

In August 2012, the Company divested its wholly-owned Hong Kong subsidiary Pacific Asia Petroleum Limited (“PAPL”) for cash 

consideration of $2.5 million and 9.6 million fully paid ordinary shares, net of selling expenses, of Leyshon Resources Limited 

(“Leyshon”), a natural resources mining company based in Beijing, China.  The Leyshon shares had a fair market value of $1.9 million, 

and have since been sold. 
 

As a result of the above transaction, the Company is reporting Asia operations for all presented periods in discontinued operations and, 

as such, the financial statement information provided in this report for continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 

2011 are presented in one reportable segment. 
 

Nigeria - Oyo Field Production Sharing Contract Interest 
 

In December 2009, Nigerian Agip Exploration Limited (“NAE”), a subsidiary of Italy's ENI SpA, and CAMAC Energy Holdings 

Limited (“CEHL”) announced that they had commenced production of the Oyo Field, offshore Nigeria. The Oyo Field has been 

producing from two subsea wells in a water depth of greater than 300 meters, which are connected to the Armada Perdana Floating 

Production Storage and Offloading (“FPSO”) vessel.  The FPSO has a treatment capacity of 40,000 barrels of liquids per day, with gas 

treatment and re-injection facilities, and is capable of storing up to one million barrels of crude oil. The first lifting (sale) of crude oil was 

in February 2010.  Some of the associated gas has been re-injected into the Oyo Field reservoir by a third well, to minimize flaring and to 

maximize oil recovery. 
 

Through December 31, 2012, the Company incurred a total of $59.7 million in costs relative to the workover to reduce gas production 

rising from well #5 in the Oyo Field, offshore Nigeria, with the objective of increasing crude oil production from this well.  By joint 

agreement with Allied Energy Plc. (“Allied”), a related party, the Company has committed to pay for the workover. To the extent the 

Company funds these costs, it is entitled to cost recovery of such costs as non-capital costs from Cost Oil, as defined in the terms of the 

OML 120/121 Production Sharing Contract (“OML 120/121 PSC”), subject to future production levels. For purposes of Cost Oil 

recovery on each sale of production, non-capital costs are allocated for recovery prior to capital costs. As of December 31, 2012, $40.4 

million of these costs have been recovered as revenue and we expect to recover the remainder as revenue in future liftings.  In connection 

with funding for part of these costs prior to receiving cost recovery, the Company entered into a Promissory Note and Guaranty 

Agreement with a related party, which is discussed below under “Promissory Note and Guaranty Agreement.” The remainder is being 

funded using available cash and the future Oyo Field lifting proceeds. 
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The workover on well #5 in the Oyo Field initially reduced the amount of gas and water production; however, the oil production rate did 

not significantly improve.  The current water cut is approximately 27% with the gas production fairly stabilized over time. 
 

Well #6 in the Oyo Field currently produces at a water cut of approximately 81%. The Company continues to evaluate the viability of 

placing this well on a gas lift to increase the oil rate. 
 

Based on the production history of the Oyo Field, the 2011 completed study by Netherland, Sewell & Associates Inc. (“NSAI”), and 

validated by a recent in-house simulation study, the Company believes that three additional development wells will be required to 

recover all economically recoverable reserves in the Central West block, in which the Oyo Field is located.  Three additional wells will 

also be required to recover the possible reserves from the Central Eastern block.  The Company is continuing to explore options for 

marketing Oyo Field gas to third party gas processing and transportation facilities. 
 

Allied has informed the Company that it plans to drill a new well in the Oyo Field commencing in mid 2013.  The new well, Oyo #7, will 

be designed to both increase the current oil production levels and test the prospective resource potential of the deeper Miocene reservoir 

in the field. 
 

Nigeria - OML 120/121 Transaction 
 

In April 2010, the Company acquired from affiliates of CAMAC Energy Holdings Limited (“CEHL”) certain rights to their interests 

relating to the Oyo Field (the “Oyo Contract Rights”) in the OML 120/121 PSC in exchange for cash and shares of common stock of the 

Company. 
 

In December 2010, the Company entered into a Purchase and Continuation Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with CEHL and 

such affiliates, pursuant to which the Company agreed to acquire certain rights of the remainder of the affiliates’ interest (the “OML 

120/121 Transaction”) in the OML 120/121 PSC (the “Non-Oyo Contract Rights”).  In exchange for the Non-Oyo Contract Rights, the 

Company agreed to an option-based consideration structure and paid $5.0 million in cash to Allied, an affiliate of CEHL, upon the 

closing of the OML 120/121 Transaction in February 2011. The Company has the option to elect to retain the Non-Oyo Contract Rights 

upon payment of additional consideration to Allied upon the achievement of certain milestones relating to exploration and production 

outside of the Oyo Field. 
 

If any of the milestones are reached and the Company elects not to retain the Non-Oyo Contract Rights at that time, then all the Non-Oyo 

Contract Rights will automatically revert back to CEHL without any compensation due to the Company and with CEHL retaining all 

consideration paid by the Company to date.  As of December 31, 2012, none of the milestones had been reached. 
 

Dr. Kase Lawal, the Company’s Executive Chairman and member of the Board of Directors, and Chief Executive Officer, is a director of 

each of CEHL, CAMAC International (Nigeria) Limited (“CINL”) and Allied.  Dr. Lawal also owns 27.7% of CAMAC International 

Limited, which indirectly owns 100% of CEHL.  As a result, Dr. Lawal may be deemed to have an indirect material interest in the 

transaction contemplated by the OML 120/121 PSC.  Chairman Lawal recused himself from participating in the consideration and 

approval by the Company’s Board of Directors of the OML 120/121 Transaction. 
 

Promissory Note and Guaranty Agreement 
 

On June 6, 2011, CAMAC Petroleum Limited (“CPL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, executed a Promissory Note (the 

“Promissory Note”) in favor of Allied (the “Lender”). Under the terms of the Promissory Note, the Lender agreed to make loans to CPL, 

from time to time and pursuant to requests by CPL, in an aggregate sum of up to $25.0 million. Interest accrues on outstanding principal 

under the Promissory Note at a rate of 30 day LIBOR plus 2% per annum.  CPL may prepay and re-borrow all or a portion of such 

amount from time to time.  Pursuant to the initial terms of the Promissory Note, the unpaid aggregate outstanding principal amount of all 

loans, was to mature on June 6, 2013.  Subsequently, in August 2012 the Promissory note was amended to extend the maturity date to 

October 15, 2013, and then amended again in March 2013 to extend the maturity date to July 15, 2014.  The Company has irrevocably, 

unconditionally and absolutely guaranteed all of CPL’s obligations under the Promissory Note.   As of December 31, 2012, $0.9 million 

was outstanding. 

  

Dr. Kase Lawal, the Company’s Executive Chairman and member of the Board of Directors, and Chief Executive Officer, is a director of 

each of CEHL, CINL, and the Lender.  Dr. Lawal also owns 27.7% of CAMAC International Limited, which indirectly owns 100% of 

CEHL, and CINL and the Lender are each wholly-owned subsidiaries of CEHL. As a result, Dr. Lawal is deemed to have an indirect 

material interest in the transaction contemplated by the Promissory Note. Dr. Lawal fully disclosed the material facts as to his 

relationship to the Lender prior to Board approval. 
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Kenya 
 

In May 2012, the Company, through an indirect wholly owned subsidiary, entered into four production sharing contracts (“Kenya 

PSCs”) with the Government of the Republic of Kenya, covering previously awarded exploration Blocks L1B and L16, and new 

offshore exploration Blocks L27 and L28.  For all of the blocks, the Company will be the operator, with the government having the right 

to participate up to 20%, either directly or through an appointee, in any area subsequent to declaration of a commercial discovery.  The 

Company is responsible for all exploration expenditures. 
 

The Kenya PSCs for Blocks L1B and L16 each provide for an initial exploration period of two years with specified minimum work 

obligations during that period.  Prior to the end of the initial exploration period, the Company will acquire and interpret gravity and 

magnetic data and acquire, process and interpret 2D seismic data.  The Company has the right to apply for up to two additional two-year 

exploration periods with specified additional minimum work obligations, including the drilling of one exploratory well on each block in 

each such additional period. 
 

The Kenya PSCs for Blocks L27 and L28 each provide for an initial exploration period of three years with specified minimum work 

obligations during that period.  Prior to the end of the initial exploration period, the Company will conduct for each block a regional 

geological study and acquire, process and interpret 3D seismic data.  The Company has the right to apply for up to two additional 

two-year exploration periods with specified additional minimum work obligations, including the drilling of one exploratory well on each 

lock, in each such additional period. 
 

In addition to the minimum work obligations, each of the Kenya PSC’s require annual surface rental payments, training fund payments 

and contributions to local community development projects.  All of the Kenya PSCs also include customary provisions including but not 

limited to governing law, confidentiality, force majeure, arbitration, and abandonment and decommissioning costs. 
 

The Gambia 
 

In May 2012, the Company, through an indirect wholly owned subsidiary, signed two Petroleum Exploration, Development & 

Production Licenses with The Republic of The Gambia (the “Licenses”), for previously awarded exploration blocks A2 and A5 (“the 

Blocks”).  For both Blocks, the Company will be the operator, with the Gambia National Petroleum Company (“GNPC”) having the 

right to elect to participate up to a 15% interest, following approval of a development and production plan. The Company is responsible 

for all expenditures prior to such approval even if the GNPC elects to participate. 
 

The Licenses for both Blocks provide for an initial exploration period of four years with specified work obligations during that 

period.  Prior to the end of the initial exploration period, the Company will conduct for each Block a regional geological study, acquire, 

process and interpret 3D seismic data, drill one exploration well to the total depth of 5,000 meters below mean sea level and evaluate 

drilling results, with the first two work obligations due prior to the end of the second year.  The Company has the right to apply for up to 

two additional two-year exploration periods with specified additional minimum work obligations, including the drilling of one 

exploration well in each additional period for each Block. 

  

In addition to the minimum work obligations, the Licenses require annual rental payments and training and resource fees.  Each of the 

Licenses also include customary provisions including but not limited to governing law, confidentiality, force majeure, arbitration, and 

abandonment and decommissioning costs. 
 

Plan of Operation 
 

The following describes in general terms the Company’s plan of operation and development strategy for the twelve-month period ending 

December 31, 2013 (the “Next Year”). During the Next Year, the Company plans to focus its efforts toward realizing and maximizing 

value in OML 120/121 as a whole (including the Oyo Field) in coordination with the operating contractor and pursuing further additions 

to its exploration portfolio in East and West Africa. We are limited in our ability to grow by the availability of capital for our businesses 

and each project. The Company’s ability to successfully consummate any of its projects, including the projects described above, is 

contingent upon the making of any required deposits, obtaining the necessary governmental approvals and executing binding agreements 

to obtain the rights we seek within limited timeframes. 
 

Additionally, the Company plans to continue significant efforts on developing corporate infrastructure, accounting controls, policies and 

procedures, and establishing foreign and domestic human and operational resources necessary to integrate, support and maximize its 

contract rights acquired from CEHL. 
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The Company has a Promissory Note (term credit facility) of up to $25 million from an affiliated company.  At December 31, 2012 there 

was a principal balance of $0.9 million borrowed under this facility.  The credit facility provides for an annual interest rate based on 30 

day Libor plus two percentage points with all amounts due and payable no later than July 15, 2014.  Because the costs of  the workover 

on well # 5 in the Oyo Field are being recovered as Cost Oil revenues under the OML 120/121 PSC, any loan balances on this facility 

will be repaid within the terms of the borrowings.  The portion of the workover funded from the Company’s own cash is also recoverable 

as Cost Oil revenues, subject to future production levels, and after future recovery will be available for future operations. 
 

The Company has assembled a management team with experience in the fields of international business development, geology, 

petroleum engineering, strategy, government relations and finance.  Members of the Company’s management team previously held 

positions in oil and gas development and screening roles with domestic and international energy companies and will seek to utilize their 

experience, expertise and contacts to create value for shareholders. 
 

Among the general strategies we use are: 
 

  ● Identifying and capitalizing on opportunities that play to the expertise of our management team; 

 
  ● Leveraging our productive asset base and capabilities to develop additional value; 

 
  ● Actively managing our assets and ongoing operations while attempting to limit capital exposure; 

 
  ● Enlisting external resources and talent as necessary to operate/manage our properties during peak operations; 

 
  ● Implementing an exit strategy with respect to each project with a view to maximizing asset values and returns; and   

 
  ● Leveraging our rights of first refusal on CEHL projects to preview and negotiate additional value-added projects from its 

project pipeline. 

  

With respect to specific geographical areas our strategies include: 

  

  ● Continue development of Oyo Field to extract value while maximizing economic return; 

 
  ● Execute the successful exploration and development of additional prospects in OML 120/121; 

 
  ● Utilize our existing presence through our Nigerian subsidiary to acquire additional Nigeria oil and gas assets; 

 
  ● Continue the exploration and development of Kenya and The Gambia blocks; and 

 
  ● Continue to pursue further additions to its exploration portfolio in East and West Africa.  

  

Results of Operations – Continuing Operations 
 

In 2010, the Company commenced recording revenues from operations and ceased reporting as a development stage company and 

commenced reporting as an operating company. We may experience fluctuations in operating results due to a variety of factors, 

including changes in daily crude oil production volumetric rates, changes in crude oil sales prices per barrel, our ability to obtain 

additional financing in a timely manner and on terms satisfactory to us, our ability to successfully develop our business model, the 

amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures relating to the expansion of our business, operations and infrastructure 

and the implementation of marketing programs, key agreements, and strategic alliances, and general economic conditions specific to our 

industry. The Company’s focus continues to be the development of new energy ventures, directly and through other partnerships in 

which it may participate that will provide value to its stockholders. 
 

As a result of limited capital resources since our inception, the Company has relied on the issuance of equity securities as a means of 

compensating employees and non-employees for services. The Company enters into equity compensation agreements with 

non-employees if it is in the best interest of the Company and in accordance with applicable federal and state securities laws. In order to 

conserve its limited operating capital resources, the Company anticipates continuing to compensate employees and non-employees 

partially with equity compensation for services during the next year.  This policy may have a material effect on the Company’s results of 

operations during the next year. 
 

In August 2012, the Company divested its wholly-owned Hong Kong subsidiary PAPL for cash consideration of $2.5 million and 9.6 

million fully paid ordinary shares, net of selling expenses, of Leyshon, a natural resources mining company based in Beijing, China.  The 

Leyshon shares had a fair market value of $1.9 million, and have since been sold. 
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PAPL held the Company’s interest in the Zijinshan production sharing contract relating to the Zijinshan Block in the Shanxi Province of 

China. Since 2008, the Company engaged in exploration activities on this Block in search of coalbed methane and other gas.  The 

Company made a strategic decision to monetize this asset and withdraw from activity in China in order to focus its efforts and capital 

resources on its core Africa activities. 
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As a result of the above transaction, the Company is reporting Asia operations for all presented periods in discontinued operations and, 

as such, the financial statement information provided in this report for continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 

2011 are presented in one reportable segment. 
 

 

Africa Operations 
 

As of December 31, 2012, our Africa operations, which commenced in April 2010, were comprised of an economic interest in the OML 

120/121 PSC in offshore Nigeria, of which the Oyo Field portion had active crude oil production.  The Oyo Field commenced crude oil 

production in December 2009, and the Company acquired its economic interest on April 7, 2010 from CEHL Group.  Under the structure 

of the OML 120/121 PSC (capitalized terms as defined in the agreement), crude oil produced is allocated among Royalty Oil (for 

royalties payable to the Nigerian government), Cost Oil (for recovery of capital and operating costs), Tax Oil (for income taxes payable 

to the Nigerian government), and Profit Oil which is allocated 100% to the operating interest owners.  Through December 31, 2012 

virtually all expenditures for capital and operating costs of this field since the commencement of the OML 120/121 PSC had been funded 

by NAE.  There are also certain pre-OML 120/121 PSC costs incurred which may ultimately qualify for inclusion in the cost base for 

recovery as Cost Oil upon approval by the applicable Nigerian authorities.  A portion of these costs would be allocable to the Company’s 

interest.  To date, two oil producing wells (wells #5 and #6) have been drilled and are in production.  The present development plan 

provides for at least two additional oil producing wells which if successful would result in increased production rates for the field and 

additional revenues and cash flows. 
 

The Company reports its share of net production barrels in the period physically produced and reports sales revenue for the related 

barrels only when a lifting (sale) occurs.  Production for the entire field is stored in a FPSO vessel until sufficient tanker-size quantity is 

available for lifting.  The exact timing of liftings is affected by the rate of daily production.  For production not yet sold, our net share is 

estimated from total field production for the respective period multiplied by our applicable percentage of total proceeds we received in 

the latest lifting settlement prior to the date of production. The Company’s share of net production (which excludes royalties and the 

share of the other partner) from two oil producing wells averaged 401 barrels per day for year 2012 and 923 barrels per day for the year 

2011. During both 2012 and 2011, the gross production rate decreased as compared to initial rates, due to increased gas intrusion in well 

#5 and increased water production principally in well #6. The total gross production from the Oyo Field was approximately 1,010,000, 

barrels for year 2012 and approximately 1,356,000 barrels for year 2011, including royalty barrels. The Company’s share of ne t 

production, which excludes royalty barrels and the share of the other partner, was approximately 147,000 barrels for year 2012 and 

approximately 337,000 barrels for year 2011.  Average revenue per barrel on crude oil sold in the years ended December 31, 2012 and 

2011 was $112.60 and $112.91, respectively. 
 

Through December 31, 2012, the Company incurred a total of $59.7 million in costs relative to the workover to reduce gas production 

rising from well #5 in the Oyo Field, offshore Nigeria, with the objective of increasing crude oil production from this well.  By joint 

agreement with Allied, a related party, the Company has committed to pay for the workover. To the extent the Company funds these 

costs, it is entitled to cost recovery of such costs as non-capital costs from Cost Oil, as defined in the terms of the OML 120/121 PSC, 

subject to future production levels. For purposes of Cost Oil recovery on each sale of production, non-capital costs are allocated for 

recovery prior to capital costs. As of December 31, 2012, $40.4 million of these costs have been recovered as revenue and we expect to 

recover the remainder as revenue in future liftings.  In connection with funding for part of these costs prior to receiving cost recovery, the 

Company entered into a Promissory Note and Guaranty Agreement with a related party, which is discussed under “Promissory Note and 

Guaranty Agreement” within Part I, Item 1 of this document. The remainder is being funded using available cash and the future Oyo 

Field lifting proceeds. 
 

The Company recognizes crude oil revenue at time of sale to the customer, which can result in Cost Oil revenue recognition in a later 

period than the associated recoverable expense. At present, sales do not occur every month because of cargo size requirements. For 

future periods, net operating income or loss for Africa also will be affected by changes in the overall level of production in the Oyo Field, 

fluctuations in the market prices realized, changes in our percentage share of crude oil sales, and levels of our operating expenses, 

including operating expenses chargeable to the OML 120/121 PSC that result in recovery as Cost Oil. The Company is currently 

dependent on this field as our only present source of revenues. 
 

In June 2012, NAE completed the previously announced sale of its 40% working interest in OML 120/121 to Allied, an affiliate of the 

Company.  Allied has informed the Company that it plans to drill a new well in the Oyo Field commencing in mid 2013.  The new well, 

Oyo #7, will be designed to both increase the current production levels and test the prospective resource potential of the deeper Miocene 

reservoir in the field. 
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On January 7, 2013, we announced that Allied had signed a Deed of Assignment (“Deed”) with Transocean Ltd. (“Transocean”) and 

Nigerian Petroleum Development Corporation Limited (“NPDC”) for the Sedneth 701 semi-submersible drilling rig to carry out the 

drilling of the Oyo #7 well. 
 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 
 

Comparison of 2012 and 2011 
 

Our revenues in 2012 were $16,624,000 as compared to $37,922,000 for 2011. The $21,298,000 decrease was primarily due to lower 

Cost Oil recovery (cost recovery of workover costs incurred on well #5 in the Oyo Field) in 2012 compared to 2011 and  lower Profit Oil 

sales volumes sold in the current period.  During 2012 and 2011, the average gross production from the Oyo Field was 2,759 and 3,714 

barrels per day, respectively, and the Company’s share of average daily net production was 401 and 923 barrels per day, respectively. 

The revenue per barrel on crude oil sold during 2012 and 2011 was $112.60 and $112.91, respectively. 
 

Lease operating expenses consist of personnel costs and contractor charges directly associated with the production of oil.  Our lease 

operating expenses in 2012 were $326,000, as compared to $30,882,000 for 2011. The $30,556,000 decrease was primarily due to lower 

workover costs of $28,977,000 related to well #5 in the Oyo Field and lower technical services cost of $1,653,000.  The technical 

services agreement related to the Oyo Field operations was terminated as of March 31, 2011. 
 

Exploratory expenses consist of salaries and personnel costs related to exploration activities, drilling costs for unsuccessful wells, costs 

for acquisition of seismic data and lease related costs (surface fees, seismic data, training and community) charged to expense.  Our 

exploratory expenses in 2012 were $3,236,000 as compared to $890,000 for 2011. The $2,346,000 increase was due to higher lease 

related costs of  $1,398,000 related to our recent Kenya and Gambia lease acquisitions, higher salaries and benefits expense of 

$515,000  and higher other costs of $433,000. 
 

Depreciation, depletion and amortization expenses consist of depletion of oil reserves and depreciation of leasehold improvements, 

furniture and fixtures and computer equipment. Our depreciation, depletion and amortization expenses in 2012 were $10,750,000 as 

compared to $13,477,000 for 2011. The $2,727,000 decrease was primarily due to lower sales volumes in 2012, primarily related to the 

timing of liftings and lower production volumes, partially offset by an increased depletion rate in the current period. 
 

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related personnel costs of executive management, finance, 

accounting, legal and human resources, accounting and legal services, consulting projects and insurance. Our general and administrative 

expenses in 2012 were $10,998,000 as compared to $13,336,000 for 2011. The $2,338,000 decrease was primarily due to lower salaries 

and benefits expense of $1,390,000, primarily due to officer resignations in the prior period, and lower stock-based compensation of 

$1,745,000, partially offset by higher legal costs of $425,000 and higher other costs of $372,000. 
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $3,806,000, accounts receivable of $6,103,000 and current 

liabilities of $17,882,000. 
 

The following table provides summarized statements of net cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011: 
 

  
    Years Ended December 31,   

    2012     2011   

    (In thousands) 

Net cash used in operating activities   $ (5,897 )   $ (14,654 ) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   $ 1,219     $ (6,860 ) 

Net cash (used in) provided  by financing activities   $ (5,125 )   $ 6,177   

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash   $ (17 )   $ 45   

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   $ (9,820 )   $ (15,292 ) 

  

Net cash used in operating activities was $5,897,000 in 2012, as compared to $14,654,000 in 2011.  The decrease of net cash used in 

operating activities of $8,757,000 was principally due to cash payments related to the workover of well #5 in the Oyo Field in the prior 

period, and by the current period decrease in net loss before non-cash expenses (primarily dry hole costs, depreciation, depletion, 

amortization and stock-based compensation) and before the gain on divestiture. 
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Net cash provided by investing activities was $1,219,000 in 2012, as compared to net cash used in investing activities of $6,860,000 in 

2011.  The change in net cash used in investing activities was partially due to the $5,000,000 payment related to the OML 120/121 PSC 

in the prior period, offset by the current period The Gambia and Kenya lease bonus payments of $3,240,000, less net cash proceeds of 

$2,364,000 from the divestiture of China and $1,966,000 from the sale of long-term investments. 
 

Net cash used in financing activities was $5,125,000 in 2012, as compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $6,177,000 in 

2011. The change in net cash used in financing activities was primarily due to the excess of payments greater than proceeds from the 

Promissory Note during the current period.  At December 31, 2012, the Company had the ability to borrow $24,128,000 under the 

$25,000,000 Promissory Note. 
 

On June 6, 2011, CPL, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, executed a Promissory Note in favor of Allied. Under the terms of 

the Promissory Note, the Lender agreed to make loans to CPL, from time to time and pursuant to requests by CPL, in an aggregate sum 

of up to $25.0 million. Interest accrues on outstanding principal under the Promissory Note at a rate of 30 day LIBOR plus 2% per 

annum.  CPL may prepay and re-borrow all or a portion of such amount from time to time.  Pursuant to the initial terms of the 

Promissory Note, the unpaid aggregate outstanding principal amount of all loans, was to mature on June 6, 2013.  Subsequently, in 

August 2012 the Promissory note was amended to extend the maturity date to October 15, 2013, and then amended again in March 2013 

to extend the maturity date to July 15, 2014.  The Company has irrevocably, unconditionally and absolutely guaranteed all of CPL’s 

obligations under the Promissory Note.   As of December 31, 2012, $0.9 million was outstanding. 
 

Our future working capital requirements and long-term capital requirements will depend upon numerous factors, including progress of 

our exploration and development programs on existing assets, acquisitions of new exploration and development opportunities, market 

developments, and the status of our competitors. 
 

As of December 31, 2012, the Company incurred $59.7 million in expenses on the workover to reduce gas production arising from well 

#5 in the Oyo Field, with the objective of improving the crude oil production rate per day.  By agreements involving Allied, the 

Company will pay for the workover.  As of December 31, 2012, $44.1 million of this amount had been paid. 
 

Based upon current cash flow projections, management believes that the Company will have sufficient capital resources to meet 

projected cash flow requirements for the next twelve months from the date of filing this report, assuming no additional participation in 

Oyo Field operating and development costs through such date. 
 

Our ability to execute our business plan will also depend on whether we are able to raise additional funds through equity, debt financing 

or strategic alliances. Such additional funds may not become available on acceptable terms, if at all, and any additional funding obtained 

may not be sufficient to meet our needs in the long-term. Through December 31, 2012, substantially all of our capital had been raised 

through private placements and registered direct offerings of equity instruments.   
 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
 

The discussion and analysis of our plan and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been 

prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The consolidated 

financial statements include the accounts of CAMAC Energy Inc. and its wholly owned and  majority owned direct and indirect 

subsidiaries in the respective periods. The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires 

management to make estimates based on assumptions. Estimates affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of 

contingent liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  Accordingly, our accounting 

estimates require the exercise of judgment. While management believes that the estimates and assumptions used in preparation of 

consolidated financial statements are appropriate, actual results could differ from those estimates.  Estimates that may have a significant 

effect include oil and natural gas reserve quantities, and depletion and amortization relating to oil and natural gas properties, and income 

taxes.  The accounting estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements may change as new events occur, more 

experience is acquired, additional information is obtained and our operating environment changes. 
 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

The Company follows the “successful efforts” method of accounting of its costs of acquisition, exploration and development of oil and 

gas properties. Under this method, oil and gas lease acquisition costs and intangible drilling costs associated with exploration efforts that 

result in the discovery of proved reserves and costs associated with development drilling, whether or not successful, are capitalized when 

incurred.  Drilling costs of exploratory wells are capitalized pending determination that proved reserves have been found. If the 

determination is dependent upon the results of planned additional wells and require additional capital expenditures to develop the 

reserves, the drilling costs will be capitalized as long as sufficient reserves have been found to justify completion of the exploratory well 

as a producing well, and additional wells are underway or firmly planned to complete the evaluation of the well.  Exploratory wells not 

meeting the criteria for continued capitalization are expensed when such a determination is made. Other exploration costs are expensed 

as incurred. 
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Depreciation, depletion and amortization for productive oil and gas properties are recorded on a unit-of-production basis.  For other 

depreciable property, depreciation is recorded on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets which ranges between 

three to five years or the lease term. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred. 
 

The Company’s long-lived assets (other than financial instruments) by geographic area were as follows: 
 

    As of December 31,   

    2012     2011   

    (In thousands)   

Property, plant and equipment, net             

     United States   $ 418     $ 243   

     Outside United States     188,668       195,979   

Total   $ 189,086     $ 196,222   

  

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
 

The Company reviews its long-lived assets in property, plant and equipment for impairment in accordance with ASC Topic 360, ( 

Property, Plant and Equipment) . Review for impairment of long-lived assets occurs whenever changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying amount of assets may not be fully recoverable.  Possible indicators of impairment include current period losses combined 

with a history of losses, significant downward oil and gas reserve revisions, or when changes in other circumstances indicate the carrying 

amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for assets to be held and used when the estimated 

undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the asset including ultimate disposition are less than its carrying amount. In the 

case of oil and gas properties, the Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows of the affected properties to judge the 

recoverability of carrying amounts.  Cash flows are determined on the basis of reasonable and documented assumptions that represent 

the best estimate of the future economic conditions during the remaining useful life of the asset.  Our cash flow projections into the 

future include assumptions on variables such as future sales, sales prices, operating costs, economic conditions, market competition and 

inflation. Prices used to quantify the expected future cash flows are estimated based on forward prices prevailing in the marketplace and 

management’s long-term planning assumptions. Impairment is measured by the excess of carrying amount over the fair value of the 

assets. 
 

Asset Retirement Obligations 
 

The Company accounts for asset retirement obligations in accordance with ASC Topic 410 (Asset Retirement and Environmental 

Obligations),  which requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is 

incurred. ASC 410 requires the Company to record a liability for the present value using a credit-adjusted risk free interest rate of the 

estimated site restoration costs with a corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related long-lived assets. As a result of the 

lack of capital deployed on a historical basis, to date the Company has not recorded any future asset retirement obligations. 
 

Revenues 
 

Revenues are recognized when the earnings process is complete, an exchange transaction has taken place and excludes royalties. An 

exchange transaction may be a physical sale, the providing of services, or an exchange of rights and privileges.  The recognition criteria 

are satisfied when there exists a signed contract with defined pricing, delivery and acceptance (as defined in the contract) of the product 

or service have occurred, there is no significant uncertainty of collectability, and the amount is not subject to refund. Oil revenue is 

recognized using the sales method for our share of Cost Oil and Profit Oil for each crude oil lifting in Nigeria. 
 

Income Taxes 
 

The Company provides for income taxes using the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes in accordance with ASC 

Topic 740 ( Income Taxes ). Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary 

differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes and for operating loss 

and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income 

in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities 

of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.  A valuation allowance is established to 

reduce deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that the related tax benefits will not be fully realized. 
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The Company evaluates any tax deduction and tax refund positions in a two-step process.  The first step is to determine whether it is 

more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained.  If that test is met, the second step is to determine the amount of benefit to 

recognize in the consolidated financial statements. 

  

The Company’s continuing practice is to recognize estimated interest and penalties, if any, related to potential underpayment of income 

taxes as a component of other income (expense) in its Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of December 31, 2012, the Company 

did not have any accrued interest or penalties associated with any uncertain tax liabilities. 
 

Stock-Based Compensation 
 

The Company recognizes all stock-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, in the consolidated 

financial statements based on their grant-date fair values in accordance with ASC Topic 718-10 ( Stock Compensation) . The Company 

values its stock options awarded using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and the restricted stock is valued at the grant date closing 

market price. Compensation expense for stock options and restricted stock is recorded over the vesting period on a straight line basis. 

Stock-based compensation paid to non-employees in vested stock is valued at the fair value at the applicable measurement date and 

charged to expense as services are rendered. 

  

Net Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share 
 

The Company computes earnings or loss per share under ASC Topic 260 (Earnings per Share). Net earnings or loss per common share 

is computed by dividing net earnings or loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock and applicable dilutive 

common stock equivalents outstanding during the year. Dilutive common stock equivalents consist of shares issuable upon the exercise 

of the Company's stock options, unvested restricted stock, and warrants (calculated using the treasury stock method).  Potential dilutive 

common shares that have an anti-dilutive effect (e.g., those that increase earnings per share or decrease net loss per share) are excluded 

from diluted earnings (loss) per share. 
 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted 
 

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2011-11 regarding disclosure requirements for 

assets and liabilities that have been offset in the balance sheet.  The scope includes financial instruments and derivative instruments that 

are either (i) presently offset as permitted under existing accounting principles for offsetting of financial instruments and derivatives in 

certain cases or (ii) subject to an enforceable master netting agreement or similar agreement whether or not they have been offset.  The 

new disclosures related to offsetting include the gross amounts, amounts offset and net amounts as recorded.  For amounts subject to 

enforceable master netting agreements, disclosure is required for the amounts of financial instruments and other derivative instruments 

not offset, amounts related to financial collateral, and the net amounts.   The ASU is effective for annual and interim periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2013 and requires retrospective application for comparative prior periods presented.  At December 31, 2012, the 

Company did not have any transactions of the types subject to this ASU. 
 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements other than the operating leases disclosed above. 

  

Inflation 
 

It is the opinion of the Company that inflation has not had a material effect on its operations. 
 

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 
 

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information under 

this Item. 
 

ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTAL DATA 
 

The Company’s Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes that are filed as part of this Annual Report are listed under Part IV, 

Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statements and Schedules,  and are set forth immediately following the signature 

pages of this Form 10-K. 
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 

DISCLOSURE 

None. 
 

ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the 

Company’s reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized 

and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated 

to management, including its Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Principle Financial Officer (“PFO”), as appropriate, to allow timely 

decisions regarding required disclosure. 
 

Management of the Company, with the participation of its CEO and PFO, evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure 

controls and procedures. Based on their evaluation, as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K, the Company’s CEO and PFO 

have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) were effective. 
 

Management’s Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over 

financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under 

the supervision of, our principal executive and principal financial officers and is effected by the Company’s board of directors, 

management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and includes those 

policies and procedures that: 

  

  
●   Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and 

dispositions of our assets, 

  

  

●   Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of our financial 

statements in accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance 

with authorizations of management and directors of the Company, and 

  

  
●   Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 

disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

  

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance and may 

not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, because of changes in conditions, effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting 

may vary over time. Our system contains self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are 

identified. 

  

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on the criteria 

described in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission (“COSO”). 

  

Based on this assessment, management, including the Company’s CEO and PFO, concluded that our internal control over financial 

reporting was effective as of December 31, 2012. 
 

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

No change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange 

Act) occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2012, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our 

internal control over financial reporting. 

  

ITEM 9B.   OTHER INFORMATION 
 

None. 
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PART III 
 

ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERANCE 
 

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the 2013 Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A which will be 

filed with the SEC not later than 120 days subsequent to December 31, 2012. 
 

ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 

Information called for by Item 11 of Form 10-K will be set forth in the 2013 Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A, which is incorporated 

herein by reference. 

  

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
 

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans 
 

The following table includes the information as of December 31, 2012 for our equity compensation plans: 

  

Plan Category   

Number of 

Securities to be 

Issued Upon 

Exercise of 

Outstanding 

Options, Warrants 

and Rights 

(a)     

Weighted-Average 

Exercise Price of 

Outstanding Options, 

Warrants and Rights 

(b)     

Number of Securities 

Remaining Available 

For Future Issuance 

Under Equity 

Compensation Plans 

(Excluding Securities 

Reflected in Column 

(a)) 

(c)   

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders (1) (2)     3,128,466     $ 0.98 (3)     9,246,515   

            $ 3.93 (4)         

  

(1)   Includes the 2007 Stock Plan and 2009 Equity Incentive Plan. 

 
 

(2)   Includes  remaining warrants exercisable for 553,481 shares of Common Stock, originally issued in 2007  and 2010 to placement 

agents, for which issuance was approved by stockholders of the Company. 

 
 

(3)   The weighted average exercise price of stock options. 

 
 

(4)   The weighted average exercise price of stock warrants. 

 
Other information called for by Item 12 of Form 10-K will be set forth in the 2013 Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A , which is 

incorporated herein by reference. 
 

ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 
 

Information called for by Item 13 of Form 10-K will be set forth in the 2013 Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A ,which is incorporated 

herein by reference. 
 

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 
 

Information called for by Item 14 of Form 10-K will be set forth in the 2013 Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A, which is incorporated 

herein by reference. 

  
  

37 
 
 

 



Source: CAMAC Energy Inc., 10-K, April 15, 2013 Powered by Morningstar Document Research. 
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use 
of this information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results. 

Back to Table of Contents 
  

PART IV 

  

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES 

  

(a) Documents filed as part of this Annual Report: 

  

The following is an index of the financial statements, schedules and exhibits included in this Form 10-K or incorporated herein by 

reference. 
 

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements   

  Reports of Independent Registered Public  Accounting Firms   

  Consolidated Balance Sheets at  December 31, 2012 and 2011   

  Consolidated Statements of Operations for the  years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011   

  Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the  years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011  

  

  Consolidated Statements of Equity for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011   

  Consolidated Statements of  Cash Flows for  the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011   

  Notes to Consolidated Financial  Statements   

(2) Consolidated Financial Statement  Schedules   

  Supplemental Data on Oil and Gas Exploration and Producing Activities (Unaudited)   

  Schedules not included have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in 

the consolidated financial statement or notes. 

  

(3) Exhibits   

 
The following exhibits are filed with the report: 
 

Exhibit 

Number 

  

Description 

2.1   Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated February 12, 2007, as amended on April 

20, 2007, by and among the Company, IMPCO and IMPCO Merger Sub (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of our 

Form 10-SB (No. 000-52770) filed on August 15, 2007). 

2.2   Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated July 1, 2008, by and among Pacific Asia Petroleum, Inc., Navitas Corporation and 

Navitas LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 000-52770) filed on July 

8, 2008). 

2.3   Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated February 12, 2007, as amended on April 

20, 2007, by and among the Company, ADS and ADS Merger Sub (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of our Form 

10-SB (No. 000-52770) filed on August 15, 2007). 

3.1   Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of our Form 

10-SB (No. 000-52770) filed on August 15, 2007). 

3.2   Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of our Form 10-SB (No. 000-52770) filed on August 15, 

2007). 

3.3   Certificate of  Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, filed April 7, 2010 (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 3.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 13, 2010). 

3.4   Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company as of April 11, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of our 

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 3, 2011). 

4.1   Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Form 10-SB (No. 000-52770) filed 

on August 15, 2007). 

4.2   Form of Common Stock Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of our Form 10-SB (No. 000-52770) filed on 

August 15, 2007). 

4.3   Company 2007 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Form 10-SB (No. 000-52770) filed on August 

15, 2007). * 

4.4   Company 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-175294) 

filed on July 1, 2011).* 

4.5   Form of Series A Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 

12, 2010). 

4.6   Form of Series C Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 3, 

2010). 
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4.7   Registration Rights Agreement, by and between the Company and CAMAC Energy Holdings Limited, dated April 7, 2010 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 13, 2010). 

4.8   Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 23, 

2010). 

4.9   Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 15, 2011, by and among CAMAC Energy Inc., CAMAC Energy 

Holdings Limited, Allied Energy Plc, and CAMAC International (Nigeria) Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 

4.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 16, 2011). 

10.1   Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated February 10, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Current 

Report on Form 8-K filed on February 12, 2010). 

10.2   Company 2007 Stock Plan form of Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Form 10-SB 

(No. 000-52770) filed on August 15, 2007). * 

10.3   Company 2007 Stock Plan form of Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of our Form 

10-SB (No. 000-52770) filed on August 15, 2007). * 

10.4   Form of Indemnification Agreement for Officers.* 

10.5   Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors.* 

10.6   Company 2009 Equity Incentive Plan form of Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of our 

Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 001-34525) filed on March 2, 2010).* 

10.7   Company 2009 Equity Incentive Plan form of Restricted Shares Grant Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 

10.6 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 001-34525) filed on March 2, 2010). * 

10.8   Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated November 18, 2009, by and among the Company, CAMAC Energy Holdings 

Limited, CAMAC International (Nigeria) Limited, and Allied Energy Plc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our 

Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 001-34525) filed on November 23, 2009). 

10.9   Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated  March 2, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Current 

Report on Form 10-K filed March 3, 2010). 

10.10   Agreement Novating Production Sharing Contract, by and among Allied Energy Plc, CAMAC International (Nigeria) 

Limited, Nigerian AGIP Exploration Limited, and CAMAC Petroleum Limited, dated April 7, 2010 (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 13, 2010). 

10.11   The Oyo Field Agreement, by and among Allied Energy Plc, CAMAC Energy Holdings Limited and CAMAC Petroleum 

Limited, dated April 7, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 

13, 2010). 

10.12   The Right of First Refusal Agreement, by and among the Company, CAMAC Energy Holdings Limited, CAMAC 

International (Nigeria) Limited, and Allied Energy Plc, dated April 7, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of 

our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 13, 2010). 

10.13   
Employment Agreement, dated September 21, 2010, by and between Byron A. Dunn and the Company (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2010).* 

10.14   
Employment Offer Letter, dated September 1, 2010, by and between Abiola L. Lawal and the Company (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2010).* 

  

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 
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10.15   
Purchase and Continuation Agreement, dated December 10, 2010, by and among CAMAC Energy Inc., CAMAC 

Petroleum Limited, CAMAC Energy Holdings Limited, Allied Energy Plc, and CAMAC International (Nigeria) Limited 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 13, 2010). 

10.16   Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report filed on 

December 23, 2010). 

10.17   Limited Waiver Agreement Related to Purchase and Continuation Agreement, dated as of February 15, 2011, by and 

among CAMAC Energy Inc., CAMAC Petroleum Inc., CAMAC Energy Holdings Limited, Allied Energy Plc, and 

CAMAC International (Nigeria) Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K 

filed on February 16, 2011). 

10.18   Second Agreement Novating Production Sharing Contract, dated as of February 15, 2011, by and among Allied Energy 

Plc, CAMAC International (Nigeria) Limited, Nigerian AGIP Exploration Limited, and CAMAC Petroleum Limited 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 16, 2011). 

10.19   
Amended and Restated Oyo Field Agreement Hereby Renamed OML 120/121 Management Agreement, dated as of 

February 15, 2011, by and among CAMAC Petroleum Limited, CAMAC Energy Holdings Limited, and Allied Energy Plc 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 16, 2011). 

10.20   
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement effective March 8, 2011, by and between Abiola L. Lawal and the 

Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 11, 2011).* 

10.21   
Separation Agreement and General Release of Claims effective April 11, 2011 by and between Mr. Byron  Dunn and the 

Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q  filed on May 3, 2011).* 

10.22   Promissory Note Agreement dated June 6, 2011 by and among CAMAC Petroleum Limited and Allied Energy Plc. 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 9, 2011). 

10.23   Guaranty Agreement dated June 6, 2011 by and among CAMAC Energy Inc. and Allied Energy Plc. (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 9, 2011). 

10.24   Executive Employment Agreement dated June 6, 2011 by and between Edward G. Caminos and the Company 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 6, 2011).* 

10.25   Executive Employment Agreement dated June 6, 2011 by and between Alan W. Halsey and the Company (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 6, 2011).* 

10.26   Executive Employment Agreement dated September 1, 2011 by and between Nicholas J. Evanoff and the Company 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 7, 2011).* 

10.27   Executive Employment Agreement dated September 1, 2011 by and between Babatunde Omidele and the Company 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 7, 2011).* 

10.28   Separation Agreement and General Release of Claims effective February 14, 2012 by and between Mr. Alan W. Halsey 

and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 

2012).* 

10.29   Separation Agreement and General Release of Claims effective February 23, 2012 by and between Mr. Edward G. 

Caminos and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 

15, 2012).* 

10.30   Executive Consulting Agreement effective March 1, 2012 by and between Earl W. McNiel and the Company (incorporated 

by reference to Exhibit 10.47 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2012).* 

  

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 
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10.31   Production Sharing Contract, by and between the Government of the Republic of Kenya and CAMAC Energy Kenya 

Limited, dated May 10, 2012, relating to Block L1B (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of our Form 10-Q filed on 

May 9, 2012). 

10.32   Production Sharing Contract, by and between the Government of the Republic of Kenya and CAMAC Energy Kenya 

Limited, dated May 10, 2012, relating to Block L16 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of our Form 10-Q filed on 

May 9, 2012). 

10.33   Production Sharing Contract, by and between the Government of the Republic of Kenya and CAMAC Energy Kenya 

Limited, dated May 10, 2012, relating to Block L27 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of our Form 10-Q filed on 

May 9, 2012). 

10.34   Production Sharing Contract, by and between the Government of the Republic of Kenya and CAMAC Energy Kenya 

Limited, dated May 10, 2012, relating to Block L28 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of our Form 10-Q filed on 

May 9, 2012). 

10.35   Petroleum (Exploration, Development and Production) License, by and between the Republic of The Gambia and 

CAMAC Energy A2 Gambia Ltd., dated May 24, 2012, relating to Block A2 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of 

our Form 10-Q filed on May 9, 2012). 

10.36   Petroleum (Exploration, Development and Production) License, by and between the Republic of The Gambia and 

CAMAC Energy A5 Gambia Ltd., dated May 24, 2012, relating to Block A5 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of 

our Form 10-Q filed on May 9, 2012). 

10.37   Share Sale and Purchase Agreement, by and between Leyshon Resources Limited and CAMAC Energy Inc., dated July 22, 

2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2013). 

10.38   Executive Employment Agreement dated February 27, 2013 by and between Earl W. McNiel and the Company.* 

10.39   Amended and Extended Maturity Date of the Promissory Note dated June 6, 2011, amended August 3, 2012, by and among 

CAMAC Petroleum Limited and Allied Energy Plc.. 

10.40   Amended and Extended Maturity Date of the Promissory Note dated June 6, 2011, amended March 25, 2013, by and 

among CAMAC Petroleum Limited and Allied Energy Plc.. 

10.41   Technical Services Agreement, by and between Allied Energy Plc and CAMAC Petroleum Limited, dated January 10, 

2013. 

21.1   Subsidiaries of the Company 

23.1   Consent of Grant Thornton LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, filed herewith. 

23.2   Consent of RBSM LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, filed herewith. 

23.3   Consent of  Gaffney, Cline & Associates 

31.1   Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 7241, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

31.2   Certification of Principle Financial and Accounting Officer Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 7241, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 

302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

32.1   Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

32.2   Certification of Principle Financial and Accounting Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

99.1   Report of Gaffney, Cline & Associates 

101. INS   XBRL Instance Document. 

101. SCH   XBRL Schema Document. 

101. CAL   XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document. 

101. DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 

101. LAB   XBRL Label Linkbase Document. 

101. PRE   XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document. 

  

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 
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SIGNATURES 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to 

be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 

Dated: April 15, 2013 
 

  CAMAC Energy Inc.   

        

  By: /s/ Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal   

    Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal   

    Chief Executive Officer   

    (Principal Executive Officer)   

        

  By: /s/ Earl W. McNiel   

    Earl W. McNiel   

    

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial 

Officer   

    (Principal Financial Officer)   

  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on 

behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

  

    Title   Date 

          

          

/s/ DR.KASE LUKMAN LAWAL   Director and Chief Executive Officer   April 15, 2013 

Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal   (Principal Executive Officer)     

          

/s/ EARL W. MCNIEL   Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer   April 15, 2013 

Earl W. McNiel   (Principal Financial Officer)     

          

/s/ JEFFREY S. COURTRIGHT   Vice President, Controller and Treasurer   April 15, 2013 

Jeffrey S. Courtright   (Principal Accounting Officer)     

          

/s/ DR. LEE PATRICK BROWN   Director   April 15, 2013 

Dr. Lee Patrick Brown         

          

/s/ WILLIAM J. CAMPBELL   Director   April 15, 2013 

William J. Campbell         

          

/s/ J KENT FRIEDMAN   Director   April 15, 2013 

J. Kent Friedman         

          

/s/ JOHN HOFMEISTER   Director   April 15, 2013 

John Hofmeister         

          

/s/ IRA WAYNE MCCONNELL   Director   April 15, 2013 

Ira Wayne McConnell         

          

/s/ HAZEL O'LEARY   Director   April 15, 2013 

Hazel O'Leary         
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GRANT THORNTON LLP 

  

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

  

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

  

Board of Directors and Shareholders 

CAMAC Energy, Inc. 

  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of CAMAC Energy, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the 

“Company”) as of December 31, 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in 

shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2012. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 

Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 

  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 

material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over 

financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 

control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 

basis for our opinion. 

  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

CAMAC Energy, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year 

ended December 31, 2012 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

  

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP 

  

Houston, Texas 

April 15, 2013 
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RBSM LLP 
 

  

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

  

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

  

Board of Directors 

CAMAC Energy Inc. 

Houston, TX 
 

              We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of CAMAC Energy Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as 

of December 31, 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash 

flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on these financial statements based upon our audit. 

  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States 

of America). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free of material misstatements. An audit includes examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made 

by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe our audit provide a reasonable basis for 

our opinion. 

  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of CAMAC Energy Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 

year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

  

  

/s/ RBSM LLP 
 

  

New York, New York 

March 15, 2012 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In thousands, except for share and per share data) 
 

    As of December 31,   

    2012     2011   

              

ASSETS             

Current assets:             

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 3,806     $ 13,626   

Accounts receivable     6,103       18,939   

Other current assets     1,013       1,641   

Current assets of discontinued operations     -       73   

Total current assets     10,922       34,279   

                  

Property, plant and equipment, net:                 

Oil and gas properties (successful efforts method of accounting), net     188,630       195,979   

Property, plant and equipment, other, net     456       243   

Total property, plant and equipment, net     189,086       196,222   

                  

Other assets     11       169   

Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations     36       200   

                  

Total Assets   $ 200,055     $ 230,870   

                  

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY   

Current liabilities:                 

Accounts payable   $ 15,112     $ 35,305   

Accrued expenses     2,770       3,563   

Current liabilities of discontinued operations     -       791   

Total current liabilities     17,882       39,659   

                  

Long-term note payable - related party     872       6,000   

Other long-term liabilities     55       -   

                  

Total Liabilities     18,809       45,659   

                  

Commitments and Contingencies                 

                  

Equity                 

Stockholders' equity - CAMAC Energy Inc.                 

Preferred stock $0.001 par value - 50,000,000 shares authorized,                 

none issued and outstanding     -       -   

Common stock $0.001 par value - 300,000,000 shares authorized,                 

156,095,346 and 155,385,563 shares issued and outstanding as                 

of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively     156       155   

Paid-in capital     462,801       461,157   

Accumulated deficit     (281,929 )     (275,838 ) 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     224       (265 ) 

Total stockholders' equity - CAMAC Energy Inc.     181,252       185,209   

Noncontrolling interests of discontinued operations     (6 )     2   

Total Equity     181,246       185,211   

                  

Total Liabilities and Equity   $ 200,055     $ 230,870   

  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(In thousands, except for share and per share amounts) 

  

        Years Ended December 31,   

        2012     2011   

            

Continuing Operations             

  Crude oil sales, net of royalties   $ 16,624     $ 37,922   

                      

  Operating costs and expenses:                 

    Lease operating expenses and production costs     326       30,882   

    Exploratory expenses     3,236       890   

    Depreciation, depletion and amortization     10,750       13,477   

    General and administrative expenses     10,998       13,336   

  Total operating costs and expenses     25,310       58,585   

                      

  Operating loss     (8,686 )     (20,663 ) 

                      

  Other expense, net     (582 )     (328 ) 

                      

  Loss from continuing operations before income taxes     (9,268 )     (20,991 ) 

  Income tax expense     -       -   

  Net loss from continuing operations     (9,268 )     (20,991 ) 

                      

Discontinued Operations                 

  Net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax     (991 )     (4,012 ) 

  Gain on divestiture, net     4,160       -   

  Net income (loss) from discontinued operations     3,169       (4,012 ) 

                    

  Net loss     (6,099 )     (25,003 ) 

    Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests - discontinued operations     8       90   

                    

  Net loss attributable to CAMAC Energy Inc.   $ (6,091 )   $ (24,913 ) 

                    

Net (loss) income per common share attributable to CAMAC Energy Inc. - basic                 

  Continuing operations   $ (0.06 )   $ (0.14 ) 

  Discontinued operations   $ 0.02     $ (0.03 ) 

  Total   $ (0.04 )   $ (0.16 ) 

Net (loss) income per common share attributable to CAMAC Energy Inc. - diluted                 

  Continuing operations   $ (0.06 )   $ (0.14 ) 

  Discontinued operations   $ 0.02     $ (0.03 ) 

  Total   $ (0.04 )   $ (0.16 ) 

Weighted average common shares outstanding:                 

  Basic     155,813       154,556   

  Diluted     155,813       154,556   

  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

(In thousands) 
 

      Years Ended December 31,   

      2012     2011   

          

Net loss   $ (6,099 )   $ (25,003 ) 

Other comprehensive income (loss):                 

  Foreign currency adjustments     94       (31 ) 

  Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net of taxes     395       (114 ) 

Total other comprehensive income (loss)     489       (145 ) 

                    

Comprehensive loss     (5,610 )     (25,148 ) 

  Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests     8       88   

                    

Comprehensive loss attributable to CAMAC Energy Inc.   $ (5,602 )   $ (25,060 ) 

  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

(In thousands) 
 

                            Accumulated               

                Additional           Other           Total   

    Common Stock     Paid-in     Accumulated     Comprehensive     Noncontrolling     Stockholders'   

    Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Income (Loss)     Interest     Equity   

At December 31, 

2010     153,612     $ 154     $ 458,523     $ (250,925 )   $ (120 )   $ (643 )   $ 206,989   

Stock issued for 

services     840       1       706       -       -       -       707   

Exercise of warrants 

and options     323       -       177       -       -       -       177   

Vesting of restricted 

stock     611       -       -       -       -       -       -   

Stock-based 

employee 

compensation                     2,484       -       -       -       2,484   

Adjustments to 

noncontrolling 

interest                     (733 )     -       -       735       2   

Net loss                     -       (24,913 )     -       (90 )     (25,003 ) 

Other comprehensive 

income (loss):                                                         

Foreign currency 

adjustments                     -       -       (31 )     -       (31 ) 

Unrealized loss on 

investments, net of 

taxes                     -       -       (114 )     -       (114 ) 

At December 31, 

2011     155,386     $ 155     $ 461,157     $ (275,838 )   $ (265 )   $ 2     $ 185,211   

Exercise of warrants 

and options     7       -       3       -       -       -       3   

Vesting of restricted 

stock     514       1       -                               1   

Contingent 

consideration stock 

issued     188       -       890                               890   

Stock-based 

employee 

compensation                     739       -       -       -       739   

Net loss                     -       (6,091 )     -       (8 )     (6,099 ) 

Other comprehensive 

income (loss):                                                         

Foreign currency 

adjustments                     12       -       94       -       106   

Unrealized gain on 

investments, net of 

taxes                     -       -       395       -       395   

At December 31, 

2012     156,095     $ 156     $ 462,801     $ (281,929 )   $ 224     $ (6 )   $ 181,246   

  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In thousands) 

  

    Years Ended December 31,   

    2012     2011   

Operating activities       

Net loss   $ (6,099 )   $ (25,003 ) 

                  

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities:                 

Depreciation, depletion and amortization     10,758       13,530   

Stock-based compensation     739       2,484   

Currency transaction loss (gain)     22       (31 ) 

Dry hole costs     (37 )     2,176   

Gain on divestiture, net     (4,160 )     -   

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                 

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable     12,836       (8,528 ) 

Decrease in other current assets     649       1,841   

Decrease in inventories     -       72   

(Decrease) increase in accounts payable     (20,772 )     35,834   

Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses     112       (37,029 ) 

Other     55       -   

Net cash used in operating activities     (5,897 )     (14,654 ) 

                  

Investing activities                 

Capital expenditures     (3,576 )     (7,159 ) 

Proceeds on divestiture, net     2,364       -   

Net sales of available for sale securities     -       256   

Decrease in other assets     465       43   

Proceeds on long-term investments     1,966       -   

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     1,219       (6,860 ) 

                  

Financing activities                 

Proceeds from long-term note payable - related party     5,000       31,000   

Payments of long-term note payable - related party     (10,128 )     (25,000 ) 

Proceeds from exercise of warrants and stock options     3       177   

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities     (5,125 )     6,177   

                  

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents     (17 )     45   

                  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents     (9,820 )     (15,292 ) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     13,626       28,918   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 3,806     $ 13,626   

                  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information                 

Cash paid for:                 

Interest, net   $ 117     $ 120   

Contingent consideration stock   $ 890     $ -   

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:                 

Nonsubsidiary common stock received as partial proceeds for divestiture, net   $ 1,877     $ -   

Common stock issued for services   $ -     $ 706   

  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

  

NOTE 1. --- COMPANY DESCRIPTION 
 

CAMAC Energy Inc. (the “Company” or “CAMAC”) is engaged in the exploration, development, and production of oil and gas outside 

the United States, directly and through joint ventures and other ventures in which it may participate. The Company’s name was changed 

from Pacific Asia Petroleum, Inc. (“PAP”) to CAMAC Energy Inc. upon the acquisition of oil and gas properties located offshore 

Nigeria in April 2010. 
 

The Company operates in the upstream segment of the oil and gas industry in exploration and producing activities. The Company’s 

corporate headquarters is located in Houston, Texas and has offices in Nairobi, Kenya and Lagos, Nigeria.   The Company's principal 

assets include rights to interests in OML 120 and OML 121, offshore oil and gas leases in deep water Nigeria which include the currently 

producing Oyo Oilfield, and interests in six recently acquired exploration blocks in Kenya and Gambia. 
 

NOTE 2. --- BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND LIQUIDITY 
 

Basis of Presentation 
 

The terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “Company,” and “our Company” refer to CAMAC and its subsidiaries and affiliates. 
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned and majority-owned 

direct and indirect subsidiaries and have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States 

(“U.S. GAAP”) and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).  All significant 

intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. The consolidated financial statements reflect all 

adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the consolidated financial position and results 

of operations for the indicated periods. All such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature. 
 

For year 2012, certain changes in presentation have been made in the consolidated financial statements, and prior periods included have 

been prepared with these reclasses for comparability. These include a change in accounting principle for the presentation of revenues to 

exclude royalties and taxes, with an offsetting decrease in costs and expenses, which was adopted effective December 31, 2011. 
 

On January 1, 2012, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2011-05 amending Accounting Standards 

Codification (“ASC”) Topic 220 related to the presentation of comprehensive income, with the exception of the portions of ASU  

2011-05 for which the effective date has been deferred by ASU 2011-12.  The Company is now presenting, in both interim and annual 

financial statements, items of net income (loss), other comprehensive income (loss) and total comprehensive income (loss) in two 

separate consecutive statements. 
 

In July 2012, the Company signed a definitive share sale and purchase agreement to divest its interest in the Zijinshan Gas Block in 

China.  This transaction was completed on August 6, 2012.  The Company has classified the current and historical results of its China 

operations, including other inactive operations not involved in this sale, as discontinued operations, net of tax, in the accompanying 

consolidated statements of operations.  See Note 4 for more information regarding the sale.  Unless otherwise indicated, the information 

in these notes to the consolidated financial statements relates to the Company’s continuing operations. 
 

Liquidity 
 

The Company incurred a net loss attributable to CAMAC Energy Inc. of $6,091,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012 and at that 

date had an accumulated deficit of $281,929,000.  As of December 31, 2012, the Company has incurred $59.7 million in well workover 

expenses to reduce gas production from well #5 in the Oyo Field in order to improve the daily crude oil production rate from this well. Of 

this amount, $30.7 million was charged to expense in 2010, $28.9 million in 2011 and $0.1 million in 2012.  By agreements involving 

Allied Energy Plc, an affiliated company, the Company will pay for the workover. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 

   

On June 6, 2011, CAMAC Petroleum Limited (“CPL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, executed a Promissory Note (the 

“Promissory Note”) in favor of Allied Energy Plc. (“Allied” or the “Lender”). Under the terms of the Promissory Note, the Lender 

agreed to make loans to CPL, from time to time and pursuant to requests by CPL, in an aggregate sum of up to $25.0 million. Interest 

accrues on outstanding principal under the Promissory Note at a rate of 30 day LIBOR plus 2% per annum.  CPL may prepay and 

re-borrow all or a portion of such amount from time to time.  Pursuant to the initial terms of the Promissory Note, the unpaid aggregate 

outstanding principal amount of all loans, was to mature on June 6, 2013.  Subsequently, in August 2012 the Promissory note was 

amended to extend the maturity date to October 15, 2013, and then amended again in March 2013 to extend the maturity date to July 15, 

2014.  The Company has irrevocably, unconditionally and absolutely guaranteed all of CPL’s obligations under the Promissory 

Note.   As of December 31, 2012, $0.9 million was outstanding. 
 

Based upon current cash flow projections, management believes that the Company will have sufficient capital resources to meet 

projected cash flow requirements for the next twelve months from the date of filing this report, assuming no additional participation in 

Oyo Field operating and development costs through such date. 
 

Our ability to execute our business plan will also depend on whether we are able to raise additional funds through equity, debt financing 

or strategic alliances. Such additional funds may not become available on acceptable terms, if at all, and any additional funding obtained 

may not be sufficient to meet our needs in the long-term. Through December 31, 2012, substantially all of our capital had been raised 

through private placements and registered direct offerings of equity instruments.   
 

NOTE 3. --- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Principles of Consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and activities of the Company, subsidiaries in which the Company has a 

controlling financial interest, and entities for which the Company is the primary beneficiary.  All material intercompany accounts and 

transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

  

Use of Estimates 

  

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates based on 

assumptions. Estimates affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent liabilities, and the reported amounts 

of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  Accordingly, our accounting estimates require the exercise of judgment. While 

management believes that the estimates and assumptions used in preparation of consolidated financial statements are appropriate, actual 

results could differ from those estimates.  Estimates that may have a significant effect include oil and natural gas reserve quantities, 

depletion and amortization relating to oil and natural gas properties, and income taxes.  The accounting estimates used in the preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements may change as new events occur, more experience is acquired, additional information is 

obtained and our operating environment changes. 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments with initial maturities of three months or 

less. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents in various financial institutions. The combined account balances at several 

institutions typically exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insurance coverage and, as a result, there is a 

concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage. Management believes that this risk is 

not significant. 
 

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

  

Trade accounts receivable are accounted for at cost less allowance for doubtful accounts.  We establish provisions for losses on accounts 

receivables if it is determined that collection of all or a part of an outstanding balance is not probable. Collectability is reviewed regularly 

and an allowance is established or adjusted, as necessary, using the specific identification method.  As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, 

no allowance for doubtful accounts was necessary. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

The Company follows the “successful efforts” method of accounting of its costs of acquisition, exploration and development of oil and 

gas properties. Under this method, oil and gas lease acquisition costs and intangible drilling costs associated with exploration efforts that 

result in the discovery of proved reserves and costs associated with development drilling, whether or not successful, are capitalized when 

incurred.  Drilling costs of exploratory wells are capitalized pending determination that proved reserves have been found. If the 

determination is dependent upon the results of planned additional wells and require additional capital expenditures to develop the 

reserves, the drilling costs will be capitalized as long as sufficient reserves have been found to justify completion of the exploratory well 

as a producing well, and additional wells are underway or firmly planned to complete the evaluation of the well.  Exploratory wells not 

meeting the criteria for continued capitalization are expensed when such a determination is made. Other exploration costs are expensed 

as incurred. 
 

Depreciation, depletion and amortization for productive oil and gas properties are recorded on a unit-of-production basis.  For other 

depreciable property, depreciation is recorded on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets which ranges between 

three to five years or the lease term. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred. 
 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
 

The Company reviews its long-lived assets in property, plant and equipment for impairment in accordance with ASC Topic 360, ( 

Property, Plant and Equipment) . Review for impairment of long-lived assets occurs whenever changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying amount of assets may not be fully recoverable.  Possible indicators of impairment include current period losses combined 

with a history of losses, significant downward oil and gas reserve revisions, or when changes in other circumstances indicate the carrying 

amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for assets to be held and used when the estimated 

undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the asset including ultimate disposition are less than its carrying amount. In the 

case of oil and gas properties, the Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows of the affected properties to judge the 

recoverability of carrying amounts.  Cash flows are determined on the basis of reasonable and documented assumptions that represent 

the best estimate of the future economic conditions during the remaining useful life of the asset.  Our cash flow projections into the 

future include assumptions on variables such as future sales, sales prices, operating costs, economic conditions, market competition and 

inflation. Prices used to quantify the expected future cash flows are estimated based on forward prices prevailing in the marketplace and 

management’s long-term planning assumptions. Impairment is measured by the excess of carrying amount over the fair value of the 

assets. 
 

Asset Retirement Obligations 
 

The Company accounts for asset retirement obligations in accordance with ASC Topic 410 (Asset Retirement and Environmental 

Obligations),  which requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is 

incurred. ASC 410 requires the Company to record a liability for the present value using a credit-adjusted risk free interest rate of the 

estimated site restoration costs with a corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related long-lived assets. As a result of the 

lack of capital deployed on a historical basis, to date, the Company has not recorded any future asset retirement obligations. 
 

Revenues 
 

Revenues are recognized when the earnings process is complete and an exchange transaction has taken place. An exchange transaction 

may be a physical sale, the providing of services, or an exchange of rights and privileges.  The recognition criteria are satisfied when 

there exists a signed contract with defined pricing, delivery and acceptance (as defined in the contract) of the product or service have 

occurred, there is no significant uncertainty of collectability, and the amount is not subject to refund. Crude oil revenues are net of sales 

of royalty barrels. Oil revenue is recognized using the sales method for our share of Cost Oil and Profit Oil for each crude oil lifting in 

Nigeria. 
 

Income Taxes 
 

The Company provides for income taxes using the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes in accordance with ASC 

Topic 740 ( Income Taxes ). Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary 

differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes and for operating loss 

and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income 

in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities 

of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.  A valuation allowance is established to 

reduce deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that the related tax benefits will not be fully realized. 
 

The Company evaluates any tax deduction and tax refund positions in a two-step process.  The first step is to determine whether it is 

more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained.  If that test is met, the second step is to determine the amount of benefit to 
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recognize in the consolidated financial statements. 

  

The Company’s continuing practice is to recognize estimated interest and penalties, if any, related to potential underpayment of income 

taxes as a component of other income (expense) in its Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of December 31, 2012, the Company 

did not have any accrued interest or penalties associated with any uncertain tax liabilities. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 

  

Stock-Based Compensation 
 

The Company recognizes all stock-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, in the consolidated 

financial statements based on their grant-date fair values in accordance with ASC Topic 718-10  ( Stock Compensation) . The Company 

values its stock options awarded using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and the restricted stock is valued at the grant date closing 

market price. Compensation expense for stock options and restricted stock is recorded over the vesting period on a straight line basis. 

Stock-based compensation paid to non-employees in vested stock is valued at the fair value at the applicable measurement date and 

charged to expense as services are rendered. 
 

Net Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share 
 

The Company computes earnings or loss per share under ASC Topic 260 (Earnings per Share). Net earnings or loss per common share 

is computed by dividing net earnings or loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock and applicable dilutive 

common stock equivalents outstanding during the year. Dilutive common stock equivalents consist of shares issuable upon the exercise 

of the Company's stock options, unvested restricted stock, and warrants (calculated using the treasury stock method).  Potential dilutive 

common shares that have an anti-dilutive effect (e.g., those that increase earnings per share or decrease net loss per share) are excluded 

from diluted earnings (loss) per share. 
 

New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted 
 

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2011-11 regarding disclosure requirements for 

assets and liabilities that have been offset in the balance sheet.  The scope includes financial instruments and derivative instruments that 

are either (i) presently offset as permitted under existing accounting principles for offsetting of financial instruments and derivatives in 

certain cases or (ii) subject to an enforceable master netting agreement or similar agreement whether or not they have been offset.  The 

new disclosures related to offsetting include the gross amounts, amounts offset and net amounts as recorded.  For amounts subject to 

enforceable master netting agreements, disclosure is required for the amounts of financial instruments and other derivative instruments 

not offset, amounts related to financial collateral, and the net amounts.   The ASU is effective for annual and interim periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2013 and requires retrospective application for comparative prior periods presented.  At December 31, 2012, the 

Company did not have any transactions of the types subject to this ASU. 
 

NOTE 4 – DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
 

In August 2012, the Company divested its wholly-owned Hong Kong subsidiary Pacific Asia Petroleum Limited (PAPL) for cash 

consideration of $2.5 million and 9.6 million fully paid ordinary shares, net of selling expenses, of Leyshon Resources Limited 

(“Leyshon”), a natural resources mining company based in Beijing, China.  The Leyshon shares had a fair market value of $1.9 million, 

which have since been sold. 
 

PAPL held the Company’s interest in the Zijinshan production sharing contract relating to the Zijinshan Block in the Shanxi Province of 

China. Since 2008, the Company engaged in exploration activities on this Block in search of coalbed methane and other gas.  The 

Company made a strategic decision to monetize this asset and withdraw from activity in China in order to focus its efforts and capital 

resources on its core Africa activities. 
 

The Company has reclassified all assets, liabilities and the results of operations for Asia to discontinued operations for all periods 

presented. 

  

Results of operations from discontinued operations are as follows: 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 

    Years Ended December 31,   

    2012     2011   

    (In thousands)   

Costs and expenses:             

Exploratory expenses   $ 204     $ 2,545   

Depreciation, depletion and amortization     8       53   

General and administrative expenses     779       1,642   

Other income     -       (228 ) 

Total costs and expenses     991       4,012   

                  

Loss before income taxes     (991 )     (4,012 ) 

Income tax expense     -       -   

Net loss before noncontrolling interests     (991 )     (4,012 ) 

                  

Noncontrolling interests     8       90   

Net loss   $ (983 )   $ (3,922 ) 

  

Assets and liabilities of discontinued operations are as follows: 
 

    December 31,     December 31,   

    2012     2011   

    (In thousands)   

Other current assets   $ -     $ 73   

Property, plant and equipment, net     -       164   

Other assets     36       36   

Total assets   $ 36     $ 273   

                  

Accounts payable   $ -     $ 592   

Accrued expenses     -       199   

Total liabilities   $ -     $ 791   

 
NOTE 5. -- ACQUISITIONS 
 

Nigeria - OML 120/121 Transaction 
 

In April 2010, the Company acquired from affiliates of CAMAC Energy Holdings Limited (“CEHL”) certain rights to their interests 

relating to the Oyo Field (the “Oyo Contract Rights”) in the OML 120/121 Production Sharing Contract (“OML 120/121 PSC”) in 

exchange for cash and shares of common stock of the Company. 
 

In December 2010, the Company entered into a Purchase and Continuation Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with CEHL and 

such affiliates, pursuant to which the Company agreed to acquire certain rights of the remainder of the affiliates’ interest (the “OML 

120/121 Transaction”) in the OML 120/121 PSC (the “Non-Oyo Contract Rights”).  In exchange for the Non-Oyo Contract Rights, the 

Company agreed to an option-based consideration structure and paid $5.0 million in cash to Allied, an affiliate of CEHL, upon the 

closing of the OML 120/121 Transaction in February 2011. The Company has the option to elect to retain the Non-Oyo Contract Rights 

upon payment of additional consideration to Allied upon the achievement of certain milestones relating to exploration and production 

outside of the Oyo Field. 
 

If any of the milestones are reached and the Company elects not to retain the Non-Oyo Contract Rights at that time, then all the Non-Oyo 

Contract Rights will automatically revert back to CEHL without any compensation due to the Company and with CEHL retaining all 

consideration paid by the Company to date.  As of December 31, 2012, none of the milestones had been reached. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 

Award of Kenya Exploration Blocks 
 

In May 2012, the Company, through an indirect wholly owned subsidiary, entered into four production sharing contracts (“Kenya 

PSCs”) with the Government of the Republic of Kenya, covering previously awarded exploration Blocks L1B and L16, and new 

offshore exploration Blocks L27 and L28.  For all of the blocks, the Company will be the operator, with the government having the right 

to participate up to 20%, either directly or through an appointee, in any area subsequent to declaration of a commercial discovery.  The 

Company is responsible for all exploration expenditures. 
 

The Kenya PSCs for Blocks L1B and L16 each provide for an initial exploration period of two years with specified minimum work 

obligations during that period.  Prior to the end of the initial exploration period, the Company will conduct for each block a regional 

geological study and acquire, process and interpret 3D seismic data.  The Company has the right to apply for up to two additional 

two-year exploration periods with specified additional minimum work obligations, including the drilling of one exploratory well on each 

block in each such additional period. 
 

The Kenya PSCs for Blocks L27 and L28 each provide for an initial exploration period of three years with specified minimum work 

obligations during that period.  Prior to the end of the initial exploration period, the Company will conduct for each block a regional 

geological study and acquire, process and interpret 3D seismic data.  The Company has the right to apply for up to two additional 

two-year exploration periods with specified additional minimum work obligations, including the drilling of one exploratory well on each 

block, in each such additional period. 
 

In addition to the minimum work obligations, each of the Kenya PSC’s require annual surface rental payments, training fund payments 

and contributions to local community development projects.  All of the Kenya PSCs also include customary provisions including but not 

limited to governing law, confidentiality, force majeure, arbitration, and abandonment and decommissioning costs. 
 

Award of The Gambia Offshore Exploration Blocks 
 

In May 2012, the Company, through an indirect wholly owned subsidiary, signed two Petroleum Exploration, Development & 

Production Licenses with The Republic of The Gambia (the “Licenses”), for previously awarded exploration blocks A2 and A5 (the 

“Blocks”).  For both Blocks, the Company will be the operator, with the Gambia National Petroleum Company (GNPC) having the right 

to elect to participate up to a 15% interest, following approval of a development and production plan. The Company is responsible for all 

expenditures prior to such approval even if the GNPC elects to participate. 
 

The Licenses for both Blocks provide for an initial exploration period of four years with specified work obligations during that 

period.  Prior to the end of the initial exploration period, the Company will conduct for each Block a regional geological study, acquire, 

process and interpret 3D seismic data, drill one exploration well to the total depth of 5,000 meters below mean sea level and evaluate 

drilling results, with the first two work obligations due prior to the end of the second year.  The Company has the right to apply for up to 

two additional two-year exploration periods with specified additional minimum work obligations, including the drilling of one 

exploration well in each additional period for each Block. 
 

In addition to the minimum work obligations, the Licenses require annual rental payments and training and resource fees.  Each of the 

Licenses also include customary provisions including but not limited to governing law, confidentiality, force majeure, arbitration, and 

abandonment and decommissioning costs. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 

  

NOTE 6. --- PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Property, plant and equipment were comprised of the following: 
 

    December 31,     December 31,   

    2012     2011   

Oil and gas properties:   (In thousands)   

Proved oil and gas properties   $ 206,212     $ 206,212   

      Less:  Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization     25,822       15,233   

Proved oil and gas properties, net     180,390       190,979   

Unproved oil and gas properties     8,240       5,000   

Oil and gas properties, net     188,630       195,979   

                  

Property, plant and equipment, other     989       614   

      Less:  Accumulated depreciation     533       371   

Property, plant and equipment, other, net     456       243   

      Total property, plant and equipment   $ 189,086     $ 196,222   

  

NOTE 7.  --- LONG TERM NOTE PAYABLE – RELATED PARTY 
 

On June 6, 2011, CPL, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, executed a Promissory Note in favor of Allied. Under the terms of 

the Promissory Note, the Lender agreed to make loans to CPL, from time to time and pursuant to requests by CPL, in an aggregate sum 

of up to $25.0 million. Interest accrues on outstanding principal under the Promissory Note at a rate of 30 day LIBOR plus 2% per 

annum.  CPL may prepay and re-borrow all or a portion of such amount from time to time.  Pursuant to the initial terms of the 

Promissory Note, the unpaid aggregate outstanding principal amount of all loans, was to mature on June 6, 2013.  Subsequently, in 

August 2012 the Promissory note was amended to extend the maturity date to October 15, 2013, and then amended again in March 2013 

to extend the maturity date to July 15, 2014.  The Company has irrevocably, unconditionally and absolutely guaranteed all of CPL’s 

obligations under the Promissory Note.   As of December 31, 2012, $0.9 million was outstanding. 
 

NOTE 8. --- OPERATING SEGMENT DATA 
 

The Company manages its operations on a geographical basis.  Historically, the Company reported two operating segments:  Africa and 

Asia.  In August 2012, the Company sold its principal China operations, which comprised the remaining portion of the Asia 

segment.  As a result, the Company is reporting Asia operations for all presented periods in discontinued operations and, as such, the 

financial statement information provided in this report for continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 are 

presented in one reportable segment. 
 

NOTE 9. ---   INCOME TAXES 
 

The Company’s subsidiaries outside the United States did not have any undistributed net earnings at December 31, 2012, due to 

accumulated net losses. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 

  

Following is a reconciliation of the expected statutory U.S. Federal income tax provision to the actual income tax expense for the 

respective periods: 
 

    Years Ended December 31,   

    2012     2011   

    (In thousands)   

              

Net loss attributable to CAMAC Energy Inc. before income tax expense   $ (6,091 )    $ (24,913 ) 

Expected income tax provision at statutory rate of 35%   $ (2,132 )   $ (8,720 ) 

Increase (decrease) due to:                 

Foreign-incorporated subsidiaries     (4,463 )     4,102   

Net losses not realizable currently for U.S. tax purposes     6,595       4,618   

Total income tax expense   $ -     $ -   

  

The Company records zero net deferred income tax assets and liabilities on the balance sheet on the basis that its overall net deferred 

income tax asset position is offset by a valuation allowance due to its net losses since inception for both book basis and tax basis and 

other considerations. 
 

Deferred income tax assets by category are as follows: 

  
    Years Ended December 31,   

    2012     2011   

    (In thousands)   

Tax basis operating loss carryovers   $ 20,471     $ 16,898   

Well workover     7,822       10,737   

Other     481       106   

      28,774       27,741   

Valuation allowance     (28,774 )     (27,741 ) 

Net deferred income tax assets   $ -     $ -   

 
The Company’s total tax basis loss carryovers at December 31, 2012 were $58,847,000.  Due to the significant change in ownership in 

2010, the Company’s future use of its U.S. operating losses may be limited. 
 

Tax years ended December 31, 2008 through 2012 remain open to examination under the applicable statute of limitations in the U.S. and 

state tax jurisdiction in which the Company files income tax returns. 
 

For the year 2011 in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, total net losses attributable to CAMAC Energy Inc., 

include a net charge of $508,000 to income tax expense representing adjustments between the original book basis income tax provision 

and the Company’s allocated share of the year 2010 Nigeria Petroleum Profits Tax return filed for the OML 120/121 PSC in September 

2011. The adjustments recorded were based upon changes deemed more likely than not to be sustained. The Company also has 

unrecognized tax benefits of $2,435,000 related to the 2010 Nigeria Petroleum Profits Tax return for which the future realization is 

uncertain at present; accordingly, the tax benefit has been fully offset by a valuation allowance. Further, as part of the above adjustments, 

the Company has recorded approximately $624,000 in other current assets for excess 2010 Nigeria Petroleum Profits Tax paid into the 

escrow account of the OML 120/121 PSC. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 

NOTE 10. ---  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 
 

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had approximately $15.1 million of approved and unpaid workover invoices related to Oyo 

Field well #5, and $19.3 million as of December 31, 2011. 
 

Accrued expenses are as follows: 
 

    December 31,     December 31,   

    2012     2011   

    (In thousands)   

Accrued contingent consideration   $ -     $ 890   

Accrued professional fees     565       474   

Accrued payroll and benefits     397       406   

Accrued workover costs     538       1,367   

Other     1,270       426   

Total accrued expenses   $ 2,770     $ 3,563   

  

NOTE 11. --- STOCK BASED COMPENSATION 
 

Stock Options 
 

Under the Company’s 2009 Equity Incentive Plan, the Company may issue stock, options or units to result in issuance of a maximum 

aggregate of 12,000,000 shares of Common Stock. Options awarded expire 10 years from date of grant or shorter term as fixed by the 

Board of Directors.  In 2012, the Company granted a total of 625,485 stock options with vesting periods from 3 years to 5 years. 
 

A summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2012, is presented below. 
 

    

Shares 

Underlying 

Options     
Weighted-Average 

Exercise Price     

Weighted-Average 

Remaining 

Contractual Term 

(Years)   

Stock Options       

Outstanding at January 1, 2012     5,496,692     $ 1.38       4.9   

Granted     625,485     $ 0.86       4.3   

Exercised     (7,000 )   $ 0.64           

Forfeited     (3,540,192 )   $ 1.58           

Outstanding as of December 31, 2012     2,574,985     $ 0.98       3.8   

                          

Expected to vest     2,574,985     $ 0.98       3.8   

Exercisable at December 31, 2012     729,501     $ 1.25       3.6   

  

The total intrinsic values of options outstanding and options exercisable were $0 at December 31, 2012.  The total intrinsic values 

realized by recipients on options exercised were $2,420 in 2012, and $242,000 in 2011. 
 

The Company recorded compensation expense relative to stock options in 2012 and 2011 of $178,000 and $1,288,000, respectively. 
 

The fair values of stock options used in recording compensation expense are computed using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model.  The table below shows the weighted-average amounts for the assumptions used in the model for options awarded in each year 

under equity incentive plans. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 

  

    2012     2011   

              

Expected price volatility     120.5 %     103.7 % 

Risk free interest rate (U.S. treasury bonds)     0.5 %     0.8 % 

Expected annual dividend yield     -       -   

Expected option term (years)     3.5       3.1   

Grant date fair value per share   $ 0.64     $ 0.84   

  

Restricted Stock Awards (“RSA”) 
 

In addition to stock options, our 2009 Plan allows for the grant of restricted stock awards, or RSA. We determine the fair value of RSAs 

based on the market price of our common stock on the date of grant. Compensation cost for RSAs is recognized on a straight-line basis 

over the vesting or service period and is net of forfeitures. 
 

A summary of restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2012, is presented below. 
 

    Shares     

Weighted-Average 

Grant Date Fair 

Value   

Restricted Stock       

Nonvested at January 1, 2012     1,088,627     $ 1.13   

Granted     909,916     $ 0.76   

Vested     (514,192 )   $ 1.10   

Forfeited     (385,000 )   $ 1.28   

Nonvested as of December 31, 2012     1,099,351     $ 0.78   

 
The Company recorded compensation expense relative to RSA’s in 2012 and 2011 of $561,000 and $1,196,000, respectively.  
 

The total grant date fair value of RSA shares that vested during 2012 was approximately $568,000.  As of December 31, 2012, there was 

approximately $857,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested RSAs, with $725,000, and $132,000 to be 

recognized during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 

  

NOTE 12. --- EARNINGS OR LOSS PER COMMON SHARE 
 

Basic earnings or loss per common share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income or loss available to common stockholders by the 

weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. The weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

for computing basic and diluted EPS for years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, were as follows: 
 

    Years ended December 31,   

    2012     2011   

    (In thousands) 

Basic     155,813       154,556   

Diluted     155,813       154,556   

  

The number of stock options, warrants issued in stock offerings and nonvested restricted stock excluded from dilutive shares outstanding 

in the above periods, as these potentially dilutive securities are anti-dilutive because the Company was in a loss position, were as 

follows: 
 

    Years ended December 31,   

    2012     2011   

    (In thousands) 

Stock options     2       98   

Warrants issued in stock offerings     -       6   

Nonvested restricted stock awards     327       65   

  

NOTE 13. --- DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 
 

In 2007 the Company adopted a defined contribution 401(k) Plan (“Plan”) for its U.S. employees.   The Plan provides for Company 

matching of 200% on up to the first 3% of salary contributed by employees. The Plan includes the option for employee contributions to 

be made from either pre-tax or after-tax basis income as elected by the employee. Company contributions are immediately vested to the 

employee.  Under the Plan, the Company’s cash contributions, including third party administration fees, were $130,000 and $121,000 in 

2012 and 2011, respectively.   
 

NOTE 14. --- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 
 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 

The estimated fair value of financial instruments is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged currently between willing 

parties.  The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments for cash equivalents, long-term investments, accounts receivable, 

deposits, advances,  accounts payable, and accrued expenses and long-term debt at floating interest rates, approximate fair value at 

December 31, 2012 and 2011. The carrying amount for the investment in nonsubsidiary is fair value from a market price.  The recorded 

amounts for fair value of the Company’s securities, is presented below. 

  

    Years ended December 31,   

    2012     2011   

    (In thousands) 

Available for sale:                 

Investment in nonsubsidiary   $ -     $ 158   

  

Concentration of Credit Risk 
 

The Company is currently not exposed to any concentration of credit risk. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 

NOTE 15. – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 

ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures , defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 

transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date and establishes a three level hierarchy 

for measurement fair value. 
 

Fair value measurements are classified and disclosed in one of the following categories: 
 

Level 1:  Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 

Level 2:  Unadjusted quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, or unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities 

in markets that are not active, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability. 
 

Level 3:  Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, including situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset 

or  liability. 
 

Investments in nonsubsidiaries are accounted for in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.  The carrying amounts reported in the 

consolidated balance sheet for cash and cash equivalents, long-term investments, trade receivables, deposits, long-term advances, 

accounts payable, accrued expenses and long-term debt at floating interest rates approximate their fair values, principally due to the 

short-term nature, maturities or nature of interest rates of many of the above listed items. 
 

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis – as of December 31: 

  

    2012     Level 1     2011     Level 1   

    (In thousands) 

Investment in nonsubsidiary   $ -     $ -     $ 158     $ 158   

  NOTE 16. --- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

 Lease Commitments 
 

  

We rent office space and miscellaneous office equipment under non-cancelable operating leases.  Office rent expense, net of sublease 

income, for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $539,000 and $544,000, respectively. At December 31, 2012, minimum 

future rental commitments for operating leases net of sublease income, were a total of $1,850,000 as follows:  $404,000 in 2013, 

$270,000 in 2014, $277,000 in 2015, $273,000 in 2016, $269,000 in 2017 and $357,000 in 2018 and thereafter.  

  

Contingencies 
 

In June 2011, Abiola Lawal, former Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, filed a lawsuit in Harris 

County, Texas District Court against the Company, alleging breach of contract and wrongful termination in connection with his 

termination from the Company. In September 2011, the Court issued an order staying the proceedings pending arbitration in view of the 

mandatory arbitration clause in the plaintiff’s employment agreement. In October 2011, the plaintiff issued a written demand for 

arbitration making the same allegations as the stayed lawsuit. The arbitration hearing was scheduled to commence in late October 

2012.   On October 19, 2012, a settlement agreement was reached resolving the matters described above.  The settlement will have no 

material effect on our consolidated financial position or our net income or loss. 
 

From time to time we may be involved in various legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of our business. As of December 

31, 2012, and through the filing date of this report, we do not believe the ultimate resolution of such actions or potential actions of which 

we are currently aware will have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or our net income or loss. 

  
  

61 
 
 

 



Source: CAMAC Energy Inc., 10-K, April 15, 2013 Powered by Morningstar Document Research. 
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use 
of this information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results. 

Back to Table of Contents 
  

CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 

NOTE 17. --- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

In September 2012, the Company entered into a Technical Services Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Allied, whereby the Company 

agreed to provide services related to the Oyo Field within OML 120/121.  Within the terms of the Agreement, Allied agreed to pay the 

Company $150,000 per month.  The Agreement was finalized and executed January 10, 2013 
 

During 2012, the Company made cash severance payments totaling an aggregate of $169,167 to two former executives pursuant to the 

terms of separation agreements entered into with each former executive. 
 

On June 6, 2011, CPL, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, executed a Promissory Note in favor of Allied. Under the terms of 

the Promissory Note, the Lender agreed to make loans to CPL, from time to time and pursuant to requests by CPL, in an aggregate sum 

of up to $25.0 million. Interest accrues on outstanding principal under the Promissory Note at a rate of 30 day LIBOR plus 2% per 

annum.  CPL may prepay and re-borrow all or a portion of such amount from time to time.  Pursuant to the initial terms of the 

Promissory Note, the unpaid aggregate outstanding principal amount of all loans, was to mature on June 6, 2013.  Subsequently, in 

August 2012 the Promissory note was amended to extend the maturity date to October 15, 2013, and then amended again in March 2013 

to extend the maturity date to July 15, 2014.  The Company has irrevocably, unconditionally and absolutely guaranteed all of CPL’s 

obligations under the Promissory Note.   As of December 31, 2012, $0.9 million was outstanding. 
 

Dr. Kase Lawal, the Company’s Executive Chairman and member of the Board of Directors, and Chief Executive Officer, is a director of 

each of CEHL, CAMAC International (Nigeria) Limited (“CINL”), and Allied.  Dr. Lawal also owns 27.7% of CAMAC International 

Limited, which indirectly owns 100% of CEHL.  As a result, Dr. Lawal may be deemed to have an indirect material interest in the 

transactions contemplated by the OML 120/121 Agreement.  Chairman Lawal recused himself from participating in the consideration 

and approval by the Company’s Board of Directors of the OML 120/121 Transaction. 
 

The Company has transactions in the normal course of business with its shareholders, CEHL and their affiliates.  The following tables 

summarize related party transactions and balances for the respective periods. 
 

    
December 31, 

2012     
December 31, 

2011   

    (In thousands)   

CEHL, accounts payable   $ 9,783     $ 162   

CEHL, long-term note payable   $ 872     $ 6,000   

                  

    Years Ended December 31,   

      2012       2011   

    (In thousands) 

CEHL, operating expenses, net   $ 81     $ 3,243   

CEHL, interest on long-term note payable   $ 122     $ 120   
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA ON OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND PRODUCING ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED) 
 

The unaudited supplemental information on oil and gas exploration and production activities for 2012 and 2011 has been presented in 

accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 932,   Extractive Activities—Oil and 

Gas.   Disclosures by geographic area include Africa and the United States. 
 

Estimated Net Proved Crude Oil Reserves 
 

The following estimates of the net proved crude oil reserves in Africa are based on evaluations prepared by third-party reservoir 

engineers. Reserve volumes and values were determined under the method prescribed by the SEC, which requires the application of the 

12-month average price calculated as the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each month within the 

12-month prior period to the end of the reporting period and current costs held constant throughout the projected reserve life. Reserve 

estimates are inherently imprecise and estimates of new discoveries are more imprecise than those of producing properties. Accordingly, 

reserve estimates are expected to change as additional performance data becomes available. 
 

    Crude Oil   

    (MBbls)   

    Africa     Total   

December 31, 2010     5,288       5,288   

Revisions     (2,288 )     (2,288 ) 

Improved recovery     -       -   

Purchases     -       -   

Extensions and discoveries     -       -   

Sales of minerals in place     -       -   

Production     (337 )     (337 ) 

December 31, 2011     2,663       2,663   

Revisions     582       582   

Improved recovery     -       -   

Purchases     -       -   

Extensions and discoveries     -       -   

Sales of minerals in place     -       -   

Production     (147 )     (147 ) 

December 31, 2012     3,098       3,098   

                  

Developed reserves                 

December 31, 2010     387       387   

December 31, 2011     92       92   

December 31, 2012     55       55   

                  

Undeveloped reserves                 

December 31, 2010     4,901       4,901   

December 31, 2011     2,571       2,571   

December 31, 2012     3,043       3,043   

  

Capitalized Costs 
 

The Company follows the successful efforts method of accounting for capitalization of costs of oil and gas producing 

activities.  Capitalized costs include the cost of properties, equipment, and facilities for oil and gas producing activities. Capitalized 

costs for proved properties include costs for oil and gas leaseholds where proved reserves have been identified, development wells, and 

related equipment and facilities, including development wells in progress. Capitalized costs for unproved properties include costs for 

acquiring oil and gas leaseholds where no proved reserves have been identified, including costs of exploratory wells that are in the 

process of drilling or in active completion, and costs of exploratory wells suspended or waiting on completion. Amounts below include 

only activities classified as exploration and producing. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA ON OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND PRODUCING ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED) 

  

(In thousands)   Africa     Total   

As of December 31, 2012             

Proved properties   $ 206,212     $ 206,212   

Unproved properties     8,240       8,240   

Total gross     214,452       214,452   

                  

Less:  Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization     25,822       25,822   

Net capitalized costs   $ 188,630     $ 188,630   

                  

As of December 31, 2011                 

Proved properties   $ 206,212     $ 206,212   

Unproved properties     5,000       5,000   

Total gross     211,212       211,212   

                  

Less:  Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization     15,233       15,233   

Net capitalized costs   $ 195,979     $ 195,979   

  

Costs Incurred in Oil and Gas Property Acquisition, Exploration and Development 
 

Amounts reported as costs incurred include both capitalized costs and costs charged to expense when incurred for oil and gas property 

acquisition, exploration, and development activities. Exploration costs presented below include the costs of drilling and equipping 

successful and unsuccessful exploration wells during the year, geological and geophysical expenses, and the costs of retaining 

undeveloped leaseholds.  Development costs include the costs of drilling and equipping development wells, and construction of related 

production facilities.  Costs associated with corporate activities are not included. 
 
 

(In thousands)   Africa     United States     Total   

Year ended December 31, 2012                   

Proved property acquisition   $ -     $ -     $ -   

Unproved property acquisition     3,240       -       3,240   

Exploration     1,775       1,461       3,236   

Development     -       -       -   

Total costs incurred   $ 5,015     $ 1,461     $ 6,476   

                          

Year ended December 31, 2011                         

Proved property acquisition   $ -     $ -     $ -   

Unproved property acquisition     5,000       -       5,000   

Exploration     206       684       890   

Development     -       -       -   

Total costs incurred   $ 5,206     $ 684     $ 5,890   
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA ON OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND PRODUCING ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED) 

  

Results of Continuing Operations 
 

Results of continuing operations for producing activities consist of all activities within the oil and gas exploration and production 

operations. 
 

(In thousands)   Africa     United States     Total   

Year ended December 31, 2012                   

Revenues   $ 16,624     $ -     $ 16,624   

Production costs     (260 )     (7 )     (267 ) 

Exploratory expenses     (1,775 )     (1,461 )     (3,236 ) 

Depreciation, depletion and amortization     (10,595 )     -       (10,595 ) 

Other expenses     (59 )     -       (59 ) 

Results of operations before income taxes     3,935       (1,468 )     2,467   

Income tax expense     -       -       -   

Results of continuing operations   $ 3,935     $ (1,468 )   $ 2,467   

                          

Year ended December 31, 2011                         

Revenues   $ 37,922     $ -     $ 37,922   

Production costs     (1,905 )     -       (1,905 ) 

Exploration expenses     (206 )     (684 )     (890 ) 

Depreciation, depletion and amortization     (13,316 )     -       (13,316 ) 

Other expenses     (28,977 )     -       (28,977 ) 

Results of operations before income taxes     (6,482 )     (684 )     (7,166 ) 

Income tax expense     -       -       -   

Results of continuing operations   $ (6,482 )   $ (684 )   $ (7,166 ) 

  

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows 
 

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows reflects our estimated future net revenues, net of estimated income taxes, to 

be generated from the production of proved reserves, determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC (using the 

average of the first-day-of-the-month commodity prices during the 12-month period ended on December 31, 2012) without giving effect 

to non-property related expenses such as DD&A expense and discounted at 10 percent per year. The average first-day-of-the-month 

commodity prices during the 12-month periods ending on December 31, 2012 and 2011, were $112.77 and $112.26 per barrel of crude 

oil, respectively, including differentials.  Amounts below for production sold and production costs exclude royalties. 
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA ON OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND PRODUCING ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED) 

  

(In thousands)   Africa     Total   

As of December 31, 2012             

Future cash inflows from production sold   $ 349,345     $ 349,345   

Future production costs     (180,612 )     (180,612 ) 

Future development costs     (58,800 )     (58,800 ) 

Future income taxes     (19,886 )     (19,886 ) 

Future net cash flows before discount     90,047       90,047   

Discount at 10% annual rate     (24,335 )     (24,335 ) 

Standardized measure of discounted future cash flows   $ 65,712     $ 65,712   

                  

As of December 31, 2011                 

Future cash inflows from production sold   $ 298,936     $ 298,936   

Future production costs     (140,104 )     (140,104 ) 

Future development costs     (62,308 )     (62,308 ) 

Future income taxes     (16,212 )     (16,212 ) 

Future net cash flows before discount     80,312       80,312   

Discount at 10% annual rate     (18,625 )     (18,625 ) 

Standardized measure of discounted future cash flows   $ 61,687     $ 61,687   
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CAMAC ENERGY INC. 

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA ON OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND PRODUCING ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED) 

  

Change in Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows 
 

The sources of change are explained below, discounted at a 10% annual rate. 
 

(In thousands)   Africa     Total   

Standardized measure, January 1, 2012   $ 61,687     $ 61,687   

Sales/production net of production costs     (16,357 )     (16,357 ) 

Development costs incurred     -       -   

Purchases of reserves     -       -   

Sales of reserves     -       -   

Net change in sale prices and production costs on future production     (40,435 )     (40,435 ) 

Changes in estimated future development costs     8,433       8,434   

Extensions, discoveries and improved recovery     -       -   

Revisions of previous quantity estimates     47,662       47,662   

Accretion of discount     5,717       5,717   

Net change in income tax     (995 )     (995 ) 

Standardized measure, December 31, 2012   $ 65,712     $ 65,712   

                  

Standardized measure, January 1, 2011     95,696       95,696   

Sales/production net of production costs     (35,617 )     (35,617 ) 

Development costs incurred     -       -   

Purchases of reserves     -       -   

Sales of reserves     -       -   

Net change in sale prices and production costs on future production     136,097       136,097   

Changes in estimated future development costs     (9,989 )     (9,989 ) 

Extensions, discoveries and improved recovery     -       -   

Revisions of previous quantity estimates     (139,203 )     (139,203 ) 

Accretion of discount     10,417       10,417   

Net change in income tax     4,286       4,286   

Standardized measure, December 31, 2011   $ 61,687     $ 61,687   

 
 

    Africa   

Sales revenue per barrel of crude oil:       

2012   $ 112.60   

2011   $ 112.91   

2010   $ 85.16   

          

Production costs per barrel of net crude oil production:         

2012   $ 6.34   

2011   $ 8.61   

2010   $ 34.54   
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February 27, 2013 

  
 

Mr. Earl W. McNiel 

1606 Cambridge Oaks Circle 

Houston, TX  77094 
 

Re: Offer of Employment as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
 

Dear Mr. McNiel: 

  

It is our pleasure to extend to you on behalf of CAMAC Energy Inc. (the “Company”), an offer of employment as the 

Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer commencing as of  February 27, 2013, in accordance with the terms and 

conditions contained in this letter agreement (the “Agreement”), the adequacy and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged: 

  
 

1. DUTIES. The Company requires that you be available to perform the duties of Senior Vice President and Chief Financial 

Officer customarily related to these functions as may be determined and assigned by your supervisor and the Board of Directors of the 

Company (the “Board”) and as may be required by the Company’s constituent instruments, including its certificate or articles of 

incorporation, bylaws and its corporate governance, each as amended or modified from time to time, and by applicable law, including the 

Delaware General Corporation Law.  Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Company shall have the right, to the extent the 

Company from time to time reasonably deems necessary or appropriate, to change your position or reporting relationship, and to expand 

or reduce your duties and responsibilities. You will report initially to the Chief Executive Officer and you agree to devote as much time 

as is necessary to discharge and perform completely the duties described in this Section 1, and perform such other duties as your 

supervisor and the Board may from time to time assign to you.  The initial location of your employment shall be the Company’s office in 

Houston, Texas.  However, the Company may, at the discretion of the Board, transfer your location of employment to the location of any 

stock exchange upon which the Company’s common stock may become listed. 

  

2. TERM. The term of this Agreement shall commence on February 27, 2013, and shall continue until your employment is 

terminated by the Company or by you. 

  

3. COMPENSATION. For all services to be rendered by you to the Company in any capacity hereunder, the Company agrees to 

pay you the following compensation: 

  

a.   During the term of your employment with the Company you will receive a base salary of US$290,000.00 per annum 

(the “Base Salary”), paid in arrears and in equal installments in accordance with the customary payroll practices of the 

Company. 

  

b.   The Board has approved for you to receive an option to purchase 800,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (the 

“Option”) under the Company’s 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).  The Option will be evidenced by an Option 

Agreement as contemplated by the Plan, which will govern the Option, notwithstanding any other provision in this 

Agreement.  The exercise price of the Option will be the closing price of the Company’s common stock on your date 

of hire.  The Option will vest in 1/3 annual installments on the anniversary date of your date of hire subject to your 

continued service with the Company on such anniversary date, with the first 266,667 shares vesting on the first year 

anniversary of your date of hire and the final 266,667 shares vesting on the third anniversary of your date of hire. 

  

1330 Post Oak Boulevard, Suite 2575, Houston, Texas 77056; Telephone (713) 797-2990 
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c.   The Board has approved for you to receive 175,000 restricted shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Stock”) 

under the Plan.  The Stock will be issued pursuant to a Restricted Stock Award Agreement as contemplated by the 

Plan, which will govern the Stock and your rights to the Stock, notwithstanding any other provision in this 

Agreement.  The Stock shall be restricted and subject to forfeiture to the Company if your rights to the restricted Stock 

do not vest under the award agreement.  Your rights to the Stock will vest with respect to 50% of the Stock on the one 

year anniversary of your date of hire, and will vest with respect to the balance on the two year anniversary of your date 

of hire, subject in both cases to your continued service with the Company on such anniversary date. 

  

d.   You will be reviewed by your supervisor and the Board, not less than annually, and in connection with such review, 

will be eligible for a discretionary cash performance bonus each year targeted at between 0% to 100% of your 

then-current annual base salary, based on defined targets determined by your supervisor and the Board.  You shall also 

be considered for additional grants of restricted stock and options in the Board’s sole discretion.  You acknowledge 

that the Company is not obligated to award you any cash or equity bonus in any year. 

  

You agree that if any payment of compensation paid to you by the Company or any affiliate, whether under this Agreement or 

otherwise, results in income or wages to you for federal, state, local or foreign income, employment or other tax purposes with respect to 

which the Company or any affiliate has a withholding obligation, the Company and its affiliates are authorized to withhold from such 

payment and any other cash, stock, property or other remuneration then or thereafter payable to you in any capacity any tax required to 

be withheld by reason of such income or wages. 

  

4. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

  

a.   You shall be eligible to participate in the employee benefit plans, programs and policies maintained by the Company 

for similarly situated employees in accordance with the terms and conditions of such plans, programs, and policies as 

in effect from time to time. 

  

b.   In accordance with and subject to the terms of the Company’s expense reimbursement policy, the Company shall pay 

or reimburse you for reasonable expenses actually incurred or paid by you in the performance of your services 

hereunder upon the presentation of expense statements or vouchers or such other appropriate supporting information 

as the Company may reasonably require of you.  To the extent that a reimbursement amount is subject to section 409A 

of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the rules and regulations issued thereunder by the 

Department of Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service (“Section 409A”) the Company will pay you the 

reimbursement amount due, if any, in any event before the last day of your taxable year following the taxable year in 

which the expense was incurred.  Your rights to any reimbursements are not subject to liquidation or exchange for 

another benefit.  The amount of expense reimbursements for which you are eligible during any taxable year will not 

affect the amount of any expense reimbursements for which you are eligible in any other taxable year. 
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c.   You will be entitled to up to 28 days of paid time off  per annum (pro-rated for partial years of service) in addition to 

the normal statutory holidays, provided, however, that vacation is to be taken at such times and intervals as may be 

agreed by the Company having regard to your workload and needs of the Company. 

  

d.   You shall be entitled to the benefit of the indemnification provisions contained in the bylaws of the Company, as the 

same may be amended. 

  

5. CONFIDENTIALITY. You acknowledge that, in order for the intents and purposes of this Agreement to be accomplished, 

you w ill necessarily be obtaining access to certain confidential information concerning the Company and its affairs, including, but not 

limited to business methods, information systems, financial data and strategic plans which are unique assets of the Company 

(“Confidential Information”). In accepting this offer, you covenant not to, either directly or indirectly, in any manner, utilize or disclose 

to any person, firm, corporation, association or other entity any Confidential Information.  The obligations set forth in this paragraph 

shall survive any termination of this Agreement and your employment relationship with the Company. 

  

6. NON-COMPETE; NON-SOLICIT.  During the period of your employment with the Company and thereafter during the 

one-year period which starts on the date of the termination of your employment with the Company (the “Restricted Period”), you 

covenant and agree that, in connection with the business operations and prospective interests of the Company on the date of your 

termination as an employee of the Company, you shall not, directly or indirectly, own any interest in, manage, control, participate in, 

consult with, render services for, or in any manner engage in any businesses in competition with the Company or materially adverse to 

the Company (unless the Board shall have authorized such activity and the Company shall have consented thereto in writing). 

Investments in less than 5% of the outstanding securities of any class of the Company subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 

or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, shall not be prohibited by this section. For purposes of this 

Section 6, the term “ Company ” shall include the Company and any of its affiliates or subsidiaries or any company in which it is a 

minority shareholder or a joint venture partner. For purposes of this Section, the term “businesses” shall mean any enterprise, 

commercial venture, or project involving petroleum exploration, development, or production activities in the same geographic areas as 

the Company’s activities during the period of your employment.  Further, during the period of your employment with the Company and 

thereafter during the Restricted Period, you covenant and agree that you will not directly or indirectly through another entity induce or 

otherwise attempt to influence any employee of the Company to leave the Company’s employment or in any way interfere with the 

relationship between the Company and any employee thereof. Further, you will not induce or attempt to induce any customer, supplier, 

licensee, joint venture partner, shareholder, licensor or other business relation of the Company to cease doing business with the 

Company or in any way interfere with the relationship between any such customer, supplier, licensee, joint venture partner, shareholder, 

licensor or business relation of the Company. 

  

If (i) pursuant to the arbitration process described in Section 14 of this Agreement (or such other process as to which the 

Company and you may agree upon in writing), it is determined that you have violated the provisions of this Section, and (ii) you have 

received a payment and/or entitled to future payments from the Company pursuant to Section 9 of this Agreement (the aggregate amount 

paid and payable to you thereunder is referred to as the “Aggregate Severance Amount”), then, in addition to any other remedies that the 

Company may have, you shall be obligated, and hereby agree, to pay the Company, as liquidated damages, all or such other portion of 

the Aggregate Severance Amount as the Board, in its sole discretion, shall determine. 
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7. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST; COMPLIANCE WITH LAW.  You covenant and agree that you will not receive and have 

not received any payments, gifts or promises and you will not engage in any employment or business enterprises that in any way conflict 

with your service and the interests of the Company or its affiliates. In addition, you agree to comply with the laws or regulations of any 

country, including, without limitation, the United States of America, having jurisdiction over you, the Company or any of the 

Company’s subsidiaries.  Further, you shall not make any payments, loans, gifts or promises or offers of payments, loans or gifts, 

directly or indirectly, to or for the use or benefit of any official or employee of any government or to any other person if you know, or 

have reason to believe, that any part of such payments, loans or gifts, or promise or offer, would violate the laws or regulations of any 

country, including, without limitation, the United States of America, having jurisdiction over you, the Company or any of the 

Company’s subsidiaries.  By signing this Agreement, you acknowledge that you have not made and will not make any payments, loans, 

gifts, promises of payments, loans or gifts to or for the use or benefit of any official or employee of any government or to any other 

person which would violate the laws or regulations of any country, including, without limitation, the United States of America, having 

jurisdiction over you, the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries. 

  

8. AT-WILL EMPLOYMENT.  You should understand that your employment with the Company may be terminated by you or 

the Company at any time and for any reason.  No provision of this Agreement or any other agreement with the Company shall be 

construed to create a promise of employment for any specific period of time.  This Agreement supersedes in its entirety any and all prior 

agreements and understandings concerning your employment relationship with the Company, whether written or oral. 

  

9. TERMINATION. 

  

a.   With or without cause, you and the Company may each terminate this Agreement at any time after thirty (30) days 

advance written notice, and the Company will be obligated to pay you the compensation and expenses due up to the 

date of your Separation from Service.  Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, the Company will pay to you an 

amount equal to the Base Salary plus target annual bonus as determined by the Board for the year in which Separation 

from Service occurs (the “Separation Payment”) if you incur a Separation from Service due to your termination by the 

Company without “Cause” and shall also provide the benefits described in Section 9.b. below, and immediately 

accelerate by twelve (12) months the vesting of all outstanding Company restricted stock and options exercisable for 

Company Stock then held by you, with all vested Company options held by you (including accelerated options) 

remaining exercisable for a period of twelve (12) months following your date of Separation from Service, in exchange 

for a full and complete release of claims against the Company, its affiliates, officers and directors in a form reasonably 

acceptable to the Company (the “Release”),  which Release has become irrevocable.  For purposes of this provision, 

“Cause” means your (i) conviction of, or plea of nolo contendere to, a felony or any other crime involving moral 

turpitude; (ii) fraud on or misappropriation of any funds or property of the Company or any of its affiliates, customers 

or vendors; (iii)  willful violation of any applicable law, rule or regulation (other than minor traffic violations or 

similar offenses), or breach of fiduciary duty; (iv) willful failure to perform your responsibilities in the best interests of 

the Company or any of its affiliates; (v) illegal use or distribution of drugs; (vi) material violation of any rule, 

regulation, procedure or policy of the Company or any of its affiliates; or (vii) material breach of any provision of this 

Agreement or any other employment, non-disclosure, non-competition, non-solicitation or other similar agreement 

executed by you for the benefit of the Company or any of its affiliates, all as determined by the Board or the 

Company’s affiliate (as the case may be), which determination will be conclusive.  The Separation Payment is 

intended to qualify as separation pay due to involuntary Separation from Service under Treasury 

Regulation §1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii).  To the extent the Separation Payment, or any portion thereof, so qualifies or is 

otherwise exempt from the requirements of Section 409A, such amount shall be paid in 12 equal monthly installments 

on the last day of each of the first 12 months following the month of your Separation from Service, subject to the 

Release becoming irrevocable.  If all or any portion of the Separation Payment does not qualify as separation pay due 

to involuntary Separation from Service under Treasury Regulation §1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii) and is not otherwise exempt 

from the requirements of Section 409A such amount shall be paid as follows:  (a) if you are not a Specified Employee, 

such amount shall be paid in 12 equal monthly installments on the last day of each of the first 12 months following the 

month of your Separation from Service or (b) if you are a Specified Employee, such amount shall be paid in 6 monthly 

installments beginning the date that is six months following the date of your Separation from Service (and the first 

payment shall include all amounts that would have been paid to you earlier under this section had you not been a 

Specified Employee).  For purposes of this Agreement, the terms “ Separation from Service ” and “ Specified 

Employee ” have the meanings ascribed to those terms in Section 409A. 
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b.   If (i) your employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without “Cause” as described in Section 9(a), 

(ii) you are an active participant in the Company’s group medical plan (the “Group Medical Plan”) on the date of your 

employment terminates, (iii) you timely elect to continue that Group Medical Plan coverage under section 4980B of 

the Code (“COBRA Continuation Coverage”), and (iv) you execute and do not revoke the Release, the Company will 

reimburse you, the excess, if any, of the amount you pay to the Company for such COBRA Continuation Coverage for 

up to the first 12 months you maintain such COBRA Continuation Coverage, above the amount of the applicable 

premium that you would have paid for comparable coverage during such 12 month period if you had remained an 

employee of the Company during such 12 month period.  Any reimbursements by the Company to you required under 

this Section 9.b shall be made on the last day of each month you pay the amount required by this Section 9.b to the 

Company for such COBRA Continuation Coverage, for up to the first 12 months of COBRA Continuation 

Coverage.  If you are a Specified Employee and the benefits specified in this Section 9.b are taxable to you and not 

otherwise exempt from Section 409A, the following provisions shall apply to the reimbursement or provision of such 

benefits.  Any amounts to which you would otherwise be entitled under this Section 9.b during the first six months 

following the date of your Separation from Service shall be accumulated and paid to you on the date that is six months 

following the date of your Separation from Service.  Except for any reimbursements under the applicable group health 

plan that are subject to a limitation on reimbursements during a specified period, the amount of expenses eligible for 

reimbursement under this Section 9.b, or in-kind benefits provided, during your taxable year shall not affect the 

expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other taxable year of yours.  Any 

reimbursement of an expense described in this Section 9.b shall be made on or before the last day of your taxable year 

following your taxable year in which the expense was incurred.  Your right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits 

pursuant to this Section 9.b shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.  Subject to your Group 

Medical Plan COBRA Coverage Continuation rights under section 4980B of the Code, the benefits listed in this 

Section 9.b shall be reduced to the extent benefits of the same type are received by you, your spouse or any eligible 

dependent from any other person during such period, and provided, further, that you shall have the obligation to notify 

the Company that you or they are receiving such benefits. 

  

c.   Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, if you have not delivered to the Company an 

executed Release, which Release has become irrevocable, on or before the sixtieth (60th) day after the date of your 

Separation from Service, you shall forfeit all of the payments and benefits described in this Section 9 and shall be 

obligated to repay any such amounts (or the value thereof) that were provided prior to such time. 
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10. EFFECT OF WAIVER. The waiver by either party of the breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate as or 

be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach thereof. 

  

11. NOTICE. Any and all notices referred to herein will be sufficient if furnished in writing at the addresses specified on the 

signature page hereto or, if to the Company, to the Company’s address as specified in filings made by the Company with the U.S. 

Securities and Exchange Commission. 

  

12. GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement will be interpreted in accordance with, and the rights of the parties hereto will be 

determined by, the laws of the State of Texas without reference to that state’s conflicts of laws principles. 

  

13. ASSIGNMENT. The rights and benefits of the Company under this Agreement will be transferable, and all the covenants 

and agreements hereunder shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by or against, its successors and assigns.  Your duties and 

obligations under this Agreement are personal and therefore you may not assign any right or duty under this Agreement without the prior 

written consent of the Company. 

  

14. ARBITRATION AND GOVERNING LAW. ANY UNRESOLVED DISPUTE OR CONTROVERSY BETWEEN YOU 

AND THE COMPANY ARISING UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE SETTLED 

EXCLUSIVELY BY ARBITRATION, CONDUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RULES OF THE AMERICAN 

ARBITRATION ASSOCIATION THEN IN EFFECT. THE PARTIES SHALL EQUALLY DIVIDE AND PAY THE 

ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS OF ANY ARBITRATION UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THE ARBITRATOR’S FEES. 

THE ARBITRATOR SHALL NOT HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO ADD TO, DETRACT FROM, OR MODIFY ANY PROVISION 

HEREOF. THE ARBITRATOR SHALL HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO ORDER REMEDIES WHICH YOU COULD OBTAIN IN A 

COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION. A DECISION BY THE ARBITRATOR SHALL BE IN WRITING AND WILL BE 

FINAL AND BINDING. JUDGMENT MAY BE ENTERED ON THE ARBITRATOR’S AWARD IN ANY COURT HAVING 

JURISDICTION. THE ARBITRATION PROCEEDING SHALL BE HELD IN HOUSTON, TEXAS, UNITED STATES OF 

AMERICA. NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, THE COMPANY SHALL BE ENTITLED TO SEEK INJUNCTIVE OR 

OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF FROM ANY COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION, WITHOUT THE NEED TO RESORT TO 

ARBITRATION IN THE EVENT THAT YOU VIOLATE SECTIONS 5, 6 OR 7 OF THIS AGREEMENT. THIS AGREEMENT 

SHALL IN ALL RESPECTS BE CONSTRUED ACCORDING TO THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

  

15. MISCELLANEOUS. If any provision of this Agreement will be declared invalid or illegal, for any reason whatsoever, then, 

notwithstanding such invalidity or illegality, the remaining terms and provisions of the this Agreement shall remain in full force and 

effect in the same manner as if the invalid or illegal provision had not been contained herein. 
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16. ARTICLE HEADINGS. The article headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not 

affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. 

  

17. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall 

constitute one instrument. Facsimile execution and delivery of this Agreement is legal, valid and binding for all purposes. 

  

18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. Except as provided elsewhere herein, this Agreement sets forth the entire agreement of the parties 

with respect to its subject matter and supersedes all prior agreements, promises, covenants, arrangements, communications, 

representations or warranties, whether oral or written, by any officer, employee or representative of any party to this Agreement with 

respect to such subject matter.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, you expressly acknowledge that this Agreement 

replaces and supersedes that certain Consulting Agreement between you and the Company dated as of March 1, 2012 and that the 

Company has no further obligations to you pursuant to such agreement. 

  
 

[Remainder of Page Left Blank Intentionally] 
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If you are in agreement with the terms set forth herein, please sign below. The offer set forth herein is in effect until the close 

of business at our Houston, Texas office on March 5, 2013. 

  

  Yours truly,   

      

  CAMAC ENERGY INC.   

        

Date By: /s/ Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal   

    Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal   

    Chief Executive Officer   

        

 
 

Agreed and Accepted this ___ day of March, 2013 
 

 ____________________________________ 

(Signature) 

  

__________________________________ 

(Print Name) 

  
 

  

Signature Page to Offer Letter 
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August 3, 2012 

  

CAMAC Petroleum Limited 

c/o CAMAC Energy Inc. 

Attn:  Chief Financial Officer 

1330 Post Oak Boulevard, Suite 2575 

Houston, Texas 77056 

  
 

Re: Extension of Maturity Date 

for the Promissory Note executed as of June 6, 2011 ("Note") between CAMAC Petroleum Limited (the "Borrower''), a company 

incorporated in the Federal Republic of Nigeria and 

a wholly owned subsidiary of CAMAC Energy Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Parent"), and ALLIED ENERGY PLC, a Niger

ian public limited company (the "Lender"). 

  
 

Dear Sirs: 

  

Pursuant to Section 14(b) of the Note, this letter serves as an amendment to the Note whereby the Maturity Date as defined in the Note 

shall be extended to October 15, 2013.  Accordingly, the definition of "Maturity Date" shall be revised to read as follows: 

  

"Maturity Date" means October 15, 2013. 

  

All other terms and conditions of the Note shall remain as provided in the Note.  Further terms not otherwise defined in this letter shall 

have the meanings as defined in the Note. 
 

Please indicate your acceptance of the terms of this letter by signing below. Sincerely, 
 

ALLIED ENERGY PLC, as Lender 

  

   /s/ Kamoru Lawal 

Kamoru Lawal, Director 

  

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED TO BY: 

CAMAC PETROLEUM LIMITED, as Borrower 

  

/s/ Jeffrey S. Courtright 

Jeffrey S. Courtright, Director 
 
 

 

 
 

  

Plot 1649, Olosa Street I Victoria Island, Lagos, Nigeria I Tel: +234 1  4603357-91 I Fax: +234 1 2704271 

Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal, Chairman 

Kamoru A. Lawal, 

Mickey Lawal,,Segum Omidele, Alhaji Ahmadu Abubakar ,Kio Clement Bestmann, Mohammed Nasir Umar, HRH Serena-Dokubo S

piff 

Directors  
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March 25, 2013 

  

CAMAC Petroleum Limited 

  

c/o CAMAC Energy Inc. 

  

Attn:  Chief Financial Officer 

  

1330 Post Oak Blvd., Suite 2250 

  

Houston, Texas 77056 

  

Re: Extension of Maturity Date for the Promissory Note executed as of June 6, 2011 ("Note") between CAMAC Petroleum Limited 

(the "Borrower"), a company incorporated in the Federal Republic of Nigeria and a wholly owned subsidiary of CAMAC Energy 

Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Parent"), and Allied Energy Plc, a Nigerian public limited company (the "Lender"). 
 

Dear Sirs: 

  

Pursuant to Section 14 (b) of the Note, this letter serves as an amendment to the Note, whereby the Maturity Date, as defined in the 

Note shall be extended to July 15, 2014. Accordingly, the definition of "Maturity Date" shall be revised to read as follows: 

  

"Maturity Date" means July 15, 2014. 

  

All other terms and conditions of the Note shall remain as provided in the Note. Further terms not otherwise defined in this 

letter shall have the meanings as defined in the Note. 
 

Please indicate your acceptance of the terms of this letter by signing below. 
 

Sincerely, 

  

ALLIED Energy Plc, as Lender 

  

/s/ Kamoru Lawal 

  

Kamoru Lawal, Director 

  

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED TO BY: 

  

CAMAC Petroleum Limited, as Borrower 

  

/s/ Jeffery S. Courtright 

  

Jeffrey S. Courtright, Director 

  

  

Plot 1649, Olosa Street I Victoria Island, Lagos, Nigeria I Tel: +234 1 4603357-9 I Fax: +234 1 2704271 

Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal, Chairman 

Kamoru A. Lawal, Mickey Lawal, Segum Omidele, Alhaji Ahmadu Abubakar, Kio Clement Bestmann, , Mohammed Nasir Umar, HRH 

Serena-Dokubo Spiff 

Directors 
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TECHNICAL  SERVICES AGREEMENT 

  
 

 

 

THIS TECHNICAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is by and between ALLIED ENERGY PLC, a 

Nigerian company ("Allied"), and CAMAC PETROLEUM LIMITED, a Nigerian company ("CPL") (each a "Party" and 

collectively, the "Parties"), dated as of this lOth day of January, 2013 (the "Effective Date"). 

  
 

WITNESSETH 
 

WHEREAS, Allied owns a 97.5% interest in Oil Mining Leases 120 and  121 offshore Nigeria ("OML 120/121"), with 

production operations ongoing at the Oyo Field within  OML 120/121 (the "Assets"); and 

  
 

WHEREAS, by certain novation agreements, Allied has novated to CPL its rights and obligations (other than certain 

rights and obligations that, under Nigerian law, had to remain with Allied) under the production sharing agreement relating to the 

Assets as such rights and obligations existed immediately prior to such novations; and 

  
 

WHEREAS, CPL and its affiliates have certain technical personnel and expertise in the petroleum industry, specifically 

in the areas of geology and geophysics, reservoir engineering and management, engineering services, drilling and production 

management  and accounting; and 

  
 

WHEREAS, Allied, the operator of the Assets, has requested that CPL provide certain technical services relating to the 

Assets to facilitate the Parties' shared ownership and operation of the Assets. 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration  of the premises, and the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, the 

Parties agree as follows: 

  

ARTICLE I 

INTERPRETATION 
 

Unless the context requires otherwise: (a) the gender (or lack of gender) of all words used in this Agreement includes the 

masculine, feminine, and neuter; (b) references to an  "Article," and "Section" or "subsection" refer to an article, section or 

subsection of this Agreement, unless the context requires otherwise; (c) the word "includes" and its derivatives means "includes, but 

is not limited to" and corresponding derivative expressions; (d) the term "cost" includes expense, and the term "expense" includes 

cost; (e) the terms defined herein include the plural as well as the singular and vice versa; (f) references to money refer to legal 

currency of the United States of America; (g) no construction shall be given to the fact or presumption that one party had a greater or 

lessor hand in drafting this Agreement; (h) examples shall not be construed to limit, expressly or by implication, the matter they 

illustrate; (i) a defined term has its defined meaning throughout this Agreement and each Appendix, Exhibit and Schedule to this 

Agreement, regardless of whether it appears before or after the place where it is defined; (j) each Exhibit or Schedule to this 

Agreement is a part of this Agreement, but if there is any conflict or inconsistency between the main body of this Agreement and any 

Exhibit or Schedule, the provisions of the main body  of this Agreement  shall prevail;  (k) the headings and titles herein are for 

convenience only and shall have no significance in the interpretation hereof; (1) whenever this Agreement refers to a number of 

days, such number shall refer to calendar days unless Business Days are specified; and (m) if a term is defined as one part of speech 

(such as a noun), it shall have a corresponding meaning when used as another part of speech (such as a verb). 
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ARTICLE II 

SERVICES 
 

Section 2.1  Scope and Quality.   Pursuant to the terms hereof, CPL agrees to provide for the benefit of Allied for the 

term hereof all of the services described herein (each  service,  a " Service" , and, collectively, the "Services") at the type, level and 

quality currently performed by CPL with respect to the Assets until the termination of this Agreement. Without limiting  the 

foregoing, CPL agrees to provide the following Services: (a) geological and geophysical; (b) engineering services; (c) reservoir 

engineering and management; (d) drilling and production management; (e) accounting. The functions to be performed and the 

personnel and positions to be allocated to the performance of the Services are described more fully in Annex A hereto. 

  

Section 2.2  Information  Necessary   to  Perform  the   Services. Allied shall promptly provide any information, if 

such information is in Allied's possession or reasonably obtainable by Allied, and reasonable assistance necessary or reasonably 

requested  to enable CPL to perform  the Services. 

  

Section 2.3  Manner  of  Performance. CPL agrees that it shall cause CPL's personnel providing the Services to 

perform such Services with substantially the same degree of quality, care, skill, confidentiality and diligence with which  CPL's 

personnel perform similar services for CPL, and no less than such degree of quality, care, skill, confidentiality and diligence as is 

consistent with local industry standards and in accordance  with normal  standards  of professional  practice.  CPL shall provide the 

Services in accordance with the reasonable instructions provided by Allied's representatives, and CPL shall be entitled to rely upon 

any written or oral instructions received from such representatives. 

  

Section 2.4  Relationship of Parties.  Allied and CPL shall act as independent contractors, and nothing herein shall at 

any time be construed to create the relationship of employer  and employee, partnership, principal and agent, broker or finder, or 

joint  venturers  as between  Allied and CPL. Except as expressly provided herein, no party shall have any right or authority, and no 

party shall attempt, to enter into any contract, commitment, or agreement or  incur  any  debt  or liability of any nature, in the name 

or on behalf of the other party. 

  

Section 2.5  Service Limitation. Provided that  CPL continues to provide  the  scope and quality of Services in the 

manner as set forth in this Agreement, CPL shall not be obligated to hire any additional employees or retain or acquire any outside or 

additional assistance, equipment, computer programs or data to enable CPL to provide the Services. In the event CPL retains or 

obtains additional outside personnel or equipment in order to continue providing the Services previously provided by CPL employee 

(e.g., in the event CPL replaces an employee with a 

contractor),  Allied  shall  not  be  required  to  reimburse   CPL  for  any  corresponding   additional expenses incurred by CPL 

with respect thereto until such time as the Parties may adjust the Fee (as defined below) payable in their next quarterly review. 
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Section 2.6 Payments. CPL shall not make any payment on behalf of Allied  unless Allied has previously furnished 

CPL sufficient cash to make such payment and Allied has been notified in writing of the payment required and the purpose thereof 

and Allied has authorized CPL in writing to make such payment. 

  
 

Section 2.7 Fees. Allied shall perform the Services in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.1 for the monthly fee 

specified in Section 3.1 and reimbursement of out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Allied in accordance with Section 3.2. 

The monthly service fee to be invoiced by CPL and payable by Allied pursuant to Section 3.1, during the term of this Agreement 

shall hereinafter be referred to as the "Fee." In no event, however, does Allied or CPL, represent or warrant, either expressly or 

implied, that the actual Fees payable as agreed to by the Parties shall reflect either: (a) CPL's actual direct overhead and allocated 

indirect overhead costs incurred with respect to providing or performing the Services; or (b) any other formula or method of 

calculation. 

  

ARTICLE III 

CHARGES FOR SERVICES 

  

Section 2.1    Scope and Quality.   Pursuant to the terms hereof, CPL agrees to provide for the benefit of Allied for the 

term hereof all of the services described herein (each  service,  a " Service" , and, collectively, the "Services") at the type, level and 

quality currently performed by CPL with respect to the Assets until the termination of this Agreement. Without limiting  the foregoing, 

CPL agrees to provide the following Services: (a) geological and geophysical; (b) engineering services; (c) reservoir engineering and 

management; (d) drilling and production management; (e) accounting. The functions to be performed and the personnel and positions to 

be allocated to the performance of the Services are described more fully in Annex A hereto. 

  Section 3.2  Reimbursement. Subject to Section 2.4 above, during the term of this Agreement, Allied shall reimburse 

CPL for all out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by CPL in connection with performing the Services hereunder, including all 

reasonable attorneys' fees, consultants' fees, filing fees, travel expenses, long-distance charges, costs of maintaining records pursuant 

to Section 4.1, photocopying, delivery charges and similar  costs  and  expenses  incurred while providing the Services or causing 

same to be provided. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Allied shall not be responsible for any single 

expense in excess of $20,000.00 without its prior written approval; provided that if Allied  does not  authorize  such expense,  CPL 

shall be relieved of providing the applicable Services directly related thereto. 
 

Section 3.3 Invoice and Payment. CPL shall invoice Allied monthly in arrears for the Fee under Section 3.1 and for 

out-of-pocket costs and expenses  under  Section  3.2  that  CPL  incurs during the preceding calendar month. Each invoice shall be 

due and payable ten days after the date of delivery thereof to Allied. 

  

The monthly service Fee to be paid pursuant to Section 3.1 is inclusive of any withholding taxes. Allied shall withhold 

sums from payments to be made by Allied to CPL to the extent that such withholding is required by applicable law, orders, rules or 

directions of any competent taxing authority.  Allied shall provide  CPL with an official government receipt for any and all such 

sums withheld by Allied. 

  

Section 3.4 Previous Fees.  In addition to the payments to be made under  Sections 3.1 and 3.2 above, CEI shall also 

invoice Allied the total amount of Fees that would have been due under Section 3.1 between September 1, 2012 and the Effective 

Date ifthis Agreement had been in effect on September 1, 2012. This amount shall be paid to CEI by Allied following the Effective 

Date upon invoice by CEI. 
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  ARTICLE IV 

RECORDS AND AUDITS 

  
 

Section 4.1 Records  Maintenance   and  Audits.  For a period of one year following termination of this Agreement, 

CPL shall maintain records and other evidence sufficient to accurately and properly reflect the performance of the Services 

hereunder and the amounts due CPL determined in accordance with Article III. Allied or its Representatives shall have access at all 

reasonable times to such records for the purpose of auditing and verifying the accuracy  of the invoices submitted by CPL regarding 

such amounts due CPL. Each invoice shall be subject to audit only once by Allied. Any such audits performed by or on behalf of 

Allied shall be at Allied's sole cost and expense. Allied shall have the right to audit CPL's books for a period of one year after the 

termination of this Agreement, except in those circumstances where contracts  by CPL with third parties limit the audit period to less 

than one year. 

  
 

Section 4.2 Disputed  Amounts. In the event of a good faith  dispute as to the amount and/or propriety of any invoices 

or any portions thereof submitted by CPL to Allied pursuant to Section 3.2, Allied shall pay all undisputed charges on such invoice, 

and shall be entitled to dispute any amount on such invoice in which case Allied shall promptly notify CPL in writing of such 

disputed amounts and the reasons each such charge is disputed by Allied. CPL shall provide Allied sufficient records relating to the 

disputed charge so as to enable the Parties to resolve the dispute. In the event the Parties are unable to resolve the dispute within 30 

days after the invoice becomes due, the matter shall be submitted to arbitration as set forth in Section 10.2 of this Agreement. The 

fees and expenses related to such resolution of the dispute shall be borne by CPL and Allied in inverse proportion  as they may 

prevail on matters resolved through arbitration, which proportionate allocations shall also be determined through arbitration at the 

time the arbitration determination is rendered on the merits of the matter submitted. In the event the arbitration determination is that 

Allied should have paid the disputed amount, in addition to paying the disputed amount to CPL, Allied agrees to pay interest on the 

disputed amount from the date the dispute  amount  was originally due to CPL until paid by Allied, which interest shall be calculated 

daily at the Agreed Rate.  For purposes of this Agreement, the "Agreed Rate" shall be LIBOR plus 2.0%. 
 

Section 4.3 Undisputed Amounts. Any statement or payment not disputed in writing by either Party within one year of 

the date of such statement shall be considered final and no longer subject to adjustment. 

  

ARTICLE V 

CONFIDENTIALITY 
 

Each party acknowledges that in connection with its performance under this Agreement, it may gain access to 

confidential material and information which is identified by the other Party as confidential and proprietary to the other Party. Each Party 

agrees to maintain the confidentiality of all such information as provided in the Purchase Agreement. 

  

ARTICLE VI TERM; 

TERMINATION 

  
 

This Agreement shall commence upon the Effective Date and shall expire no later than five (5) 

years following the Effective Date unless, upon 30 days' prior written notice, this Agreement is terminated sooner by either Party. In 

addition, Allied shall have the  right,  upon  30 days'  prior written notice, to terminate any ofthe Services hereunder without terminating 

this Agreement (and retaining the remaining Services). Upon termination of this Agreement, CPL shall be entitled  to payment for all 

Services performed and expenses incurred pursuant to this Agreement prior to the effective date of termination. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing,  Allied's  obligations  arising  under Article IX shall survive any termination hereof. 
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ARTICLE VII 

LIMITATIONS 

  
 

Section 7.1 Disclaimer of Warranties. CPL, ITS AFFILIATES AND ITS AND THEIR DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, 

EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS (THE "CAMAC INDEMNIFIED PARTIES") SHALL NOT BE LIABLE TO ALLIED FOR ANY 

DAMAGES AS A RESULT OF THEIR OR THEIR SUBCONTRACTORS' PERFORMANCE OF, OR FAILURE TO PERFORM, 

ANY OF THE SERVICES REQUIRED HEREUNDER, INCLUDING THOSE THAT RESULT FROM THE NEGLIGENCE OF 

ANY CAMAC INDEMNIFIED PARTY, OTHER THAN BY THE GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF 

ANY OF THE CAMAC INDEMNIFIED PARTIES OR THEIR SUBCONTRACTORS. CPL DOES NOT MAKE ANY 

WARRANTY AS TO THE RESULTS OF ITS SERVICES AND HEREBY DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR 

IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO ITS PERFORMANCE UNDER THIS  AGREEMENT. 

  
 

Section 7.2 Limitation of Liability.  CPL SHALL HAVE NO LIABILITY FOR THE SERVICES PROVIDED 

HEREUNDER UNLESS SUCH SERVICES ARE PROVIDED IN A MANNER WHICH WOULD EVIDENCE GROSS 

NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT ON THE PART OF ANY OF THE CAMAC INDEMNIFIED PARTIES OR 

THEIR SUBCONTRACTORS. NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY 

INDIRECT,  SPECIAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES RESULTING FROM THE PERFORMANCE OF SERVICES OR 

FROM THE BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT. 

  
 

ARTICLE VIII 

FORCE MAJEURE 

  
 

Section 8.1 Excused  Performance. The  Parties shall not be subject to any liability, including, but not limited to, any 

liability of one Party to the other Party, imposed by virtue of the provisions herein, for failure to comply with any of the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement, excluding any term or condition relating to the payment of money, during the time and to the extent 

that such failure shall be due to (a) provisions of Law, or to the operation or effect of  rules, regulations or orders promulgated by any 

Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over  the Parties; (b) to any demand or requisition of any government having 

jurisdiction over the Parties; (c) to the action, judgment or decree of any court; (d) floods, storms, lightening, earthquakes, washouts, 

high water, fires, acts of God or public enemies, wars (declared or undeclared), blockades, epidemics, riots, insurrections, strikes, 

labor disputes (it is understood that nothing herein shall be required to force any  Party to settle any strike or labor dispute referred to 

in this Section 8.1), explosions, breakdown or failure of plant machinery, failure of suppliers to deliver material or of carriers to 

transport the same; or (e) to any other cause (except financial), whether similar or dissimilar, over which the Parties, respectively, 

have no reasonable control and which forbid  or prevent the performance of all or any part of the conditions of this Agreement (such 

causes being herein referred to as " Force Majeure" ). 

  

Section 8.2 Reasonable Efforts. Notwithstanding   Section  8.1,  every  reasonable  effort will be made by each Party to 

avoid delay or suspension of any work or acts to be performed by such Party hereunder due to Force Majeure.  Further, should Force 

Majeure prevent performance by a Party of its obligations hereunder, every reasonable effort shall be expended by such Party, to 

remove or remedy the cause of the Force Majeure or to find alternative means to accomplish that which is prevented by Force 

Majeure. The Parties shall cooperate with each other to find ways to remove or overcome the Force Majeure or to circumvent such 

Force Majeure. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall be required to force any Party to settle any strike or labor 

dispute. 

  

ARTICLE IX 

INDEMNIFICATION 
 

ALLIED AGREES TO INDEMNIFY, HOLD HARMLESS AND DEFEND THE CAMAC INDEMNIFIED PARTIES 

FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL LIABILITIES, CLAIMS, LOSSES, DAMAGES, COSTS, EXPENSES, CAUSES OF 

ACTION, OR JUDGMENTS OF ANY KIND OR CHARACTER (INCLUDING THOSE ARISING FROM, RELATED TO OR 

CAUSED, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, BY THE SOLE, JOINT, CONCURRENT OR COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE OF 

CPL OR ANY OTHER CAMAC INDEMNIFIED PARTIES, INCLUDING ANY INTEREST, PENALTY, REASONABLE 

ATTORNEYS' FEES, AND OTHER COSTS AND EXPENSES INCURRED IN CONNECTION THEREWITH OR IN THE 

DEFENSE THEREOF), TO THE EXTENT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OR ARISING OUT OF ANY CLAIMS BY OR LIABILITIES 

OR OBLIGATIONS TO, ANY THIRD PARTY ARISING OUT OF, IN CONNECTION WITH OR RESULTING FROM ANY 

OF THE SERVICES PROVIDED BY CPL OR ANY OTHER CAMAC INDEMNIFIED PARTIES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, 

EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT ARISING OUT OF, IN CONNECTION WITH OR RESULTING FROM CPL'S OR ANY OTHER 

CAMAC INDEMNIFIED PARTY'S OR ANY OF THEIR SUBCONTRACTORS' GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL 

MISCONDUCT. 
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ARTICLE X 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 10.1 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered 

one and the same agreement, and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the Parties and 

delivered to the other Party.  

  

Section 10.2 Governing Law; Jurisdiction. 

  

(a) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY SHALL BE GOVERNED 

BY AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO 

PRINCIPLES THEREOF RELATING TO CONFLICTS OF LAW RULES THAT WOULD DIRECT THE APPLICATION OF THE 

LAWS OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION. 

  

(b) ANY DISPUTE ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING ANY 

QUESTION REGARDING ITS EXISTENCE, VALIDITY OR TERMINATION, AND WHETHER CONTRACTUAL, TORTIOUS, 

EQUITABLE, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE), SHALL BE REFERRED TO AND FINALLY RESOLVED BY BINDING 

ARBITRATION, IN HOUSTON, TEXAS, ADMINISTERED BY THE AMERICAN ARBITRATION ASSOCIATION IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH ITS COMMERCIAL ARBITRATION RULES, WHICH RULES ARE DEEMED TO BE INCORPORATED 

BY REFERENCE INTO  THIS CLAUSE, BY A SINGLE ARBITRATOR APPOINTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SUCH RULES. 

JUDGMENT ON THE AWARD RENDERED BY THE ARBITRATOR MAY BE ENTERED IN ANY COURT HAVING 

JURISDICTION THEREOF. 

  
 

Section 10.3 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with all Schedules and Exhibits attached thereto, constitutes 

the entire agreement between the Parties pertaining to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements, understandings, 

negotiations and discussions, whether oral or written, of the Parties regarding the subject matter hereof. 

  

Section 10.4 Notices. Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, all notices required or permitted 

hereunder shall be in writing and deemed sufficiently given for all purposes hereof if (i) delivered in person, by courier (e.g., by 

Federal Express) or by registered or certified United States Mail to the Person to be notified, with receipt obtained, or (ii) sent by 

telecopy, telefax or other facsimile or electronic transmission, with "answer back" or other "advice of receipt" obtained, in each case 

to the appropriate address or number as set forth below. Each notice shall be deemed effective on receipt by the addressee as 

aforesaid;  provided that,  notice received by telex, telecopy, telefax or other facsimile or electronic transmission after 5:00p.m. or 

on a day that is not a Business Day at the location of the addressee of such notice shall be deemed received on the first Business Day 

following the date of such electronic receipt. 

  

Notices to Allied shall be addressed as follows : 

  
 

  

  Allied Energy Plc 

  Plot 1649 Olosa Street 

  CAMAC House 

    

  Victoria Island, Lagos Nigeria 

  ATTN:  Managing Director 

    

  With copy to: 

  Allied Energy Plc 

  c/o CAMAC International Corporation 

  1330 Post Oak Blvd. 

  Suite 2200 

  Houston, Texas 77056 

  ATTN:  President 

    

  

or at such other address or to such other telecopy, telefax or other facsimile or electronic transmission number and to the attention of such 

other Person as Allied may designate by written notice to CPL. 
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Notices to CPL shall be addressed to: 

  

  CAMAC Petroleum Limited 

  Plot 1649, Olosa Street 

  CAMAC House 

  Victoria Island, Lagos Nigeria 

  ATTN:  Managing Director 

    

  With copy to: 

  CAMAC Energy Inc. 

  1330 Post Oak Blvd. 

  Suite 2250 

  Houston, Texas 77056 

  ATTN:  General Counsel 

  

or at such other address or to such other telecopy, telefax or other facsimile or electronic transmission number and to the attention of such 

other Person as CPL may designate by written notice to Allied. 

  

Section 10.5 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and 

their respective successors and assigns;  provided, however,  that the respective rights and obligations of the Parties shall not be 

assignable or delegable by either Party without the express written consent of the non-assigning or non-delegating Party. All 

assignments permitted or consented to hereunder (i) shall be, and by their terms shall expressly provide that they are, subject to the 

rights of the other Party under this Agreement, (ii) shall require that the assignee agree to be bound by and perform all obligations of 

the assigning Party hereunder with respect to the interest so assigned, and (iii) shall not release the assigning Party or its predecessor 

Parties in interest  under  this  Agreement   from  their  obligations  under  this  Agreement. Any  purported assignment of this 

Agreement in whole or in part without the written consent of the non-assigning Party or Parties where required by the provisions of 

this Section shall be void. 
 

Section 10.6 Amendments   and  Waivers. This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by an instrument or 

instruments in writing signed by the Party against whom enforcement of any such modification or amendment is sought. Either Party 

may, only by an instrument in writing, waive compliance by the other Party with any term or provision of this Agreement on the part 

of such other Party to be performed or complied with. The waiver by any Party of a breach of any term or provision of this 

Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach. 

  

Section 10.7 Agreement  for the  Parties'  Benefit  Only. This Agreement is for the sole benefit of CPL, Allied and 

their respective successors and assigns as permitted herein and no other Person shall be entitled to enforce this Agreement, rely on 

any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained herein, receive any rights hereunder or  be a third-party beneficiary 

of this Agreement. 

  

Section 10.8 Attorneys' Fees. The prevailing Party in any legal proceeding or arbitration brought under or to enforce this 

Agreement shall be additionally entitled to recover court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees (including  reasonable charges for the 

time of the prevailing Party's in house attorneys) from the non-prevailing Party. 

  

Section 10.9 Severability. If any term, provision or condition of this Agreement, or any application thereof, is held 

invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any Law,  this Agreement shall be reformed to the extent necessary to conform, 

in each case consistent with the intention of the Parties, to such Law, and to the extent such term, provision or condition cannot be so 

reformed, then such term, provision or condition (or such invalid, illegal or unenforceable application thereof) shall be deemed 

deleted from (or prohibited under) this Agreement, as the case may be, and the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining 

terms, provisions and conditions contained herein (and any other application of such term, provision or condition)  shall not in any 

way be affected or impaired thereby. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of 

being enforced, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the Parties as 

closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated hereby are fulfilled to the extent possible. 
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IN WITNESS  WHEREOF, this Agreement  has been signed by or on behalf of each of the Parties as of the day first 

written above. 

  

  ALLIED ENERGY PLC   

        

  By: /s/ Kamoru Lawal   

    Name:  Kamoru Lawal   

    Title:  Director   

        

    CAMAC PETROLEUM  LIMITED   

        

  By: /s/ Jeffrey S. Courtright   

    Name:  Jeffrey S. Courtright   

    Title:  Director   
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Annex A 
 

  

TSA ACTIVITIES 

  

Production Operations 

  

●   General operational support and field operations supervision 

  

●   Wells  surveillance and optimization 

  

●   Partners and government relations activities on technical issues. 

  

●   Hydrocarbon accounting 

  

●   Prepare for, attend and present Allied's position at yearly program presentation and yearly reserves submission to DPR 

  

●   Design program (with 3rd parties) for production optimization 

  

●   Supervise third party activities on the FPSO 

  

●   Subsea systems surveillance 

  

●   Manage interface with BAB 

  

●   Coordination of all statutory compliance activities (permits, approval, inspection, audit etc) 

  

●   Off take Logistics, Administration & Licensing. 

  

●   Preparation of all required reports 

  

Technical 

  
 

●   Field and reservoir surveillance 

  

●   Provide Field Review, if necessary 

  

●   Data gathering, clarification and working closely with a third part reserves evaluation company to provide the year-end 

reserves. 

  

●   Review of work and reports from the third party reserves Evaluation Company 

  

●   Prepare for, attend and present Allied's position at third parties meeting (financial institutions, parties interested in 

farming-in, data room exercise, Workshops/TECOM/FINCOM and MACOM) 

  

●   Provide necessary operational support for procurement activities 

  

●   Preparation of all required reports 
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Field Development Activities 

  

●   Geophysical, geological and engineering evaluation leading to location identification 

  

●   Generating well proposal & AFE 

  

●   Provide necessary operational support during drilling and project management 

  

●   Carry out well evaluation  post drilling 

  

●   Provide end of well report 

  

●   Provide Support during Technical/Commercial negotiations and Contracting for new development 

  

Financial 

  

●   Review and analysis of invoices from vendors 

  

●   Provision of general accounting support to Allied 

  

●   Provision of necessary support to operations 

  

●   Preparation of all required financial reports 

  

 
  



Source: CAMAC Energy Inc., 10-K, April 15, 2013 Powered by Morningstar Document Research. 
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use 
of this information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results. 

Exhibit 21.1 
 

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 
 

CAMAC Petroleum Limited 
 

CAMAC Energy Ltd. 
 

CAMAC Energy Kenya Limited 
 

CAMAC Energy Gambia A5 Ltd. 
 

CAMAC Energy Gambia A2 Ltd. 
 

CAMAC Sierra Leone Limited 
 

CAMAC Energy International Ltd. 
 

CAMAC Energy Ghana Limited  
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Exhibit 23.1 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

  

We have issued our report dated April 15, 2013, with respect to the consolidated financial statements  included in the Annual Report of 

CAMAC Energy, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012. We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said 

reports in the Registration Statements of CAMAC Energy, Inc. on Form S-3 (File No. 333-163869 and 333-167013) and on Form S-8 

(File No. 333-175294, 333-160737 and 333-152061). 

  

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP 

Houston, Texas 

April 15, 2013  
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Exhibit 23.2 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 

To: CAMAC Energy Inc. 
 

 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements No. 333-163869 and 333-167013 on Form S-3 and 

Registration Statements No. 333-160737 and 333-152061 on Form S-8 of CAMAC Energy Inc. (the “Company”) of our report dated 

March 15, 2012 relating to the financial as appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 

/s/ RBSM LLP 
 

New York, New York 

April 15, 2013  
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Exhibit 23.3 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PETROLEUM ENGINEERS AND GEOLOGISTS 
 

  

March 19, 2013 
 
 

 

Mr. Segun Omidele 

CAMAC Energy, Inc. 

1330 Post Oak Blvd. Suite 2550 

Houston, Texas 77056 

  

  

CONSENT OF GAFFNEY, CLINE & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

As independent reserve engineers for CAMAC Energy Inc. (CAMAC), Gaffney, Cline & Associates, Inc. (GCA) hereby 

confirms that it has granted and not withdrawn its consent to the inclusion of information contained in our report as of December 31, 

2012, and to the inclusion of our report as an exhibit in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, of 

CAMAC Energy Inc. and in the registration statements (File No. 333-163869 and File No. 333-167013) on Form S-3 and (File No. 

333-152061, File No. 333-160737, and File No. 333-175294) on Form S-8. 
 

Very truly yours, 
 

GAFFNEY, CLINE & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

 

/s/ Rawdon J.H. Seager 

Technical Director  
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Exhibit 31.1 

  

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. § 7241 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

  

I, Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal, certify that: 

  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of CAMAC Energy Inc.; 

  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 

respect to the period covered by this report; 

  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present, in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 

this report; 

  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 

Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

  

  (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 

known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  

  (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 

the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  

  (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 

such evaluation; and 

  

  (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 

affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

  

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors: 

  

  (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial 

information; and 

  

  (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

  

Date:  April 15, 2013 /s/ Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal   

  Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal 

Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive Officer) 
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Exhibit 31.2 

  

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. § 7241 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 

I, Earl W. McNiel, certify that: 

  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of CAMAC Energy Inc.; 

  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 

respect to the period covered by this report; 

  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present, in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 

this report; 

  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 

Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

  

  (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 

known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  

  (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 

the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  

  (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 

such evaluation; and 

  

  (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 

affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

  

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors: 

  

  (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial 

information; and 

  

  (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

  

Date:  April 15, 2013 /s/ Earl W. McNiel   

  Earl W. McNiel 

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial 

Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer) 
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Exhibit 32.1 

  

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 

18 U.S.C. § 1350 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

  

In connection with the Annual Report of CAMAC Energy Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2012, 

as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal,  Chief Executive Officer of the 

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my 

knowledge: 

  

  (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

  

  (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 

operations of the Company. 

  

Date:  April 15, 2013 

  

/s/ DR. KASE LUKMAN LAWAL   

Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal   

Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive Officer) 
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Exhibit 32.2 

  

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 

18 U.S.C. § 1350 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 

In connection with the Annual Report of CAMAC Energy Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2012, 

as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Earl W. McNiel, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial 

Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my 

knowledge: 

  

  (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

  

  (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 

operations of the Company. 

  

Date:  April 15, 2013 

  

/s / EARL W. MCNIEL   

Earl W. McNiel   

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial 

Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer) 

  



Source: CAMAC Energy Inc., 10-K, April 15, 2013 Powered by Morningstar Document Research. 
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use 
of this information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results. 

Exhibit 99.1 
 

  Gaffney, 

  Cline & 
  Associates 

    

  
Gaffney, Cline 

& Associates, Inc. 

  
1300 Post Oak Blvd., Suite 

1000 

  Houston, TX  77056 

  
Telephone:  +1 713 850 

9955 

  www.gaffney-cline  .com 

    

 CMH/gjh/AH-12-2090.00/gcah.39.13      February 11, 2013 

  

Mr. Olanrewgju Dipeolu 

Reservoir Advisor 

CAMAC  Energy, Inc. 

1330 Post Oak Blvd. -Suite 2550 

Houston, Texas 77056 

  
 

Reserves and Revenue Assessment of the Oil and Gas Assets 

for the OYO Field, OML 120, Offshore Nigeria 

as of December 31, 2012 

  

Dear Mr. Dipeolu, 

  

This reserve statement has been prepared by Gaffney, Cline & Associates (GCA) and issued on February 11, 2013 at the 

request of CAMAC Energy, Inc. (CAMAC), operator of and 

nominal 30% interest owner in the Oyo Field, offshore Nigeria. Allied Energy holds a 70% nonoperated interest in the field. This report 

is intended for CAMAC's use in conjunction with reporting requests received from lending institution(s). 
 

GCA has conducted an independent assessment as of December 3:1, 2012, of the crude oil reserves of the Oyo Field in 

Nigeria. On the basis of technical and other information made available to GCA concerning this property, GCA hereby provides the 

reserve and Future  net revenue statement  given in the table below. 

  
 

Statement of Remaining Hydrocarbon Volumes and Net Revenue 

Oyo Field, Offshore Nigeria 

as of December 31, 2012 

  
 

Reserves   Gross Oil (MMBbl)   CAMAC Net Oil 

(MBbl) 

  CAMAC Total Gross 

Revenue, M$ 

  CAMAC Net Present 

Value (10%), M$ 

Proved Developed Producing   0.75              55           6,227           5,938 

Proved Undeveloped   15.17         3,043         83,820         59,774 

Total Proved   15.92         3,098         90,047         65,712 
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CMH/gjh/AH-12-2090 .00/gcah.39.13 Gaffney, 

CAMAC Energy Inc. Cline & 

  Associates 

  

Hydrocarbon liquid volumes represent crude oil estimated to be recovered during field separation and are reported in 

millions of stock tank barrels. Natural gas volumes are not reported as no gas is sold. Net reserves are the share of reserves attributed 

to CAMAC, comprised of cost oil, profit oil, and tax oil after deducting 12% government royalty payment. Monetary values are in 

thousands of United States dollars (M$). 

  
 

The estimates shown are for proved developed producing and proved undeveloped reserves and do not include probable or 

possible volumes. No value is included for interests in undeveloped acreage beyond those tracts identified as proved. The estimates 

for reserves and future revenue herein have not been adjusted for risk. 

  
 

Gross revenue is CAMAC's share of gross (100%) revenue from the properties after deduction for royalty and production 

sharing revenue paid to the Federal Republic of Nigeria. CAMAC net present value is after deduction for CAMAC's share of 

Petroleum Profits Tax and Education Tax, capital costs, abandonment costs, and operation costs but before consideration of income 

taxes. Future net revenue has been discounted at 10%. 

  
 

It should be clearly noted that the Net Present Values (NPVs) of future revenue potential of a petroleum property, such as 

those discussed in this report, do not represent a GCA opinion as to the market value of that property, nor any interest in it.  In 

assessing a likely market value, it would be necessary to take into account a number of additional factors including: reserves risk 

  

(i.e. that Proved Reserves may not be realized within the anticipated timeframe for their exploitation); perceptions of  economic and 

sovereign risk; potential upside; other benefits, encumbrances or charges that may pertain to a particular interest; and the 

competitive state of the market at the time. GCA has explicitly not taken such factors into account in deriving the reference NPVs 

presented herein. 
 

The economic tests for the December 31, 2012 reserve volumes were based on a prior twelve-month 

first-day-of-the-month average Brent price for crude of US$111.77/Bbl. The oil price has been adjusted upward by US$1.00 

to  US$112.77 for quality, transportation  fees, and/or any regional price differential as CAMAC reports that this is an appropriate 

average for sales in 2012. The oil price was held constant throughout. 

  
 

Future capital costs were derived from development plans prepared by CAMAC and consist of the drilling of Oyo No. 7, 

No. 8, and No. 9. Recent historical operating expense data were utilized as the basis for operating cost projections and provided by 

CAMAC . No inflation has been applied to capital or operating costs. GCA has found that CAMAC has projected sufficient capital 

investments and operating expenses to produce economically the projected volumes. 

  
 

CAMAC has the option to withhold their 30% share of operating expenses and capital investments and has historically 

done so with the exception of a workover in the Oyo No.5 well . CAMAC has advised GCA that they will continue this option 

through the drilling of Oyo No. 7 well and will assume their 30% participation in investment obligations at the time the Oyo No. 8 

well commences and continue to participate in all subsequent wells. This is anticipated to be first quarter-2014. 

  
 

For the purpose of this report, GCA did not perform any field visit inspection of the properties, nor were any inspections of 

the mechanical condition of the wells or facilities made. No investigation was made on possible environmental liability associated 

with the operation of these properties. 
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CMH/gjh/AH-12-2090 .00/gcah.39.13 Gaffney, 

CAMAC Energy Inc. Cline & 

  Associates 

  

It is GCA's opinion that the estimates of Proved reserves at December 31, 2012 are, in the aggregate, reasonable and the 

reserves categorization is appropriate and consistent with the definitions for reserves set out in 17 CFR Part 210 of Rule 4-10(a) of 

Regulation S-X of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) attached in Appendix I. 

  

GCA is not aware of any potential changes in regulations applicable to this field that could affect the ability of CAMAC to 

produce the estimated reserves. 

  

This assessment has been conducted within the context of GCA's understanding of CAMAC's petroleum property rights as 

represented by CAMAC management. GCA is not in a position to attest to property title, financial interest relationships or 

encumbrances thereon for any part of the appraised properties or interests. 

  

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating reserves and resources, and in projecting future production, 

development expenditures, operating expenses and cash flows. Oil and gas reserve engineering and resource assessment must be 

recognized as a subjective process of estimating subsurface accumulations of oil and gas that cannot be measured in an exact way. 

Estimates of oil and gas reserves or resources prepared by other parties may differ, perhaps materially, from those contained within 

this report. The accuracy of any reserve or resource estimate is a function of the quality of the available data and of engineering and 

geological interpretation. Results of drilling, testing and production that post-date the preparation of the estimates may justify 

revisions, some or all of which may be material. Accordingly, reserve and resource estimates are often different from the quantities 

of oil and gas that are ultimately recovered, and the timing and cost of those volumes that are recovered may vary from that assumed. 

  

For this assignment, GCA served as an independent reserve assessor. The firm's officers and employees have no direct or 

indirect interest holding(s) in the property unit(s) evaluated. GCA's remuneration was not in any way contingent on reported reserve 

or resource estimates. 

  

Finally, please note that GCA reserves the right to approve,  in advance, the use and context of the use of any results, 

statements or opinions expressed in this report. Such approval shall include, but not be confined to, statements or references in 

documents of a public or semi-public nature such as loan agreements, prospectuses, reserve statements, press releases etc. 

  

  Very truly yours,   

      

  GAFFNEY, CLINE & ASSOCIATES   

        

    /s/ C.M. Mike Holmgren   

    Project Manager   

        

    /s/ Rawdon J. H. Seager   

    Principal - Reservoir Engineering   

        

        

  

Attachments 

 SEC Reserve Definitions 
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U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (SEC) MODERNIZATION OF OIL 

AND GAS REPORTING1 

  
 

Oil and Gas Reserves Definitions and Reporting 

  
 

  

  (a) Definitions 

  
 

(1)           Acquisition of properties. Costs incurred to purchase, lease or otherwise acquire a property, including costs of 

lease bonuses and options to purchase or lease properties, the portion of costs applicable to minerals when land including 

mineral rights is purchased in fee, brokers' fees, recording fees, legal costs, and other costs incurred in acquiring 

properties. 

  
 

(2)           Analogous reservoir. Analogous reservoirs, as used in resources assessments, have similar rock and fluid 

properties, reservoir conditions (depth, temperature, and pressure) and drive mechanisms, but are typically at a more 

advanced stage of development than the reservoir of interest and thus may provide concepts to assist in the interpretation of 

more limited data and estimation of recovery. When used to support proved reserves, an "analogous reservoir" refers to a 

reservoir that shares the following characteristics with the reservoir of interest: 
 

  (i) Same  geological  formation  (but  not  necessarily  in  pressure  communication  with  the reservoir of interest); 

  

  (ii) Same environment of deposition; 

 
 

  (iii) Similar geological structure; and 

  

  (iv) Same drive mechanism. 

  

Instruction  to  paragraph  (a)(2): Reservoir  properties  must,  in  the  aggregate,  be  no  more favorable in the 

analog than in the reservoir of interest. 

  

(3)           Bitumen. Bitumen, sometimes referred to as natural bitumen, is petroleum in a solid or semi-solid state in natural 

deposits with a viscosity greater than 10,000 centipoise measured at original temperature in the deposit and atmospheric 

pressure, on a gas free basis. In its natural state it usually contains sulfur, metals, and other non-hydrocarbons . 

  

(4)           Condensate.  Condensate is a mixture of hydrocarbons  that exists in the gaseous phase at original reservoir 

temperature and pressure, but that, when produced, is in the liquid phase at surface pressure and temperature. 

  

(5)           Deterministic estimate. The method of estimating reserves or resources is called deterministic when a single value for each 

parameter (from the geoscience, engineering, or economic data) in the reserves calculation is used in the reserves estimation 

procedure. 

  

(6)           Developed oil and gas reserves. Developed oil and gas reserves are reserves of any category that can be expected 

to be recovered: 

  
 

  (i) Through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods or in which the cost of the required equipment is 

relatively minor compared to the cost of a new well; and 

  
 

  (ii) Through  installed  extraction  equipment  and  infrastructure  operational  at the  time  of  the reserves estimate if the 

extraction is by means not involving a well. 
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(7)           Development costs. Costs incurred to obtain access toproved reserves and to provide facilities for extracting, 

treating, gathering and storing the oil and gas. More specifically, development costs,  including depreciation  and 

applicable  operating  costs of support  equipment  and facilities and other costs of development activities, are costs 

incurred to: 

  
 
 
 

 
 

1   Extracted from 17 CFR Parts 210, 211, 229, and 249 [Release Nos. 33-8995; 34-59192; FR-78; File No. 87-15-08] RIN 

3235-AKOO]. 
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  (i) Gain access to and prepare well locations for drilling, including surveying well locations for the purpose of determining 

specific development drilling sites, clearing ground, draining, road building, and relocating public roads, gas lines, and 

power lines, to the extent necessary in developing the proved reserves. 

  

  (ii) Drill and equip development wells, development-type stratigraphic test wells, and service wells, including the costs of 

platforms and of well equipment such as casing, tubing, pumping equipment, and the wellhead assembly. 

 
 

  (iii) Acquire, construct, and install production facilities such as lease flow lines, separators, treaters, heaters, manifolds, 

measuring devices, and production storage tanks, natural gas cycling and processing plants, and central utility and 

waste disposal systems. 

  

  (iv) Provide improved recovery systems. 

  

(8)   Development project. A development project is the means by which petroleum resources are brought to the status of 

economically producible. As examples, the development of a single reservoir or field, an incremental development in a producing 

field, or the integrated development of  a group of several fields and associated facilities with a common ownership may constitute a 

development project. 

  

(9)   Development well. A well drilled within the proved area of an oil or gas reservoir to the depth of a stratigraphic horizon known 

to be productive. 

  

(10)   Economically producible. The term economically producible, as it relates to a resource, means a resource which generates 

revenue that exceeds, or is reasonably expected to exceed, the costs of the operation. The value of the products that generate revenue 

shall be determined at the terminal point of oil and gas producing activities as defined in paragraph (a)(16) of this section. 

  

(11)   Estimated ultimate recoverv (EUR). Estimated ultimate recovery is the sum of reserves remaining as of a given date and 

cumulative production as of that date. 

  

(12)           Exploration costs. Costs incurred in identifying areas that may warrant examination and in examining specific areas that 

are considered to have prospects of containing oil and gas reserves, including costs of drilling exploratory wells and exploratory-type 

stratigraphic test wells. Exploration costs may be incurred both before acquiring the related property (sometimes referred to in pail as 

prospecting costs) and after acquiring the property. Principal types of exploration costs, which include depreciation and applicable 

operating costs of support equipment and facilities and other costs of exploration activities, are: 

  

  (i) Costs of topographical, geographical and geophysical studies, rights of access to properties to conduct those studies, 

and salaries and other expenses of geologists, geophysical crews, and others conducting those studies. Collectively, 

these are sometimes referred to as geological and geophysical or "G&G" costs. 

  

  (ii) Costs of carrying and retaining undeveloped properties, such as delay rentals, ad valorem taxes on properties, legal 

costs for title defense, and the maintenance of land and lease records. 

  

  (iii) Dry hole contributions and bottom hole contributions. 

  

  (iv) Costs of drilling and equipping exploratory wells. 

 
 

  (v) Costs of drilling exploratory-type stratigraphic test wells. 

  

(13)           Exploratorv well. An exploratory well is a well drilled to find a new field or to find a new reservoir in a field previously 

found to be productive of oil or gas in another reservoir. Generally, an exploratory well is any well that is not a development well, an 

extension well, a service well, or a stratigraphic test well as those items are defined in this section. 
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(14)           Extension well.  An extension well is a well drilled to extend the limits of a known reservoir. 

  

(15)           Field. An area consisting of a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs all grouped on or related to the same individual 

geological structural feature and/or stratigraphic condition. There may be two or more reservoirs in a field which are separated 

vertically by intervening impervious strata, or laterally by local geologic barriers, or by both. Reservoirs that are associated by 

being in overlapping or adjacent fields may be treated as a single or common operational field. The geological terms "structural 

feature" and "stratigraphic condition" are intended to identify localized geological features as opposed to the broader terms of 

basins, trends , provinces, plays, areas-of-interest, etc. 

  

(16)   Oil and gas producing activities. 

  

  (i) Oil and gas producing activities include: 

  

  (A) The search for crude oil, including condensate and natural gas liquids, or natural gas ("oil and gas") in their 

natural states and original locations; 

  

  (B) The acquisition of property rights or properties for the purpose of further exploration or for the purpose of 

removing the oil or gas from such properties; 

  

  (C) The construction, drilling, and production activities necessary to retrieve oil and gas from their natural 

reservoirs, including the acquisition , construction , installation , and maintenance of field gathering and storage 

systems, such as: 

  

  (1) lifting the oil and gas to the surface; and 

  

  (2) Gathering, treating, and field processing (as in the case of processing gas to extract liquid hydrocarbons); 

and 

  

  (D) Extraction of saleable hydrocarbons, in the solid, liquid, or gaseous state, from oil sands, shale, coalbeds, or 

other nonrenewable natural resources which are intended to be upgraded into synthetic oil or gas, and activities 

undertaken with a view to such extraction. 

  

Instruction 1 to paragraph (a)(16)(i): The oil and gas production function shall be regarded as ending at a "terminal point", 

which is the outlet valve on the lease or field storage tank . If unusual physical or operational circumstances exist , it may 

be appropriate to regard the terminal point for the production function as: 

  

  a. The first point at which oil, gas, or gas liquids, natural or synthetic, are delivered to a main pipeline, a common carrier, 

a refinery , or a marine terminal; and 

  

  b. In the case of natural resources that are intended to be upgraded into synthetic oil or gas, if those natural resources are 

delivered to a purchaser prior to upgrading, the first point at which the natural resources are delivered to a main 

pipeline, a common carrier, a refinery , a marine terminal , or a facility which upgrades such natural resources into 

synthetic oil or gas. 

  

Instruction 2 to paragraph (a)(16)(i): For purposes of this paragraph (a}(16), the term saleable hydrocarbons means 

hydrocarbons that are saleable in the state in which the hydrocarbons are delivered. 

  

  (ii) Oil and gas producing activities do not include: 

  

  (A) Transporting, refining, or marketing oil and gas; 

  

  (B) Processing of produced oil, gas or natural resources that can be upgraded into synthetic oil or gas by a registrant 

that does not have the legal right to produce or a revenue interest in such production; 

  

  (C) Activ ities relating to the production of natural resources other than oil, gas, or natural resources from which 

synthetic oil and gas can be extracted; or 
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  (D) Production of geothermal steam. 

  
 

(17)           Possible reserves. Possible reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than probable 

reserves. 
 

  (i) When  deterministic  methods are  used, the  total  quantities  ultimately  recovered from  a project have a low 

probability of exceeding proved plus probable plus possible reserves. When probabilistic methods are used, there 

should be at least a 10% probability that the total  quantities ultimately recovered will equal or exceed the proved plus 

probable plus possible reserves estimates. 

  

  (ii) Possible reserves may be assigned to areas of a reservoir adjacent to probable reserves where data control and 

interpretations of available data are progressively less certain. Frequently, this will be in areas where geoscience and 

engineering data are unable to define clearly the area and vertical limits of commercial production from the reservoir by 

a defined project. 

  

  (iii) Possible reserves also include incremental quantities associated with a greater percentage recovery of the hydrocarbons 

in place than the recovery quantities assumed for probable reserves. 

  

  (iv) The proved plus probable and proved plus probable plus possible reserves estimates must be  based on reasonable 

alternative  technical  and commercial  interpretations within the reservoir or subject project that are clearly 

documented , including comparisons to results in successful similar projects. 

  

  (v) Possible reserves may be assigned where geoscience and engineering data identify directly adjacent portions of a 

reservoir within the same accumulation that may be separated from proved areas by faults with displacement less than 

formation thickness or other geological discontinuities and that have not been penetrated by a wellbore, and the 

registrant believes that such adjacent portions are in communication with the known (proved) reservoir . Possible 

reserves may be assigned to areas that are structurally higher or lower than the proved area if these areas are in 

communication with the  proved reservoir . 

  

  (vi) Pursuant to paragraph (a)(22)(iii) of this section, where  direct observation  has defined a highest known oil 

(HKO) elevation  and the potential exists for an associated  gas cap, proved oil reserves should be assigned 

in the structurally higher portions of the reservoir above the HKO only if the higher contact can be 

established with reasonable certainty through reliable technology. Portions of the reservoir that do not meet 

this reasonable certainty criterion may be assigned as probable and possible oil or gas based on reservoir 

fluid properties and pressure gradient interpretations. 

  

(18)           Probable reserves. Probable reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than proved 

reserves but which, together with proved reserves, are as likely as not to be recovered. 

  

  (i) When deterministic methods are used, it is as likely as not that actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the 

sum of estimated  proved  plus  probable  reserves.  When probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 

50% probability that the actual quantities recovered will equal or exceed the proved plus probable reserves estimates. 

  

  (ii) Probable reserves may be assigned to areas of a reservoir adjacent to proved reserves where data control or 

interpretations of available data are less certain, even if the interpreted reservoir continuity of structure or productivity 

does not meet the reasonable certainty criterion . Probable reserves may be assigned to areas that are structurally higher 

than the proved area if these areas are in communication with the proved reservoir. 

  

  (iii) Probable reserves estimates also include potential incremental quantities associated with a 

greater  percentage  recovery  of  the  hydrocarbons  in  place  than  assumed  for  proved reserves. 
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  (iv) See also guidelines in paragraphs (a)(17)(iv) and (a)(17)(vi) of this section . 

  

(19)           Probabilistic estimate . The method of estimation of reserves or resources is called probabilistic when the full range  of 

values that could reasonably occur for each unknown parameter (from the geoscience and engineering data) is used to generate a full 

range of possible outcomes and their associated probabilities of occurrence. 

  

(20)   Production costs. 
 

 
  (i) Costs incurred to operate and maintain wells and related equipment and facilities, including depreciation and applicable 

operating costs of support equipment and facilities and other costs of operating and maintaining those wells and related 

equipment and facilities, they become part of the cost of oil and gas produced. Examples of production costs 

(sometimes called lifting costs) are: 

  

  (A) Costs of labor to operate the wells and related equipment and facilities. 

  

  (B) Repairs and maintenance . 

  

  (C) Materials, supplies, arid fuel consumed and supplies utilized in operating the wells and related equipment and 

facilities. 

  

  (D) Property taxes and insurance applicable to proved properties and wells and related equipment and facilities. 

  

  (E) Severance taxes. 

  

  (ii) Some support equipment or facilities may serve two or more oil and gas  producing activities and may also serve 

transportation , refining, and marketing activities . To the extent that the support equipment and facilities are used in oil 

and gas producing activities, their depreciation and applicable operating costs become exploration, development  or 

production costs, as appropriate. Depreciation, depletion, and amortization of capitalized acquisition, exploration, and 

development costs are not production costs but also become part of the cost of oil and gas produced along with 

production (lifting) costs identified above. 

  

(21)           Proved area.                               The part of a property to which proved reserves have been specifically attributed. 

  

(22)           Proved oil and gas reserves. Proved oil and gas reserves are those quantities of oil and gas, which, by analysis of 

geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible-from a given date 

forward, from known reservoirs, and under existing economic conditions, operating methods, and government regulations-prior to 

the time at which contracts providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain, 

regardless of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for the estimation . The project to extract the hydrocarbons 

must have commenced or the operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within a reasonable time. 

  

  (i) The area of the reservoir considered as proved includes: 

  

  (A) The area identified by drilling and limited by fluid contacts, if any, and 

  

  (B) Adjacent undrilled portions of the reservoir that can, with reasonable certainty , be judged to be continuous with 

it and to contain economically producible oil or gas on the basis of available geoscience and engineering data. 

  

  (ii) In the absence of data on fluid contacts, proved quantities in a reservoir are limited by the lowest known hydrocarbons 

(LKH) as seen in a well penetration unless geoscience, engineering, or performance data and reliable technology 

establishes a lower contact with reasonable certainty. 
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  (iii) Where direct observation from well penetrations has defined a highest known oil (HKO) elevation and the 

potential exists for an associated gas cap, proved oil reserves may be assigned in the structurally higher 

portions of the reservoir only if geoscience, engineering, or performance data and reliable technology 

establish the higher contact with reasonable certainty. 

  

  (iv) Reserves which can be produced economically through application of improved recovery techniques (including, but 

not limited to, fluid injection) are included in the proved classification when: 

  

  (A) Successful testing by a pilot project in an area of the reservoir with properties no more favorable than in the 

reservoir as a whole, the operation of an installed program in the reservoir or an analogous reservoir, or other 

evidence using reliable technology establishes the reasonable certainty of the engineering analysis on which the 

project or program was based; and 

  

  (B) The project has been approved for development by all necessary parties and entities, including governmental 

entities. 

  

  (v) Existing economic conditions include prices and costs at which economic producibility from a reservoir is to be 

determined. The price shall be the average price during the 12-month period prior to the ending date of the period 

covered by the report, determined as an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each 

month within such period, unless prices are defined by contractual arrangements, excluding escalations based upon 

future conditions. 

  

(23)   Proved properties. Properties with proved reserves. 

  

(24)           Reasonable certainty. If deterministic methods are used, reasonable certainty means a high degree of confidence that the 

quantities will be recovered. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 90% probability that the quantities actually 

recovered will equal or exceed the estimate. A high degree of confidence  exists if the quantity is much more likely to be achieved 

than not, and, as changes due to increased availability of geoscience  (geological, geophysical, and geochemical), engineering, and 

economic data are made to estimated ultimate recovery (EUR) with time, reasonably certain EUR is much more likely to increase or 

remain constant than to decrease. 

  

(25)           Reliable technology. Reliable technology is a grouping of one or more technologies (including computational methods) 

that has been field tested and has been demonstrated to provide reasonably certain results with consistency and repeatability in the 

formation being evaluated or in an analogous formation. 

  

(26)           Reserves. Reserves are estimated remaining quantities of oil and gas and related substances anticipated to be 

economically producible, as of a given date, by application of development projects to known accumulations. In addition, there must 

exist, or there must be a reasonable expectation that there will exist, the legal right to produce or a revenue interest in the production, 

installed means of delivering oil and gas or related substances to market, and all permits and financing required to implement the 

project. 

  

Note to paragraph (a)(26): Reserves should not be assigned to adjacent reservoirs isolated by major, potentially sealing, 

faults until those reservoirs are penetrated and evaluated  as economically producible. Reserves should not be assigned to 

areas that are clearly separated from a known accumulation by a non-productive reservoir (l&, absence of reservoir, 

structurally low reservoir, or negative test results). Such areas may contain prospective resources (i.e., potentially 

recoverable resources from undiscovered accumulations). 

  

(27)           Reservoir. A porous and permeable underground formation containing a natural accumulation of producible oil and/or 

gas that is confined by impermeable  rock or water barriers and is individual and separate from other reservoirs . 
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(28)           Resources. Resources are quantities of oil and gas estimated to exist in naturally occurring accumulations. A portion of 

the resources may be estimated to be recoverable, and another portion may be considered to be unrecoverable. Resources include 

both discovered and  undiscovered accumulations. 

  
 

(29)           Service well. A well drilled or completed for the purpose of supporting production in an existing field. Specific purposes 

of service wells include gas injection, water injection, steam injection, air injection, salt-water disposal, water supply for injection, 

observation, or injection for in-situ combustion . 
 

(30)           Stratigraphic test well. A stratigraphic test well is a drilling effort, geologically directed, to obtain information pertaining 

to a specific geologic condition. Such wells customarily are drilled without the intent of being completed for hydrocarbon 

production. The classification also includes tests identified as core tests and all types of expendable holes related to hydrocarbon 

exploration . Stratigraphic tests are classified as "exploratory type" if not drilled in a known area or "development type" if drilled in 

a known area. 

  
 

(31)           Undeveloped  oil and gas  reserves. Undeveloped  oil and gas reserves are reserves of any category that are expected to 

be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage, or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required for 

recompletion. 

  
 

  (i) Reserves on undrilled acreage shall be limited to those directly offsetting development spacing areas that are 

reasonably certain of production when drilled, unless evidence using reliable technology exists that establishes 

reasonable certainty of economic producibility at greater distances. 

  
 

  (ii) Undrilled locations can be classified as having undeveloped reserves only if a development plan has been adopted 

indicating that they are scheduled to be drilled within five years, unless the specific circumstances, justify a longer time. 

  

  (iii) Under no circumstances shall estimates for undeveloped reserves be attributable to any acreage for which an 

application of fluid injection or other improved recovery technique is contemplated, unless such techniques have been 

proved effective by actual projects in the same reservoir or an analogous reservoir, as defined in paragraph (a)(2) of this 

section, or by other evidence using reliable technology establishing reasonable certainty. 

 
 

(32)   Unproved properties. Properties with no proved reserves. 
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EXHIBIT 10.4 

  

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT 

  

This Indemnification Agreement ("Agreement") is made as of March ___, 2013 by and between CAMAC ENERGY INC., a 

Delaware corporation (the "Company"), and the undersigned ___________________________ ("Indemnitee").  This Agreement 

supersedes and replaces any and all previous Agreements between the Company and Indemnitee covering the subject matter of this 

Agreement. 

  

RECITALS 

  

WHEREAS, highly competent persons have become more reluctant to serve publicly-held corporations as directors, as 

officers or in other capacities unless they are provided with adequate protection through insurance or adequate indemnification against 

inordinate risks of claims and actions against them arising out of their service to and activities on behalf of the corporation; 

  

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") has determined that, in order to attract and retain qualified 

individuals, the Company will attempt to maintain on an ongoing basis, at its sole expense, liability insurance to protect persons serving 

the Company and its subsidiaries from certain liabilities.  Although the furnishing of such insurance has been a customary and 

widespread practice among United States-based corporations and other business enterprises, the Company believes that, given current 

market conditions and trends, such insurance may be available to it in the future only at higher premiums and with more exclusions.  At 

the same time, directors, officers, and other persons in service to corporations or business enterprises are being increasingly subjected to 

expensive and time-consuming litigation relating to, among other things, matters that traditionally would have been brought only against 

the corporation or business enterprise itself.  The Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended and restated (the “Certificate 

of Incorporation”), permits the Company to provide indemnification of, and advancement of expenses to, the directors and officers of the 

Company through Bylaw provisions, agreements or otherwise.  The Bylaws of the Company, as amended and restated (the “Bylaws”) 

provide that the Company shall provide indemnification of, and advancement of expenses to, the directors and officers of the 

Company.  Indemnitee may also be entitled to indemnification pursuant to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the 

"DGCL").  The Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws and the DGCL expressly provide that the indemnification provisions set forth 

therein are not exclusive, and provide or thereby contemplate that contracts may be entered into between the Company and members of 

the board of directors, officers and other persons with respect to indemnification; 

  

WHEREAS, the uncertainties relating to such insurance and to indemnification have increased the difficulty of attracting and 

retaining such persons; 

  

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that the increased difficulty in attracting and retaining such persons is detrimental to 

the best interests of the Company and its stockholders and that the Company should act to assure such persons that there will be increased 

certainty of such protection in the future; 

  

WHEREAS, it is reasonable, prudent and necessary for the Company contractually to obligate itself to indemnify, and to 

advance expenses on behalf of, such persons to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law so that they will serve or continue to serve 

the Company free from undue concern that they will not be so indemnified; 

  

WHEREAS, this Agreement is a supplement to and in furtherance of the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and any 

resolutions adopted pursuant thereto, and shall not be deemed a substitute therefor, nor to diminish or abrogate any rights of Indemnitee 

thereunder; 

  

WHEREAS, Indemnitee does not regard the protection available under the Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws and 

insurance as adequate in the present circumstances, and may not be willing to serve as an officer or director without adequate protection, 

and the Company desires Indemnitee to serve in such capacity.  Indemnitee is willing to serve, continue to serve and to take on additional 

service for or on behalf of the Company on the condition that he be so indemnified; and 
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NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the covenants contained herein, the Company and Indemnitee do 

hereby covenant and agree as follows: 

  

Section 1. Services to the Company.  Indemnitee agrees to serve as an officer of the Company and, at the request of the 

Company, as a director, officer, employee, agent or fiduciary of one or more subsidiary or affiliated corporations, partnerships, joint 

ventures, trusts or other enterprises.  Indemnitee may at any time and for any reason resign from such position (subject to any other 

contractual obligation or any obligation imposed by operation of law), in which event the Company shall have no obligation under this 

Agreement to continue Indemnitee in such position.  This Agreement shall not be deemed an employment contract between the 

Company (or any of its subsidiaries or any Enterprise (as defined below)) and Indemnitee.  Indemnitee specifically acknowledges that 

Indemnitee's employment with the Company (or any of its subsidiaries or any Enterprise), if any, is at will, and the Indemnitee may be 

discharged at any time for any reason, with or without cause, except as may be otherwise provided in any written employment contract 

between Indemnitee and the Company (or any of its subsidiaries or any Enterprise), other applicable formal severance policies duly 

adopted by the Board, or, with respect to service as a director or officer of the Company, by the Certificate of Incorporation, the 

Company's By-laws, and the DGCL.  The foregoing notwithstanding, this Agreement shall continue in force after Indemnitee has ceased 

to serve as an officer of the Company or, at the request of the Company, as a director, officer, employee, agent or fiduciary of one or 

more subsidiary or affiliated corporations, partnerships, joint ventures, trusts or other enterprises, as provided in Section 16 hereof. 

  

Section 2. Definitions.   As used in this Agreement: 

  

(a) References to “agent” shall mean any person who is or was a director, officer, or employee of the Company or a 

subsidiary of the Company or other person authorized by the Company to act for the Company, to include such person serving in such 

capacity as a director, officer, employee, fiduciary or other official of another corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint 

venture, trust or other enterprise at the request of, for the convenience of, or to represent the interests of the Company or a subsidiary of 

the Company. 

  

(b) A "Change in Control" shall be deemed to occur upon the earliest to occur after the date of this Agreement of any 

of the following events: 

  

i. Acquisition of Stock by Third Party.  Any Person (as defined below) other than Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal 

and other “Reporting Persons” listed in the Schedule 13D of CAMAC Energy Holdings Ltd. filed April 19, 2010 is or becomes the  

Beneficial Owner (as defined below), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing thirty percent (30%)] or more of 

the combined voting power of the Company's then outstanding securities unless the change in relative Beneficial Ownership of the 

Company's securities by any Person results solely from a reduction in the aggregate number of outstanding shares of securities entitled to 

vote generally in the election of directors; 

  

ii. Change in Board of Directors.  During any period of two (2) consecutive years (not including any 

period prior to the execution of this Agreement), individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board, and any new 

director (other than a director designated by a person who has entered into an agreement with the Company to effect a transaction 

described in Sections 2(b)(i), 2(b)(iii) or 2(b)(iv)) whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the Company's stockholders 

was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the period 

or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the 

members of the Board; 

  

iii. Corporate Transactions.  The effective date of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any 

other entity, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately 

prior to such merger or consolidation continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting 

securities of the surviving entity) more than 51% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the surviving entity 

outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation and with the power to elect at least a majority of the board of directors or 

other governing body of such surviving entity; 

  

iv. Liquidation.  The approval by the stockholders of the Company of a complete liquidation of the 

Company or an agreement for the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company's assets; and 

  

v. Other Events.  There occurs any other event of a nature that would be required to be reported in 

response to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14A of Regulation 14A (or a response to any similar item on any similar schedule or form) 

promulgated under the Exchange Act (as defined below), whether or not the Company is then subject to such reporting requirement. 

  

For purposes of this Section 2(b), the following terms shall have the following meanings: 

  

(A)           "Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended from time to time. 
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(B)           "Person" shall have the meaning as set forth in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of 

the Exchange Act; provided, however, that Person shall exclude (i) the Company, (ii) any trustee 

or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company, and (iii) 

any corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in 

substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of the Company. 

  

(C)           "Beneficial Owner" shall have the meaning given to such term in Rule 

13d-3 under the Exchange Act; provided, however, that Beneficial Owner shall exclude any 

Person otherwise becoming a Beneficial Owner by reason of the stockholders of the Company 

approving a merger of the Company with another entity. 
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(c) "Corporate Status" describes the status of a person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the 

Company or of any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership or joint venture, trust or other enterprise which such person 

is or was serving at the request of the Company. 

  

(d) "Disinterested Director" shall mean a director of the Company who is not and was not a party to the Proceeding 

in respect of which indemnification is sought by Indemnitee. 

  

(e) "Enterprise" shall mean the Company and any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint 

venture, trust or other enterprise of which Indemnitee is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, trustee, 

partner, managing member, employee, agent or fiduciary. 

  

(f) "Expenses" shall include all reasonable attorneys' fees, retainers, court costs, transcript costs, fees of experts and 

other professionals, witness fees, travel expenses, duplicating costs, printing and binding costs, telephone charges, postage, delivery 

service fees, any federal, state, local or foreign taxes imposed on Indemnitee as a result of the actual or deemed receipt of any payments 

under this Agreement, ERISA excise taxes and penalties, and all other disbursements or expenses of the types customarily incurred in 

connection with prosecuting, defending, preparing to prosecute or defend, investigating, being or preparing to be a witness in, or 

otherwise participating in, a Proceeding.  Expenses also shall include (i) Expenses incurred in connection with any appeal resulting from 

any Proceeding, including without limitation the premium, security for, and other costs relating to any cost bond, supersedeas bond, or 

other appeal bond or its equivalent, and (ii) for purposes of Section 14(d) only, Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the 

interpretation, enforcement or defense of Indemnitee's rights under this Agreement, by litigation or otherwise.  The parties agree that for 

the purposes of any advancement of Expenses for which Indemnitee has made written demand to the Company in accordance with this 

Agreement, all Expenses included in such demand that are certified by affidavit of Indemnitee’s counsel as being reasonable shall be 

presumed conclusively to be reasonable.  Expenses, however, shall not include amounts paid in settlement by Indemnitee or the amount 

of judgments or fines against Indemnitee. 

  

(g) "Independent Counsel" shall mean a law firm, or a member of a law firm, that is experienced in matters of 

corporation law and neither presently is, nor in the past five years has been, retained to represent:  (i) the Company or Indemnitee in any 

matter material to either such party (other than with respect to matters concerning the Indemnitee under this Agreement, or of other 

indemnitees under similar indemnification agreements), or (ii) any other party to the Proceeding giving rise to a claim for 

indemnification hereunder.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term "Independent Counsel" shall not include any person who, under the 

applicable standards of professional conduct then prevailing, would have a conflict of interest in representing either the Company or 

Indemnitee in an action to determine Indemnitee's rights under this Agreement.  The Company agrees to pay the reasonable fees and 

expenses of the Independent Counsel referred to above and to fully indemnify such counsel against any and all Expenses, claims, 

liabilities and damages arising out of or relating to this Agreement or its engagement pursuant hereto. 

  

(h) The term "Proceeding" shall include any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, claim, counterclaim, 

cross claim, arbitration, mediation, alternate dispute resolution mechanism, investigation, inquiry, administrative hearing or any other 

actual, threatened or completed proceeding, whether brought in the right of the Company or otherwise and whether of a civil, criminal, 

administrative, legislative, or investigative (formal or informal) nature, including any appeal therefrom, in which Indemnitee was, is or 

will be involved as a party, potential party, non-party witness or otherwise by reason of the fact that Indemnitee is or was a director or 

officer of the Company, by reason of any action taken by him (or a failure to take action by him) or of any action (or failure to act) on his 

part while acting pursuant to his Corporate Status, in each case whether or not serving in such capacity at the time any liability or 

Expense is incurred for which indemnification, reimbursement, or advancement of Expenses can be provided under this Agreement.  If 

the Indemnitee believes in good faith that a given situation may lead to or culminate in the institution of a Proceeding, this shall be 

considered a Proceeding under this paragraph. 

  

(i) Reference to "other enterprise" shall include employee benefit plans; references to "fines" shall include any 

excise tax assessed with respect to any employee benefit plan; references to "serving at the request of the Company" shall include any 

service as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such director, officer, 

employee or agent with respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in good faith and in 

a manner he reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan shall be 

deemed to have acted in manner "not opposed to the best interests of the Company" as referred to in this Agreement. 

  

Section 3. Indemnity in Third-Party Proceedings.  The Company shall indemnify Indemnitee in accordance with the 

provisions of this Section 3 if Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or a participant in any Proceeding, other than a 

Proceeding by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor.  Pursuant to this Section 3, Indemnitee shall be 

indemnified to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law against all Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement 

(including all interest, assessments and other charges paid or payable in connection with or in respect of such Expenses, judgments, fines 

and amounts paid in settlement) actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on his behalf in connection with such Proceeding or 

any claim, issue or matter therein, if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the 

best interests of the Company and, in the case of a criminal Proceeding had no reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was 

unlawful.  The parties hereto intend that this Agreement shall provide to the fullest extent permitted by law for indemnification in excess 
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of that expressly permitted by statute, including, without limitation, any indemnification provided by the Certificate of Incorporation, the 

By-laws, vote of its stockholders or disinterested directors or applicable law. 

  

Section 4. Indemnity in Proceedings by or in the Right of the Company.   The Company shall indemnify Indemnitee in 

accordance with the provisions of this Section 4 if Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or a participant in any Proceeding 

by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor.  Pursuant to this Section 4, Indemnitee shall be indemnified to the 

fullest extent permitted by applicable law against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him or on his behalf in connection 

with such Proceeding or any claim, issue or matter therein, if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be 

in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company.  No indemnification for Expenses shall be made under this Section 4 in respect of 

any claim, issue or matter as to which Indemnitee shall have been finally adjudged by a court to be liable to the Company, unless and 

only to the extent that the Delaware Court of Chancery or any court in which the Proceeding was brought shall determine upon 

application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably 

entitled to indemnification. 
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Section 5. Indemnification for Expenses of a Party Who is Wholly or Partly Successful. Notwithstanding any other provisions 

of this Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law and to the extent that Indemnitee is a party to (or a participant in) and 

is successful, on the merits or otherwise, in any Proceeding or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, in whole or in part, the 

Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.  If 

Indemnitee is not wholly successful in such Proceeding but is successful, on the merits or otherwise, as to one or more but less than all 

claims, issues or matters in such Proceeding, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Expenses actually and reasonably 

incurred by him or on his behalf in connection with or related to each successfully resolved claim, issue or matter to the fullest extent 

permitted by law.  For purposes of this Section and without limitation, the termination of any claim, issue or matter in such a Proceeding 

by dismissal, with or without prejudice, shall be deemed to be a successful result as to such claim, issue or matter. 

  

Section 6. Indemnification For Expenses of a Witness.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to the fullest 

extent permitted by applicable law and to the extent that Indemnitee is, by reason of his Corporate Status, a witness or otherwise asked to 

participate in any Proceeding to which Indemnitee is not a party, he shall be indemnified against all Expenses actually and reasonably 

incurred by him or on his behalf in connection therewith. 

  

Section 7. Partial Indemnification.  If Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this Agreement to indemnification by the 

Company for some or a portion of Expenses, but not, however, for the total amount thereof, the Company shall nevertheless indemnify 

Indemnitee for the portion thereof to which Indemnitee is entitled. 

  

Section 8. Additional Indemnification. 

  

(a) Notwithstanding any limitation in Sections 3, 4, or 5, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee to the fullest 

extent permitted by applicable law if Indemnitee is a party to or threatened to be made a party to any Proceeding (including a Proceeding 

by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor) against all Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in 

settlement (including all interest, assessments and other charges paid or payable in connection with or in respect of such Expenses, 

judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement) actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the Proceeding. 

  

(b) For purposes of Section 8(a), the meaning of the phrase "to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law" shall 

include, but not be limited to: 

  

i. to the fullest extent permitted by the provision of the DGCL that authorizes or contemplates additional 

indemnification by agreement, or the corresponding provision of any amendment to or replacement of the DGCL, and 

  

ii. to the fullest extent authorized or permitted by any amendments to or replacements of the DGCL 

adopted after the date of this Agreement that increase the extent to which a corporation may indemnify its officers and directors. 

  

Section 9. Exclusions.   Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated under this 

Agreement to make any indemnification payment in connection with any claim made against Indemnitee: 

  

(a) for which payment has actually been made to or on behalf of Indemnitee under any insurance policy or other 

indemnity provision, except with respect to any excess beyond the amount paid under any insurance policy or other indemnity provision; 

or 

  

(b) for (i) an accounting of profits made from the purchase and sale (or sale and purchase) by Indemnitee of 

securities of the Company within the meaning of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act (as defined in Section 2(b) hereof) or similar 

provisions of state statutory law or common law, or (ii) any reimbursement of the Company by the Indemnitee of any bonus or other 

incentive-based or equity-based compensation or of any profits realized by the Indemnitee from the sale of securities of the Company, as 

required in each case under the Exchange Act (including any such reimbursements that arise from an accounting restatement of the 

Company pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act"), or the payment to the Company of 

profits arising from the purchase and sale by Indemnitee of securities in violation of Section 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act); or 

  

(c) except as provided in Section 14(d) of this Agreement, in connection with any Proceeding (or any part of any 

Proceeding) initiated by Indemnitee, including any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) initiated by Indemnitee against the 

Company or its directors, officers, employees or other indemnitees, unless (i) the Board authorized the Proceeding (or any part of any 

Proceeding) prior to its initiation or (ii) the Company provides the indemnification, in its sole discretion, pursuant to the powers vested in 

the Company under applicable law. 

  

Section 10. Advances of Expenses.   Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary (other than Section 

14(d)), the Company shall advance, to the extent not prohibited by law, the Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in connection with any 

Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) not initiated by Indemnitee, and such advancement shall be made within thirty (30) days after 

the receipt by the Company of a statement or statements requesting such advances from time to time, whether prior to or after final 

disposition of any Proceeding.  Advances shall be unsecured and interest free.  Advances shall be made without regard to Indemnitee's 
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ability to repay the Expenses and without regard to Indemnitee's ultimate entitlement to indemnification under the other provisions of 

this Agreement.  In accordance with Section 14(d), advances shall include any and all reasonable Expenses incurred pursuing an action 

to enforce this right of advancement, including Expenses incurred preparing and forwarding statements to the Company to support the 

advances claimed.  The Indemnitee shall qualify for advances upon the execution and delivery to the Company of this Agreement, which 

shall constitute an undertaking providing that the Indemnitee undertakes to repay the amounts advanced (without interest) to the extent 

that it is ultimately determined that Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by the Company.  No other form of undertaking shall be 

required other than the execution of this Agreement.  This Section 10 shall not apply to any claim made by Indemnitee for which 

indemnity is excluded pursuant to Section 9. 
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Section 11. Procedure for Notification and Defense of Claim. 

  

(a) Indemnitee shall notify the Company in writing of any matter with respect to which Indemnitee intends to seek 

indemnification or advancement of Expenses hereunder as soon as reasonably practicable following the receipt by Indemnitee of written 

notice thereof.  The written notification to the Company shall include a description of the nature of the Proceeding and the facts 

underlying the Proceeding.  To obtain indemnification under this Agreement, Indemnitee shall submit to the Company a written request, 

including therein or therewith such documentation and information as is reasonably available to Indemnitee and is reasonably necessary 

to determine whether and to what extent Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification following the final disposition of such 

Proceeding.  The omission by Indemnitee to notify the Company hereunder will not relieve the Company from any liability which it may 

have to Indemnitee hereunder or otherwise than under this Agreement, and any delay in so notifying the Company shall not constitute a 

waiver by Indemnitee of any rights under this Agreement.  The Secretary of the Company shall, promptly upon receipt of such a request 

for indemnification, advise the Board in writing that Indemnitee has requested indemnification. 

  

(b) The Company will be entitled to participate in the Proceeding at its own expense. 

  

Section 12. Procedure Upon Application for Indemnification. 

  

(a) Upon written request by Indemnitee for indemnification pursuant to Section 11(a), a determination, if required by 

applicable law, with respect to Indemnitee's entitlement thereto shall be made in the specific case:  (i) if a Change in Control shall have 

occurred, by Independent Counsel in a written opinion to the Board, a copy of which shall be delivered to Indemnitee; or (ii) if a Change 

in Control shall not have occurred, (A) by a majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, even though less than a quorum of the Board, 

(B) by a committee of Disinterested Directors designated by a majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, even though less than a 

quorum of the Board, (C) if there are no such Disinterested Directors or, if such Disinterested Directors so direct, by Independent 

Counsel in a written opinion to the Board, a copy of which shall be delivered to Indemnitee or (D) if so directed by the Board, by the 

stockholders of the Company; and, if it is so determined that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, payment to Indemnitee shall be 

made within ten (10) days after such determination.  Indemnitee shall cooperate with the person, persons or entity making such 

determination with respect to Indemnitee's entitlement to indemnification, including providing to such person, persons or entity upon 

reasonable advance request any documentation or information which is not privileged or otherwise protected from disclosure and which 

is reasonably available to Indemnitee and reasonably necessary to such determination.  Any costs or Expenses (including attorneys' fees 

and disbursements) incurred by Indemnitee in so cooperating with the person, persons or entity making such determination shall be 

borne by the Company (irrespective of the determination as to Indemnitee's entitlement to indemnification) and the Company hereby 

indemnifies and agrees to hold Indemnitee harmless therefrom.  The Company promptly will advise Indemnitee in writing with respect 

to any determination that Indemnitee is or is not entitled to indemnification, including a description of any reason or basis for which 

indemnification has been denied. 

  

(b) In the event the determination of entitlement to indemnification is to be made by Independent Counsel pursuant 

to Section 12(a) hereof, the Independent Counsel shall be selected as provided in this Section 12(b).  If a Change in Control shall not 

have occurred, the Independent Counsel shall be selected by the Board, and the Company shall give written notice to Indemnitee 

advising him of the identity of the Independent Counsel so selected.  If a Change in Control shall have occurred, the Independent 

Counsel shall be selected by Indemnitee (unless Indemnitee shall request that such selection be made by the Board, in which event the 

preceding sentence shall apply), and Indemnitee shall give written notice to the Company advising it of the identity of the Independent 

Counsel so selected.  In either event, Indemnitee or the Company, as the case may be, may, within ten (10) days after such written notice 

of selection shall have been given, deliver to the Company or to Indemnitee, as the case may be, a written objection to such selection;  

provided ,  however , that such objection may be asserted only on the ground that the Independent Counsel so selected does not meet the 

requirements of "Independent Counsel" as defined in Section 2 of this Agreement, and the objection shall set forth with particularity the 

factual basis of such assertion.  Absent a proper and timely objection, the person so selected shall act as Independent Counsel.  If such 

written objection is so made and substantiated, the Independent Counsel so selected may not serve as Independent Counsel unless and 

until such objection is withdrawn or the Delaware Court has determined that such objection is without merit.  If, within twenty (20) days 

after the later of submission by Indemnitee of a written request for indemnification pursuant to Section 11(a) hereof and the final 

disposition of the Proceeding, no Independent Counsel shall have been selected and not objected to, either the Company or Indemnitee 

may petition the Delaware Court for resolution of any objection which shall have been made by the Company or Indemnitee to the 

other's selection of Independent Counsel and/or for the appointment as Independent Counsel of a person selected by such court or by 

such other person as such court shall designate, and the person with respect to whom all objections are so resolved or the person so 

appointed shall act as Independent Counsel under Section 12(a) hereof.  Upon the due commencement of any judicial proceeding or 

arbitration pursuant to Section 14(a) of this Agreement, Independent Counsel shall be discharged and relieved of any further 

responsibility in such capacity (subject to the applicable standards of professional conduct then prevailing). 

  

Section 13. Presumptions and Effect of Certain Proceedings. 

  

(a) In making a determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification hereunder, the person or persons or 

entity making such determination shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, presume that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification 

under this Agreement if Indemnitee has submitted a request for indemnification in accordance with Section 11(a) of this Agreement, and 
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the Company shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, have the burden of proof to overcome that presumption in connection with 

the making by any person, persons or entity of any determination contrary to that presumption.  Neither the failure of the Company 

(including by its directors or Independent Counsel) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of any action pursuant to 

this Agreement that indemnification is proper in the circumstances because Indemnitee has met the applicable standard of conduct, nor 

an actual determination by the Company (including by its directors or Independent Counsel) that Indemnitee has not met such applicable 

standard of conduct, shall be a defense to the action or create a presumption that Indemnitee has not met the applicable standard of 

conduct. 
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(b) Subject to Section 14(e), if the person, persons or entity empowered or selected under Section 12 of this 

Agreement to determine whether Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification shall not have made a determination within sixty (60) days 

after receipt by the Company of the request therefor, the requisite determination of entitlement to indemnification shall, to the fullest 

extent not prohibited by law, be deemed to have been made and Indemnitee shall be entitled to such indemnification, absent (i) a 

misstatement by Indemnitee of a material fact, or an omission of a material fact necessary to make Indemnitee's statement not materially 

misleading, in connection with the request for indemnification, or (ii) a prohibition of such indemnification under applicable law; 

provided, however, that such 60-day period may be extended for a reasonable time, not to exceed an additional thirty (30) days, if the 

person, persons or entity making the determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification in good faith requires such additional 

time for the obtaining or evaluating of documentation and/or information relating thereto; and provided, further, that the foregoing 

provisions of this Section 13(b) shall not apply (i) if the determination of entitlement to indemnification is to be made by the 

stockholders pursuant to Section 12(a) of this Agreement and if (A) within fifteen (15) days after receipt by the Company of the request 

for such determination the Board has resolved to submit such determination to the stockholders for their consideration at an annual 

meeting thereof to be held within seventy-five (75) days after such receipt and such determination is made thereat, or (B) a special 

meeting of stockholders is called within fifteen (15) days after such receipt for the purpose of making such determination, such meeting 

is held for such purpose within sixty (60) days after having been so called and such determination is made thereat, or (ii) if the 

determination of entitlement to indemnification is to be made by Independent Counsel pursuant to Section 12(a) of this Agreement. 

  

(c) The termination of any Proceeding or of any claim, issue or matter therein, by judgment, order, settlement or 

conviction, or upon a plea of  nolo contendere  or its equivalent, shall not (except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement) 

of itself adversely affect the right of Indemnitee to indemnification or create a presumption that Indemnitee did not act in good faith and 

in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company or, with respect to any criminal 

Proceeding, that Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful. 

  

(d) For purposes of any determination of good faith, Indemnitee shall be deemed to have acted in good faith if 

Indemnitee's action is based on the records or books of account of the Enterprise, including financial statements, or on information 

supplied to Indemnitee by the directors or officers of the Enterprise in the course of their duties, or on the advice of legal counsel for the 

Enterprise or on information or records given or reports made to the Enterprise by an independent certified public accountant or by an 

appraiser or other expert selected with the reasonable care by  the Enterprise.  The provisions of this Section 13(d) shall not be deemed to 

be exclusive or to limit in any way the other circumstances in which the Indemnitee may be deemed to have met the applicable standard 

of conduct set forth in this Agreement. 

  

(e) The knowledge and/or actions, or failure to act, of any director, officer, trustee, partner, managing member, 

fiduciary, agent or employee of the Enterprise shall not be imputed to Indemnitee for purposes of determining the right to 

indemnification under this Agreement. 

  

Section 14. Remedies of Indemnitee. 

  

(a) Subject to Section 14(e), in the event that (i) a determination is made pursuant to Section 12 of this Agreement 

that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification under this Agreement, (ii) advancement of Expenses is not timely made pursuant to 

Section 10 of this Agreement, (iii) no determination of entitlement to indemnification shall have been made pursuant to Section 12(a) of 

this Agreement within ninety (90) days after receipt by the Company of the request for indemnification, (iv) payment of indemnification 

is not made pursuant to Section 5, 6 or 7 or the last sentence of Section 12(a) of this Agreement within ten (10) days after receipt by the 

Company of a written request therefor, (v) payment of indemnification pursuant to Section 3, 4 or 8 of this Agreement is not made within 

ten (10) days after a determination has been made that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, or (vi) in the event that the Company or 

any other person takes or threatens to take any action to declare this Agreement void or unenforceable, or institutes any litigation or other 

action or Proceeding designed to deny, or to recover from, the Indemnitee the benefits provided or intended to be provided to the 

Indemnitee hereunder, Indemnitee shall be entitled to an adjudication by a court of his entitlement to such indemnification or 

advancement of Expenses.  Alternatively, Indemnitee, at his option, may seek an award in arbitration to be conducted by a single 

arbitrator pursuant to the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association.  Indemnitee shall commence such 

proceeding seeking an adjudication or an award in arbitration within 180 days following the date on which Indemnitee first has the right 

to commence such proceeding pursuant to this Section 14(a);  provided ,  however , that the foregoing clause shall not apply in respect 

of a proceeding brought by Indemnitee to enforce his rights under Section 5 of this Agreement.  The Company shall not oppose 

Indemnitee's right to seek any such adjudication or award in arbitration. 

  

(b) In the event that a determination shall have been made pursuant to Section 12(a) of this Agreement that 

Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification, any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 14 shall be 

conducted in all respects as a  de novo  trial, or arbitration, on the merits and Indemnitee shall not be prejudiced by reason of that 

adverse determination.  In any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 14 the Company shall have the 

burden of proving Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification or advancement of Expenses, as the case may be. 

  

(c) If a determination shall have been made pursuant to Section 12(a) of this Agreement that Indemnitee is entitled to 

indemnification, the Company shall be bound by such determination in any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to 
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this Section 14, absent (i) a misstatement by Indemnitee of a material fact, or an omission of a material fact necessary to make 

Indemnitee's statement not materially misleading, in connection with the request for indemnification, or (ii) a prohibition of such 

indemnification under applicable law. 

  

(d) The Company shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, be precluded from asserting in any judicial 

proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 14 that the procedures and presumptions of this Agreement are not valid, 

binding and enforceable and shall stipulate in any such court or before any such arbitrator that the Company is bound by all the 

provisions of this Agreement.  It is the intent of the Company that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Indemnitee not be required 

to incur legal fees or other Expenses associated with the interpretation, enforcement or defense of Indemnitee's rights under this 

Agreement by litigation or otherwise because the cost and expense thereof would substantially detract from the benefits intended to be 

extended to the Indemnitee hereunder.  The Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, indemnify Indemnitee against any and 

all Expenses and, if requested by Indemnitee, shall (within ten (10) days after receipt by the Company of a written request therefor) 

advance, to the extent not prohibited by law, such Expenses to Indemnitee, which are incurred by Indemnitee in connection with any 

action brought by Indemnitee for indemnification or advance of Expenses from the Company under this Agreement or under any 

directors' and officers' liability insurance policies maintained by the Company if, in the case of indemnification, Indemnitee is wholly 

successful on the underlying claims; if Indemnitee is not wholly successful on the underlying claims, then such indemnification shall be 

only to the extent Indemnitee is successful on such underlying claims or otherwise as permitted by law, whichever is greater. 
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(e) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, no determination as to entitlement of Indemnitee to 

indemnification under this Agreement shall be required to be made prior to the final disposition of the Proceeding. 

  

Section 15. Non-exclusivity; Survival of Rights; Insurance; Subrogation. 

  

(a) The rights of indemnification and to receive advancement of Expenses as provided by this Agreement shall not 

be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which Indemnitee may at any time be entitled under applicable law, the Certificate of 

Incorporation, the By-laws, any agreement, a vote of stockholders or a resolution of directors, or otherwise.  No amendment, alteration 

or repeal of this Agreement or of any provision hereof shall limit or restrict any right of Indemnitee under this Agreement in respect of 

any action taken or omitted by such Indemnitee in his Corporate Status prior to such amendment, alteration or repeal.  To the extent that 

a change in Delaware law, whether by statute or judicial decision, permits greater indemnification or advancement of Expenses than 

would be afforded currently under the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and this Agreement, it is the intent of the parties hereto that 

Indemnitee shall enjoy by this Agreement the greater benefits so afforded by such change.  No right or remedy herein conferred is 

intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy, and every other right and remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to every other 

right and remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise.  The assertion or employment of any right 

or remedy hereunder, or otherwise, shall not prevent the concurrent assertion or employment of any other right or remedy. 

  

(b) To the extent that the Company maintains an insurance policy or policies providing liability insurance for 

directors, officers, employees, or agents of the Enterprise, Indemnitee shall be covered by such policy or policies in accordance with its 

or their terms to the maximum extent of the coverage available for any such director, officer, employee or agent under such policy or 

policies.  If, at the time of the receipt of a notice of a claim pursuant to the terms hereof, the Company has director and officer liability 

insurance in effect, the Company shall give prompt notice of such claim or of the commencement of a Proceeding, as the case may be, to 

the insurers in accordance with the procedures set forth in the respective policies.  The Company shall thereafter take all necessary or 

desirable action to cause such insurers to pay, on behalf of the Indemnitee, all amounts payable as a result of such Proceeding in 

accordance with the terms of such policies. 

  

(c) In the event of any payment under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of such 

payment to all of the rights of recovery of Indemnitee, who shall execute all papers required and take all action necessary to secure such 

rights, including execution of such documents as are necessary to enable the Company to bring suit to enforce such rights. 

  

(d) The Company shall not be liable under this Agreement to make any payment of amounts otherwise indemnifiable 

(or for which advancement is provided hereunder) hereunder if and to the extent that Indemnitee has otherwise actually received such 

payment under any insurance policy, contract, agreement or otherwise. 

  

(e) The Company's obligation to indemnify or advance Expenses hereunder to Indemnitee who is or was serving at 

the request of the Company as a director, officer, trustee, partner, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other 

corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise shall be reduced by any 

amount Indemnitee has actually received as indemnification or advancement of Expenses from such other corporation, limited liability 

company, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise. 

  

Section 16. Duration of Agreement.  This Agreement shall continue until and terminate upon the later of:  (a) ten (10) years 

after the date that Indemnitee shall have ceased to serve as an officer of the Company or, at the request of the Company, as a director, 

officer, employee, agent or fiduciary of one or more subsidiary or affiliated corporations, partnerships, joint ventures, trusts or other 

enterprises or (b) one (1) year after the final termination of any Proceeding then pending in respect of which Indemnitee is granted rights 

of indemnification or advancement of Expenses hereunder and of any proceeding commenced by Indemnitee pursuant to Section 14 of 

this Agreement relating thereto.  The indemnification and advancement of expenses rights provided by or granted pursuant to this 

Agreement shall be binding upon and be enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns (including any 

direct or indirect successor by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the 

Company), shall continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company or of any other 

Enterprise, and shall inure to the benefit of Indemnitee and his or her spouse, assigns, heirs, devisees, executors and administrators and 

other legal representatives. 

  

Section 17. Severability.  If any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable 

for any reason whatsoever: (a) the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement (including without 

limitation, each portion of any Section of this Agreement containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that 

is not itself invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and shall remain enforceable to the 

fullest extent permitted by law; (b) such provision or provisions shall be deemed reformed to the extent necessary to conform to 

applicable law and to give the maximum effect to the intent of the parties hereto; and (c) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of 

this Agreement (including, without limitation, each portion of any Section of this Agreement containing any such provision held to be 

invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that is not itself invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to give effect to the intent 

manifested thereby. 
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Section 18. Enforcement. 

  

(a) The Company expressly confirms and agrees that it has entered into this Agreement and assumed the obligations 

imposed on it hereby in order to induce Indemnitee to serve as a director or officer of the Company, and the Company acknowledges that 

Indemnitee is relying upon this Agreement in serving as a director or officer of the Company. 

  

(b) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter 

hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, oral, written and implied, between the parties hereto with respect to the 

subject matter hereof; provided, however, that this Agreement is a supplement to and in furtherance of the Certificate of Incorporation, 

the By-laws and applicable law, and shall not be deemed a substitute therefor, nor to diminish or abrogate any rights of Indemnitee 

thereunder. 
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Section 19. Modification and Waiver.  No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding unless 

executed in writing by the parties hereto.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a 

waiver of any other provisions of this Agreement nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver. 

  

Section 20. Notice by Indemnitee.  Indemnitee agrees promptly to notify the Company in writing upon being served with any 

summons, citation, subpoena, complaint, indictment, information or other document relating to any Proceeding or matter which may be 

subject to indemnification or advancement of Expenses covered hereunder.  The failure of Indemnitee to so notify the Company shall 

not relieve the Company of any obligation which it may have to the Indemnitee under this Agreement or otherwise. 

  

Section 21. Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and 

shall be deemed to have been duly given if (a) delivered by hand and receipted for by the party to whom said notice or other 

communication shall have been directed, (b) mailed by certified or registered mail with postage prepaid, on the third business day after 

the date on which it is so mailed, (c) mailed by reputable overnight courier and receipted for by the party to whom said notice or other 

communication shall have been directed or (d) sent by facsimile transmission, with receipt of oral confirmation that such transmission 

has been received: 

  

(a) If to Indemnitee, at the address indicated on the signature page of this Agreement, or such other address as 

Indemnitee shall provide to the Company. 

  

(b) If to the Company to Camac Energy Inc., 1330 Post Oak Blvd., Suite 2575, Houston, TX 77056, 

Attention:  General Counsel, or to any other address as may have been furnished to Indemnitee by the Company. 

  

Section 22. Contribution.  To the fullest extent permissible under applicable law, if the indemnification provided for in this 

Agreement is unavailable to Indemnitee for any reason whatsoever, the Company, in lieu of indemnifying Indemnitee, shall contribute to 

the amount incurred by Indemnitee, whether for judgments, fines, penalties, excise taxes, amounts paid or to be paid in settlement and/or 

for Expenses, in connection with any claim relating to an indemnifiable event under this Agreement, in such proportion as is deemed fair 

and reasonable in light of all of the circumstances of such Proceeding in order to reflect (i) the relative benefits received by the Company 

and Indemnitee as a result of the event(s) and/or transaction(s) giving cause to such Proceeding; and/or (ii) the relative fault of the 

Company (and its directors, officers, employees and agents) and Indemnitee in connection with such event(s) and/or transaction(s). 

  

Section 23. Applicable Law and Consent to Jurisdiction.  This Agreement and the legal relations among the parties shall be 

governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware.  Except with respect to any arbitration 

commenced by Indemnitee pursuant to Section 14(a) of this Agreement, the Company and Indemnitee hereby irrevocably and 

unconditionally (i) agree that any action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with this Agreement shall be brought only in the 

Chancery Court of the State of Delaware (the "Delaware Court"), and not in any other state or federal court in the United States of 

America or any court in any other country, (ii) consent to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Delaware Court for purposes of any 

action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, (iii) appoint, to the extent such party is not otherwise subject to 

service of process in  the State of Delaware, irrevocably RL&F Service Corp., 920 North King Street, 2  nd  Floor, Wilmington, New 

Castle County, Delaware 19801 as its agent in the State of Delaware as such party's agent for acceptance of legal process in connection 

with any such action or proceeding against such party with the same legal force and validity as if served upon such party personally 

within the State of Delaware, (iv) waive any objection to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in the Delaware Court, and 

(v) waive, and agree not to plead or to make, any claim that any such action or proceeding brought in the Delaware Court has been 

brought in an improper or inconvenient forum. 

  

Section 24. Identical Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall for all 

purposes be deemed to be an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.  Only one such counterpart 

signed by the party against whom enforceability is sought needs to be produced to evidence the existence of this Agreement. 

  

Section 25. Miscellaneous.  Use of the masculine pronoun shall be deemed to include usage of the feminine pronoun where 

appropriate.  The headings of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute part of this 

Agreement or to affect the construction thereof. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be signed as of the day and year first above written. 

  

  

 CAMAC ENERGY INC.             INDEMNITEE   

          

/s/     /s/   

Name     Name    

Office     Address   
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EXHIBIT 10.5 

  

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT 

  

This Indemnification Agreement ("Agreement") is made as of March ___, 2013 by and between CAMAC ENERGY INC., a 

Delaware corporation (the "Company"), and the undersigned ___________________________ ("Indemnitee").  This Agreement 

supersedes and replaces any and all previous Agreements between the Company and Indemnitee covering the subject matter of this 

Agreement. 

  

RECITALS 

  

WHEREAS, highly competent persons have become more reluctant to serve publicly-held corporations as directors, as 

officers or in other capacities unless they are provided with adequate protection through insurance or adequate indemnification against 

inordinate risks of claims and actions against them arising out of their service to and activities on behalf of the corporation; 

  

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") has determined that, in order to attract and retain qualified 

individuals, the Company will attempt to maintain on an ongoing basis, at its sole expense, liability insurance to protect persons serving 

the Company and its subsidiaries from certain liabilities.  Although the furnishing of such insurance has been a customary and 

widespread practice among United States-based corporations and other business enterprises, the Company believes that, given current 

market conditions and trends, such insurance may be available to it in the future only at higher premiums and with more exclusions.  At 

the same time, directors, officers, and other persons in service to corporations or business enterprises are being increasingly subjected to 

expensive and time-consuming litigation relating to, among other things, matters that traditionally would have been brought only against 

the corporation or business enterprise itself.  The Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended and restated (the “Certificate 

of Incorporation”), permits the Company to provide indemnification of, and advancement of expenses to, the directors and officers of the 

Company through Bylaw provisions, agreements or otherwise.  The Bylaws of the Company, as amended and restated (the “Bylaws”) 

provide that the Company shall provide indemnification of, and advancement of expenses to, the directors and officers of the 

Company.  Indemnitee may also be entitled to indemnification pursuant to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the 

"DGCL").  The Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws and the DGCL expressly provide that the indemnification provisions set forth 

therein are not exclusive, and provide or thereby contemplate that contracts may be entered into between the Company and members of 

the board of directors, officers and other persons with respect to indemnification; 

  

WHEREAS, the uncertainties relating to such insurance and to indemnification have increased the difficulty of attracting and 

retaining such persons; 

  

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that the increased difficulty in attracting and retaining such persons is detrimental to 

the best interests of the Company and its stockholders and that the Company should act to assure such persons that there will be increased 

certainty of such protection in the future; 

  

WHEREAS, it is reasonable, prudent and necessary for the Company contractually to obligate itself to indemnify, and to 

advance expenses on behalf of, such persons to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law so that they will serve or continue to serve 

the Company free from undue concern that they will not be so indemnified; 

  

WHEREAS, this Agreement is a supplement to and in furtherance of the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and any 

resolutions adopted pursuant thereto, and shall not be deemed a substitute therefor, nor to diminish or abrogate any rights of Indemnitee 

thereunder; 

  

WHEREAS, Indemnitee does not regard the protection available under the Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws and 

insurance as adequate in the present circumstances, and may not be willing to serve as an officer or director without adequate protection, 

and the Company desires Indemnitee to serve in such capacity.  Indemnitee is willing to serve, continue to serve and to take on additional 

service for or on behalf of the Company on the condition that he be so indemnified; and 
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NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the covenants contained herein, the Company and Indemnitee do 

hereby covenant and agree as follows: 

  

Section 1. Services to the Company.  Indemnitee agrees to serve as a director of the Company.  Indemnitee may at any time 

and for any reason resign from such position (subject to any other contractual obligation or any obligation imposed by operation of law), 

in which event the Company shall have no obligation under this Agreement to continue Indemnitee in such position.  This Agreement 

shall not be deemed an employment contract between the Company (or any of its subsidiaries or any Enterprise (as defined below)) and 

Indemnitee.  Indemnitee specifically acknowledges that Indemnitee's employment with the Company (or any of its subsidiaries or any 

Enterprise), if any, is at will, and the Indemnitee may be discharged at any time for any reason, with or without cause, except as may be 

otherwise provided in any written employment contract between Indemnitee and the Company (or any of its subsidiaries or any 

Enterprise), other applicable formal severance policies duly adopted by the Board, or, with respect to service as a director or officer of 

the Company, by the Certificate of Incorporation, the Company's By-laws, and the DGCL.  The foregoing notwithstanding, this 

Agreement shall continue in force after Indemnitee has ceased to serve as a director of the Company, as provided in Section 16 hereof. 

  

Section 2. Definitions.   As used in this Agreement: 

  

(a) References to “agent” shall mean any person who is or was a director, officer, or employee of the Company or a 

subsidiary of the Company or other person authorized by the Company to act for the Company, to include such person serving in such 

capacity as a director, officer, employee, fiduciary or other official of another corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint 

venture, trust or other enterprise at the request of, for the convenience of, or to represent the interests of the Company or a subsidiary of 

the Company. 

  

(b) A "Change in Control" shall be deemed to occur upon the earliest to occur after the date of this Agreement of any 

of the following events: 

  

i. Acquisition of Stock by Third Party.  Any Person (as defined below) other than Dr. Kase Lukman Lawal 

and other “Reporting Persons” listed in the Schedule 13D of CAMAC Energy Holdings Ltd. filed April 19, 2010 is or becomes the 

Beneficial Owner (as defined below), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing thirty percent (30%)] or more of 

the combined voting power of the Company's then outstanding securities unless the change in relative Beneficial Ownership of the 

Company's securities by any Person results solely from a reduction in the aggregate number of outstanding shares of securities entitled to 

vote generally in the election of directors; 

  

ii. Change in Board of Directors.  During any period of two (2) consecutive years (not including any 

period prior to the execution of this Agreement), individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board, and any new 

director (other than a director designated by a person who has entered into an agreement with the Company to effect a transaction 

described in Sections 2(b)(i), 2(b)(iii) or 2(b)(iv)) whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the Company's stockholders 

was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the period 

or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the 

members of the Board; 

  

iii. Corporate Transactions.  The effective date of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any 

other entity, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately 

prior to such merger or consolidation continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting 

securities of the surviving entity) more than 51% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the surviving entity 

outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation and with the power to elect at least a majority of the board of directors or 

other governing body of such surviving entity; 

  

iv. Liquidation.  The approval by the stockholders of the Company of a complete liquidation of the 

Company or an agreement for the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company's assets; and 

  

v. Other Events.  There occurs any other event of a nature that would be required to be reported in 

response to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14A of Regulation 14A (or a response to any similar item on any similar schedule or form) 

promulgated under the Exchange Act (as defined below), whether or not the Company is then subject to such reporting requirement. 

  

For purposes of this Section 2(b), the following terms shall have the following meanings: 

  

(A)           "Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended from time to time. 

  

(B)           "Person" shall have the meaning as set forth in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of 

the Exchange Act; provided, however, that Person shall exclude (i) the Company, (ii) any trustee 

or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company, and (iii) 
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any corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in 

substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of the Company. 

  

(C)           "Beneficial Owner" shall have the meaning given to such term in Rule 

13d-3 under the Exchange Act; provided, however, that Beneficial Owner shall exclude any 

Person otherwise becoming a Beneficial Owner by reason of the stockholders of the Company 

approving a merger of the Company with another entity. 
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(c) "Corporate Status" describes the status of a person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the 

Company or of any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership or joint venture, trust or other enterprise which such person 

is or was serving at the request of the Company. 

  

(d) "Disinterested Director" shall mean a director of the Company who is not and was not a party to the Proceeding 

in respect of which indemnification is sought by Indemnitee. 

  

(e) "Enterprise" shall mean the Company and any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint 

venture, trust or other enterprise of which Indemnitee is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, trustee, 

partner, managing member, employee, agent or fiduciary. 

  

(f) "Expenses" shall include all reasonable attorneys' fees, retainers, court costs, transcript costs, fees of experts and 

other professionals, witness fees, travel expenses, duplicating costs, printing and binding costs, telephone charges, postage, delivery 

service fees, any federal, state, local or foreign taxes imposed on Indemnitee as a result of the actual or deemed receipt of any payments 

under this Agreement, ERISA excise taxes and penalties, and all other disbursements or expenses of the types customarily incurred in 

connection with prosecuting, defending, preparing to prosecute or defend, investigating, being or preparing to be a witness in, or 

otherwise participating in, a Proceeding.  Expenses also shall include (i) Expenses incurred in connection with any appeal resulting from 

any Proceeding, including without limitation the premium, security for, and other costs relating to any cost bond, supersedeas bond, or 

other appeal bond or its equivalent, and (ii) for purposes of Section 14(d) only, Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the 

interpretation, enforcement or defense of Indemnitee's rights under this Agreement, by litigation or otherwise.  The parties agree that for 

the purposes of any advancement of Expenses for which Indemnitee has made written demand to the Company in accordance with this 

Agreement, all Expenses included in such demand that are certified by affidavit of Indemnitee’s counsel as being reasonable shall be 

presumed conclusively to be reasonable.  Expenses, however, shall not include amounts paid in settlement by Indemnitee or the amount 

of judgments or fines against Indemnitee. 

  

(g) "Independent Counsel" shall mean a law firm, or a member of a law firm, that is experienced in matters of 

corporation law and neither presently is, nor in the past five years has been, retained to represent:  (i) the Company or Indemnitee in any 

matter material to either such party (other than with respect to matters concerning the Indemnitee under this Agreement, or of other 

indemnitees under similar indemnification agreements), or (ii) any other party to the Proceeding giving rise to a claim for 

indemnification hereunder.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term "Independent Counsel" shall not include any person who, under the 

applicable standards of professional conduct then prevailing, would have a conflict of interest in representing either the Company or 

Indemnitee in an action to determine Indemnitee's rights under this Agreement.  The Company agrees to pay the reasonable fees and 

expenses of the Independent Counsel referred to above and to fully indemnify such counsel against any and all Expenses, claims, 

liabilities and damages arising out of or relating to this Agreement or its engagement pursuant hereto. 

  

(h) The term "Proceeding" shall include any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, claim, counterclaim, 

cross claim, arbitration, mediation, alternate dispute resolution mechanism, investigation, inquiry, administrative hearing or any other 

actual, threatened or completed proceeding, whether brought in the right of the Company or otherwise and whether of a civil, criminal, 

administrative, legislative, or investigative (formal or informal) nature, including any appeal therefrom, in which Indemnitee was, is or 

will be involved as a party, potential party, non-party witness or otherwise by reason of the fact that Indemnitee is or was a director or 

officer of the Company, by reason of any action taken by him (or a failure to take action by him) or of any action (or failure to act) on his 

part while acting pursuant to his Corporate Status, in each case whether or not serving in such capacity at the time any liability or 

Expense is incurred for which indemnification, reimbursement, or advancement of Expenses can be provided under this Agreement.  If 

the Indemnitee believes in good faith that a given situation may lead to or culminate in the institution of a Proceeding, this shall be 

considered a Proceeding under this paragraph. 

  

(i) Reference to "other enterprise" shall include employee benefit plans; references to "fines" shall include any 

excise tax assessed with respect to any employee benefit plan; references to "serving at the request of the Company" shall include any 

service as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such director, officer, 

employee or agent with respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in good faith and in 

a manner he reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan shall be 

deemed to have acted in manner "not opposed to the best interests of the Company" as referred to in this Agreement. 

  

Section 3. Indemnity in Third-Party Proceedings.  The Company shall indemnify Indemnitee in accordance with the 

provisions of this Section 3 if Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or a participant in any Proceeding, other than a 

Proceeding by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor.  Pursuant to this Section 3, Indemnitee shall be 

indemnified to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law against all Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement 

(including all interest, assessments and other charges paid or payable in connection with or in respect of such Expenses, judgments, fines 

and amounts paid in settlement) actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on his behalf in connection with such Proceeding or 

any claim, issue or matter therein, if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the 

best interests of the Company and, in the case of a criminal Proceeding had no reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was 

unlawful.  The parties hereto intend that this Agreement shall provide to the fullest extent permitted by law for indemnification in excess 
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of that expressly permitted by statute, including, without limitation, any indemnification provided by the Certificate of Incorporation, the 

By-laws, vote of its stockholders or disinterested directors or applicable law. 
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Section 4. Indemnity in Proceedings by or in the Right of the Company.   The Company shall indemnify Indemnitee in 

accordance with the provisions of this Section 4 if Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or a participant in any Proceeding 

by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor.  Pursuant to this Section 4, Indemnitee shall be indemnified to the 

fullest extent permitted by applicable law against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him or on his behalf in connection 

with such Proceeding or any claim, issue or matter therein, if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be 

in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company.  No indemnification for Expenses shall be made under this Section 4 in respect of 

any claim, issue or matter as to which Indemnitee shall have been finally adjudged by a court to be liable to the Company, unless and 

only to the extent that the Delaware Court of Chancery or any court in which the Proceeding was brought shall determine upon 

application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably 

entitled to indemnification. 

  

Section 5. Indemnification for Expenses of a Party Who is Wholly or Partly Successful. Notwithstanding any other provisions 

of this Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law and to the extent that Indemnitee is a party to (or a participant in) and 

is successful, on the merits or otherwise, in any Proceeding or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, in whole or in part, the 

Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.  If 

Indemnitee is not wholly successful in such Proceeding but is successful, on the merits or otherwise, as to one or more but less than all 

claims, issues or matters in such Proceeding, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Expenses actually and reasonably 

incurred by him or on his behalf in connection with or related to each successfully resolved claim, issue or matter to the fullest extent 

permitted by law.  For purposes of this Section and without limitation, the termination of any claim, issue or matter in such a Proceeding 

by dismissal, with or without prejudice, shall be deemed to be a successful result as to such claim, issue or matter. 

  

Section 6. Indemnification For Expenses of a Witness.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to the fullest 

extent permitted by applicable law and to the extent that Indemnitee is, by reason of his Corporate Status, a witness or otherwise asked to 

participate in any Proceeding to which Indemnitee is not a party, he shall be indemnified against all Expenses actually and reasonably 

incurred by him or on his behalf in connection therewith. 

  

Section 7. Partial Indemnification.  If Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this Agreement to indemnification by the 

Company for some or a portion of Expenses, but not, however, for the total amount thereof, the Company shall nevertheless indemnify 

Indemnitee for the portion thereof to which Indemnitee is entitled. 

  

Section 8. Additional Indemnification. 

  

(a) Notwithstanding any limitation in Sections 3, 4, or 5, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee to the fullest 

extent permitted by applicable law if Indemnitee is a party to or threatened to be made a party to any Proceeding (including a Proceeding 

by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor) against all Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in 

settlement (including all interest, assessments and other charges paid or payable in connection with or in respect of such Expenses, 

judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement) actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the Proceeding. 

  

(b) For purposes of Section 8(a), the meaning of the phrase "to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law" shall 

include, but not be limited to: 

  

i. to the fullest extent permitted by the provision of the DGCL that authorizes or contemplates additional 

indemnification by agreement, or the corresponding provision of any amendment to or replacement of the DGCL, and 

  

ii. to the fullest extent authorized or permitted by any amendments to or replacements of the DGCL 

adopted after the date of this Agreement that increase the extent to which a corporation may indemnify its officers and directors. 

  

Section 9. Exclusions.   Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated under this 

Agreement to make any indemnification payment in connection with any claim made against Indemnitee: 

  

(a) for which payment has actually been made to or on behalf of Indemnitee under any insurance policy or other 

indemnity provision, except with respect to any excess beyond the amount paid under any insurance policy or other indemnity provision; 

or 

  

(b) for (i) an accounting of profits made from the purchase and sale (or sale and purchase) by Indemnitee of 

securities of the Company within the meaning of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act (as defined in Section 2(b) hereof) or similar 

provisions of state statutory law or common law, or (ii) any reimbursement of the Company by the Indemnitee of any bonus or other 

incentive-based or equity-based compensation or of any profits realized by the Indemnitee from the sale of securities of the Company, as 

required in each case under the Exchange Act (including any such reimbursements that arise from an accounting restatement of the 

Company pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act"), or the payment to the Company of 

profits arising from the purchase and sale by Indemnitee of securities in violation of Section 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act); or 
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(c) except as provided in Section 14(d) of this Agreement, in connection with any Proceeding (or any part of any 

Proceeding) initiated by Indemnitee, including any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) initiated by Indemnitee against the 

Company or its directors, officers, employees or other indemnitees, unless (i) the Board authorized the Proceeding (or any part of any 

Proceeding) prior to its initiation or (ii) the Company provides the indemnification, in its sole discretion, pursuant to the powers vested in 

the Company under applicable law. 

  

Section 10. Advances of Expenses.   Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary (other than Section 

14(d)), the Company shall advance, to the extent not prohibited by law, the Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in connection with any 

Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) not initiated by Indemnitee, and such advancement shall be made within thirty (30) days after 

the receipt by the Company of a statement or statements requesting such advances from time to time, whether prior to or after final 

disposition of any Proceeding.  Advances shall be unsecured and interest free.  Advances shall be made without regard to Indemnitee's 

ability to repay the Expenses and without regard to Indemnitee's ultimate entitlement to indemnification under the other provisions of 

this Agreement.  In accordance with Section 14(d), advances shall include any and all reasonable Expenses incurred pursuing an action 

to enforce this right of advancement, including Expenses incurred preparing and forwarding statements to the Company to support the 

advances claimed.  The Indemnitee shall qualify for advances upon the execution and delivery to the Company of this Agreement, which 

shall constitute an undertaking providing that the Indemnitee undertakes to repay the amounts advanced (without interest) to the extent 

that it is ultimately determined that Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by the Company.  No other form of undertaking shall be 

required other than the execution of this Agreement.  This Section 10 shall not apply to any claim made by Indemnitee for which 

indemnity is excluded pursuant to Section 9. 
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Section 11. Procedure for Notification and Defense of Claim. 

  

(a) Indemnitee shall notify the Company in writing of any matter with respect to which Indemnitee intends to seek 

indemnification or advancement of Expenses hereunder as soon as reasonably practicable following the receipt by Indemnitee of written 

notice thereof.  The written notification to the Company shall include a description of the nature of the Proceeding and the facts 

underlying the Proceeding.  To obtain indemnification under this Agreement, Indemnitee shall submit to the Company a written request, 

including therein or therewith such documentation and information as is reasonably available to Indemnitee and is reasonably necessary 

to determine whether and to what extent Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification following the final disposition of such 

Proceeding.  The omission by Indemnitee to notify the Company hereunder will not relieve the Company from any liability which it may 

have to Indemnitee hereunder or otherwise than under this Agreement, and any delay in so notifying the Company shall not constitute a 

waiver by Indemnitee of any rights under this Agreement.  The Secretary of the Company shall, promptly upon receipt of such a request 

for indemnification, advise the Board in writing that Indemnitee has requested indemnification. 

  

(b) The Company will be entitled to participate in the Proceeding at its own expense. 

  

Section 12. Procedure Upon Application for Indemnification. 

  

(a) Upon written request by Indemnitee for indemnification pursuant to Section 11(a), a determination, if required by 

applicable law, with respect to Indemnitee's entitlement thereto shall be made in the specific case:  (i) if a Change in Control shall have 

occurred, by Independent Counsel in a written opinion to the Board, a copy of which shall be delivered to Indemnitee; or (ii) if a Change 

in Control shall not have occurred, (A) by a majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, even though less than a quorum of the Board, 

(B) by a committee of Disinterested Directors designated by a majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, even though less than a 

quorum of the Board, (C) if there are no such Disinterested Directors or, if such Disinterested Directors so direct, by Independent 

Counsel in a written opinion to the Board, a copy of which shall be delivered to Indemnitee or (D) if so directed by the Board, by the 

stockholders of the Company; and, if it is so determined that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, payment to Indemnitee shall be 

made within ten (10) days after such determination.  Indemnitee shall cooperate with the person, persons or entity making such 

determination with respect to Indemnitee's entitlement to indemnification, including providing to such person, persons or entity upon 

reasonable advance request any documentation or information which is not privileged or otherwise protected from disclosure and which 

is reasonably available to Indemnitee and reasonably necessary to such determination.  Any costs or Expenses (including attorneys' fees 

and disbursements) incurred by Indemnitee in so cooperating with the person, persons or entity making such determination shall be 

borne by the Company (irrespective of the determination as to Indemnitee's entitlement to indemnification) and the Company hereby 

indemnifies and agrees to hold Indemnitee harmless therefrom.  The Company promptly will advise Indemnitee in writing with respect 

to any determination that Indemnitee is or is not entitled to indemnification, including a description of any reason or basis for which 

indemnification has been denied. 

  

(b) In the event the determination of entitlement to indemnification is to be made by Independent Counsel pursuant 

to Section 12(a) hereof, the Independent Counsel shall be selected as provided in this Section 12(b).  If a Change in Control shall not 

have occurred, the Independent Counsel shall be selected by the Board, and the Company shall give written notice to Indemnitee 

advising him of the identity of the Independent Counsel so selected.  If a Change in Control shall have occurred, the Independent 

Counsel shall be selected by Indemnitee (unless Indemnitee shall request that such selection be made by the Board, in which event the 

preceding sentence shall apply), and Indemnitee shall give written notice to the Company advising it of the identity of the Independent 

Counsel so selected.  In either event, Indemnitee or the Company, as the case may be, may, within ten (10) days after such written notice 

of selection shall have been given, deliver to the Company or to Indemnitee, as the case may be, a written objection to such selection;  

provided ,  however , that such objection may be asserted only on the ground that the Independent Counsel so selected does not meet the 

requirements of "Independent Counsel" as defined in Section 2 of this Agreement, and the objection shall set forth with particularity the 

factual basis of such assertion.  Absent a proper and timely objection, the person so selected shall act as Independent Counsel.  If such 

written objection is so made and substantiated, the Independent Counsel so selected may not serve as Independent Counsel unless and 

until such objection is withdrawn or the Delaware Court has determined that such objection is without merit.  If, within twenty (20) days 

after the later of submission by Indemnitee of a written request for indemnification pursuant to Section 11(a) hereof and the final 

disposition of the Proceeding, no Independent Counsel shall have been selected and not objected to, either the Company or Indemnitee 

may petition the Delaware Court for resolution of any objection which shall have been made by the Company or Indemnitee to the 

other's selection of Independent Counsel and/or for the appointment as Independent Counsel of a person selected by such court or by 

such other person as such court shall designate, and the person with respect to whom all objections are so resolved or the person so 

appointed shall act as Independent Counsel under Section 12(a) hereof.  Upon the due commencement of any judicial proceeding or 

arbitration pursuant to Section 14(a) of this Agreement, Independent Counsel shall be discharged and relieved of any further 

responsibility in such capacity (subject to the applicable standards of professional conduct then prevailing). 

  

Section 13. Presumptions and Effect of Certain Proceedings. 
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(a) In making a determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification hereunder, the person or persons or 

entity making such determination shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, presume that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification 

under this Agreement if Indemnitee has submitted a request for indemnification in accordance with Section 11(a) of this Agreement, and 

the Company shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, have the burden of proof to overcome that presumption in connection with 

the making by any person, persons or entity of any determination contrary to that presumption.  Neither the failure of the Company 

(including by its directors or Independent Counsel) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of any action pursuant to 

this Agreement that indemnification is proper in the circumstances because Indemnitee has met the applicable standard of conduct, nor 

an actual determination by the Company (including by its directors or Independent Counsel) that Indemnitee has not met such applicable 

standard of conduct, shall be a defense to the action or create a presumption that Indemnitee has not met the applicable standard of 

conduct. 

  

(b) Subject to Section 14(e), if the person, persons or entity empowered or selected under Section 12 of this 

Agreement to determine whether Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification shall not have made a determination within sixty (60) days 

after receipt by the Company of the request therefor, the requisite determination of entitlement to indemnification shall, to the fullest 

extent not prohibited by law, be deemed to have been made and Indemnitee shall be entitled to such indemnification, absent (i) a 

misstatement by Indemnitee of a material fact, or an omission of a material fact necessary to make Indemnitee's statement not materially 

misleading, in connection with the request for indemnification, or (ii) a prohibition of such indemnification under applicable law; 

provided, however, that such 60-day period may be extended for a reasonable time, not to exceed an additional thirty (30) days, if the 

person, persons or entity making the determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification in good faith requires such additional 

time for the obtaining or evaluating of documentation and/or information relating thereto; and provided, further, that the foregoing 

provisions of this Section 13(b) shall not apply (i) if the determination of entitlement to indemnification is to be made by the 

stockholders pursuant to Section 12(a) of this Agreement and if (A) within fifteen (15) days after receipt by the Company of the request 

for such determination the Board has resolved to submit such determination to the stockholders for their consideration at an annual 

meeting thereof to be held within seventy-five (75) days after such receipt and such determination is made thereat, or (B) a special 

meeting of stockholders is called within fifteen (15) days after such receipt for the purpose of making such determination, such meeting 

is held for such purpose within sixty (60) days after having been so called and such determination is made thereat, or (ii) if the 

determination of entitlement to indemnification is to be made by Independent Counsel pursuant to Section 12(a) of this Agreement. 

  

(c) The termination of any Proceeding or of any claim, issue or matter therein, by judgment, order, settlement or 

conviction, or upon a plea of  nolo contendere  or its equivalent, shall not (except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement) 

of itself adversely affect the right of Indemnitee to indemnification or create a presumption that Indemnitee did not act in good faith and 

in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company or, with respect to any criminal 

Proceeding, that Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful. 

  

(d) For purposes of any determination of good faith, Indemnitee shall be deemed to have acted in good faith if 

Indemnitee's action is based on the records or books of account of the Enterprise, including financial statements, or on information 

supplied to Indemnitee by the directors or officers of the Enterprise in the course of their duties, or on the advice of legal counsel for the 

Enterprise or on information or records given or reports made to the Enterprise by an independent certified public accountant or by an 

appraiser or other expert selected with the reasonable care by  the Enterprise.  The provisions of this Section 13(d) shall not be deemed to 

be exclusive or to limit in any way the other circumstances in which the Indemnitee may be deemed to have met the applicable standard 

of conduct set forth in this Agreement. 

  

(e) The knowledge and/or actions, or failure to act, of any director, officer, trustee, partner, managing member, 

fiduciary, agent or employee of the Enterprise shall not be imputed to Indemnitee for purposes of determining the right to 

indemnification under this Agreement. 

  

Section 14. Remedies of Indemnitee. 

  

(a) Subject to Section 14(e), in the event that (i) a determination is made pursuant to Section 12 of this Agreement 

that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification under this Agreement, (ii) advancement of Expenses is not timely made pursuant to 

Section 10 of this Agreement, (iii) no determination of entitlement to indemnification shall have been made pursuant to Section 12(a) of 

this Agreement within ninety (90) days after receipt by the Company of the request for indemnification, (iv) payment of indemnification 

is not made pursuant to Section 5, 6 or 7 or the last sentence of Section 12(a) of this Agreement within ten (10) days after receipt by the 

Company of a written request therefor, (v) payment of indemnification pursuant to Section 3, 4 or 8 of this Agreement is not made within 

ten (10) days after a determination has been made that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, or (vi) in the event that the Company or 

any other person takes or threatens to take any action to declare this Agreement void or unenforceable, or institutes any litigation or other 

action or Proceeding designed to deny, or to recover from, the Indemnitee the benefits provided or intended to be provided to the 

Indemnitee hereunder, Indemnitee shall be entitled to an adjudication by a court of his entitlement to such indemnification or 

advancement of Expenses.  Alternatively, Indemnitee, at his option, may seek an award in arbitration to be conducted by a single 

arbitrator pursuant to the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association.  Indemnitee shall commence such 

proceeding seeking an adjudication or an award in arbitration within 180 days following the date on which Indemnitee first has the right 

to commence such proceeding pursuant to this Section 14(a);  provided ,  however , that the foregoing clause shall not apply in respect 
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of a proceeding brought by Indemnitee to enforce his rights under Section 5 of this Agreement.  The Company shall not oppose 

Indemnitee's right to seek any such adjudication or award in arbitration. 

  

(b) In the event that a determination shall have been made pursuant to Section 12(a) of this Agreement that 

Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification, any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 14 shall be 

conducted in all respects as a  de novo  trial, or arbitration, on the merits and Indemnitee shall not be prejudiced by reason of that 

adverse determination.  In any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 14 the Company shall have the 

burden of proving Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification or advancement of Expenses, as the case may be. 

  

(c) If a determination shall have been made pursuant to Section 12(a) of this Agreement that Indemnitee is entitled to 

indemnification, the Company shall be bound by such determination in any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to 

this Section 14, absent (i) a misstatement by Indemnitee of a material fact, or an omission of a material fact necessary to make 

Indemnitee's statement not materially misleading, in connection with the request for indemnification, or (ii) a prohibition of such 

indemnification under applicable law. 

  

(d) The Company shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, be precluded from asserting in any judicial 

proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 14 that the procedures and presumptions of this Agreement are not valid, 

binding and enforceable and shall stipulate in any such court or before any such arbitrator that the Company is bound by all the 

provisions of this Agreement.  It is the intent of the Company that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Indemnitee not be required 

to incur legal fees or other Expenses associated with the interpretation, enforcement or defense of Indemnitee's rights under this 

Agreement by litigation or otherwise because the cost and expense thereof would substantially detract from the benefits intended to be 

extended to the Indemnitee hereunder.  The Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, indemnify Indemnitee against any and 

all Expenses and, if requested by Indemnitee, shall (within ten (10) days after receipt by the Company of a written request therefor) 

advance, to the extent not prohibited by law, such Expenses to Indemnitee, which are incurred by Indemnitee in connection with any 

action brought by Indemnitee for indemnification or advance of Expenses from the Company under this Agreement or under any 

directors' and officers' liability insurance policies maintained by the Company if, in the case of indemnification, Indemnitee is wholly 

successful on the underlying claims; if Indemnitee is not wholly successful on the underlying claims, then such indemnification shall be 

only to the extent Indemnitee is successful on such underlying claims or otherwise as permitted by law, whichever is greater. 
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(e) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, no determination as to entitlement of Indemnitee to 

indemnification under this Agreement shall be required to be made prior to the final disposition of the Proceeding. 

  

Section 15. Non-exclusivity; Survival of Rights; Insurance; Subrogation. 

  

(a) The rights of indemnification and to receive advancement of Expenses as provided by this Agreement shall not 

be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which Indemnitee may at any time be entitled under applicable law, the Certificate of 

Incorporation, the By-laws, any agreement, a vote of stockholders or a resolution of directors, or otherwise.  No amendment, alteration 

or repeal of this Agreement or of any provision hereof shall limit or restrict any right of Indemnitee under this Agreement in respect of 

any action taken or omitted by such Indemnitee in his Corporate Status prior to such amendment, alteration or repeal.  To the extent that 

a change in Delaware law, whether by statute or judicial decision, permits greater indemnification or advancement of Expenses than 

would be afforded currently under the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and this Agreement, it is the intent of the parties hereto that 

Indemnitee shall enjoy by this Agreement the greater benefits so afforded by such change.  No right or remedy herein conferred is 

intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy, and every other right and remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to every other 

right and remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise.  The assertion or employment of any right 

or remedy hereunder, or otherwise, shall not prevent the concurrent assertion or employment of any other right or remedy. 

  

(b) To the extent that the Company maintains an insurance policy or policies providing liability insurance for 

directors, officers, employees, or agents of the Enterprise, Indemnitee shall be covered by such policy or policies in accordance with its 

or their terms to the maximum extent of the coverage available for any such director, officer, employee or agent under such policy or 

policies.  If, at the time of the receipt of a notice of a claim pursuant to the terms hereof, the Company has director and officer liability 

insurance in effect, the Company shall give prompt notice of such claim or of the commencement of a Proceeding, as the case may be, to 

the insurers in accordance with the procedures set forth in the respective policies.  The Company shall thereafter take all necessary or 

desirable action to cause such insurers to pay, on behalf of the Indemnitee, all amounts payable as a result of such Proceeding in 

accordance with the terms of such policies. 

  

(c) In the event of any payment under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of such 

payment to all of the rights of recovery of Indemnitee, who shall execute all papers required and take all action necessary to secure such 

rights, including execution of such documents as are necessary to enable the Company to bring suit to enforce such rights. 

  

(d) The Company shall not be liable under this Agreement to make any payment of amounts otherwise indemnifiable 

(or for which advancement is provided hereunder) hereunder if and to the extent that Indemnitee has otherwise actually received such 

payment under any insurance policy, contract, agreement or otherwise. 

  

(e) The Company's obligation to indemnify or advance Expenses hereunder to Indemnitee who is or was serving at 

the request of the Company as a director, officer, trustee, partner, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other 

corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise shall be reduced by any 

amount Indemnitee has actually received as indemnification or advancement of Expenses from such other corporation, limited liability 

company, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise. 

  

Section 16. Duration of Agreement.  This Agreement shall continue until and terminate upon the later of:  (a) ten (10) years 

after the date that Indemnitee shall have ceased to serve as a director of the Company or (b) one (1) year after the final termination of any 

Proceeding then pending in respect of which Indemnitee is granted rights of indemnification or advancement of Expenses hereunder and 

of any proceeding commenced by Indemnitee pursuant to Section 14 of this Agreement relating thereto.  The indemnification and 

advancement of expenses rights provided by or granted pursuant to this Agreement shall be binding upon and be enforceable by the 

parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns (including any direct or indirect successor by purchase, merger, consolidation 

or otherwise to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company), shall continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to be 

a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company or of any other Enterprise, and shall inure to the benefit of Indemnitee and his or 

her spouse, assigns, heirs, devisees, executors and administrators and other legal representatives. 

  

Section 17. Severability.  If any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable 

for any reason whatsoever: (a) the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement (including without 

limitation, each portion of any Section of this Agreement containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that 

is not itself invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and shall remain enforceable to the 

fullest extent permitted by law; (b) such provision or provisions shall be deemed reformed to the extent necessary to conform to 

applicable law and to give the maximum effect to the intent of the parties hereto; and (c) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of 

this Agreement (including, without limitation, each portion of any Section of this Agreement containing any such provision held to be 

invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that is not itself invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to give effect to the intent 

manifested thereby. 

  

Section 18. Enforcement. 
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(a) The Company expressly confirms and agrees that it has entered into this Agreement and assumed the obligations 

imposed on it hereby in order to induce Indemnitee to serve as a director or officer of the Company, and the Company acknowledges that 

Indemnitee is relying upon this Agreement in serving as a director or officer of the Company. 

  

(b) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter 

hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, oral, written and implied, between the parties hereto with respect to the 

subject matter hereof; provided, however, that this Agreement is a supplement to and in furtherance of the Certificate of Incorporation, 

the By-laws and applicable law, and shall not be deemed a substitute therefor, nor to diminish or abrogate any rights of Indemnitee 

thereunder. 
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Section 19. Modification and Waiver.  No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding unless 

executed in writing by the parties hereto.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a 

waiver of any other provisions of this Agreement nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver. 

  

Section 20. Notice by Indemnitee.  Indemnitee agrees promptly to notify the Company in writing upon being served with any 

summons, citation, subpoena, complaint, indictment, information or other document relating to any Proceeding or matter which may be 

subject to indemnification or advancement of Expenses covered hereunder.  The failure of Indemnitee to so notify the Company shall 

not relieve the Company of any obligation which it may have to the Indemnitee under this Agreement or otherwise. 

  

Section 21. Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and 

shall be deemed to have been duly given if (a) delivered by hand and receipted for by the party to whom said notice or other 

communication shall have been directed, (b) mailed by certified or registered mail with postage prepaid, on the third business day after 

the date on which it is so mailed, (c) mailed by reputable overnight courier and receipted for by the party to whom said notice or other 

communication shall have been directed or (d) sent by facsimile transmission, with receipt of oral confirmation that such transmission 

has been received: 

  

(a) If to Indemnitee, at the address indicated on the signature page of this Agreement, or such other address as 

Indemnitee shall provide to the Company. 

  

(b) If to the Company to Camac Energy Inc., 1330 Post Oak Blvd., Suite 2575, Houston, TX 77056, 

Attention:  General Counsel, or to any other address as may have been furnished to Indemnitee by the Company. 

  

Section 22. Contribution.  To the fullest extent permissible under applicable law, if the indemnification provided for in this 

Agreement is unavailable to Indemnitee for any reason whatsoever, the Company, in lieu of indemnifying Indemnitee, shall contribute to 

the amount incurred by Indemnitee, whether for judgments, fines, penalties, excise taxes, amounts paid or to be paid in settlement and/or 

for Expenses, in connection with any claim relating to an indemnifiable event under this Agreement, in such proportion as is deemed fair 

and reasonable in light of all of the circumstances of such Proceeding in order to reflect (i) the relative benefits received by the Company 

and Indemnitee as a result of the event(s) and/or transaction(s) giving cause to such Proceeding; and/or (ii) the relative fault of the 

Company (and its directors, officers, employees and agents) and Indemnitee in connection with such event(s) and/or transaction(s). 

  

Section 23. Applicable Law and Consent to Jurisdiction.  This Agreement and the legal relations among the parties shall be 

governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware.  Except with respect to any arbitration 

commenced by Indemnitee pursuant to Section 14(a) of this Agreement, the Company and Indemnitee hereby irrevocably and 

unconditionally (i) agree that any action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with this Agreement shall be brought only in the 

Chancery Court of the State of Delaware (the "Delaware Court"), and not in any other state or federal court in the United States of 

America or any court in any other country, (ii) consent to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Delaware Court for purposes of any 

action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, (iii) appoint, to the extent such party is not otherwise subject to 

service of process in  the State of Delaware, irrevocably RL&F Service Corp., 920 North King Street, 2 nd  Floor, Wilmington, New 

Castle County, Delaware 19801 as its agent in the State of Delaware as such party's agent for acceptance of legal process in connection 

with any such action or proceeding against such party with the same legal force and validity as if served upon such party personally 

within the State of Delaware, (iv) waive any objection to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in the Delaware Court, and 

(v) waive, and agree not to plead or to make, any claim that any such action or proceeding brought in the Delaware Court has been 

brought in an improper or inconvenient forum. 

  

Section 24. Identical Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall for all 

purposes be deemed to be an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.  Only one such counterpart 

signed by the party against whom enforceability is sought needs to be produced to evidence the existence of this Agreement. 

  

Section 25. Miscellaneous.  Use of the masculine pronoun shall be deemed to include usage of the feminine pronoun where 

appropriate.  The headings of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute part of this 

Agreement or to affect the construction thereof. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be signed as of the day and year first above written. 

  

  

 CAMAC ENERGY INC.             INDEMNITEE   

          

/s/     /s/   

Name     Name    

Office     Address   
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